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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of
Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHRE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors of the
Company, | present you the audited consolidated results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

During the year, due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong
Kong and around the world, many large enterprises have
adopted work-from-home arrangement as to protect
employees’ safety, while some might have reduced the size of
their offices in order to minimize overheads. Such practice has
essentially led to a decline in the demand of premium office
space, and in turn, leading to a less-than-ideal performance in
the Grade A office leasing market. According to the property
market report published by Jones Lang LaSalle in May 2021,
vacancy rate of Grade A commercial buildings in Hong Kong
rose to as high as 9.5% in April 2021, representing a sharp
increase of 4.7 percentage points year-on-year (“YoY”). The
drop also represented a direct hit to the demand of premium
fit-out solutions, and the Group’s financial performance has
unavoidably suffered. Specifically, revenue decreased by
24.6% YoY to HKD481.3 million, with the number of projects
awarded also decreased from 234 in 2020 to 155 during the
year. Nonetheless, despite the difficult operating environment,
the Group remains dedicated in getting through the bad times
with all of its employees, striving to strike a balance between
maintaining a healthy financial position, preparing for future
development, and offering shareholders’ return.

Looking forward, the roll-out of vaccination plan, together with
the effective social distancing measures in various countries,
should give hope to the recovery of Hong Kong as well as the
global economy, eventually driving a rebound of demand in the
local leasing and fit-out market of Grade A offices. As far as
the situation of China is concerned, since it has implemented
effective pandemic control measures, the pandemic has been
put under control at an earlier time, laying the foundation of
becoming one of the first economies on the road to economic
recovery. As a result, in just two months after the start of the
2021/22 fiscal year, the Group’s subsidiary in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC”) has already received several fit-
out project enquiries, painting a better picture regarding future
prospect.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHRE

In the longer-term, we remain confident in the demand of
Grade A office space, due to its generally excellent location
and comprehensive transportation facilities. After a certain
adjustment in rent level, we believe more enterprises will be
attracted to expand their offices, and release some of the
rental demand which was previously suppressed due to budget
constraints, further fueling the recovery and development of the
Group’s fit-out business in Hong Kong and the PRC.

While we strive to explore new business opportunities, we
will also look to solidify our existing business presence by
maintaining good relationships with our customers and
subcontractors. By leveraging our experienced management
team in Hong Kong, we will also actively explore the possibility
of business expansion into the Greater Bay Area. We firmly
believe that our prudent approach would yield stability, and we
will be in a good position to capture growth opportunities once
the world recovers from the pandemic.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers and sub-
contractors for their unequivocal support and trust, as well as
our staff for their unremitting efforts and contributions during
such difficult times. The Group will thrive under challenges, and
seize opportunities to deliver long-term and sustainable returns
to shareholders while providing high-quality fit-out services to
the market.

Chairman of the Board
WONG Sai Chuen

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BBEE

Revenue
Gross profit

Gross profit margin
(Loss)/profit before income tax

Profit attributable to owners of the
Company

Basic and diluted earnings per share
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BREAREERF

Audited
BREZX

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MBLEE

2021
20215
HKD’000
FET

481,286
25,847

5.4%

(953)

397

HK cents
B

0.20

2020
20204
HKD’000
FAETT

638,030
65,068

10.2%

28,062

16,224

HK cents
JEA

8.20
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Change in
percentage
APLLE

-24.6%
-60.3%

-4.8%

-103.4%

-97.6%

-97.6%

7 2021FERE 7



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an interior fit-out solutions provider focusing on
providing services to clients whose offices are predominately
situated in Grade A offices in Hong Kong and the PRC. Our role
in these fit-out projects entails the overall project management,
coordination and implementation of fit-out projects by engaging
subcontractors from different trades for their services and
labour, providing expertise such as controlling the quality
aspects of the projects and carrying out corresponding project
management.

Our projects can be broadly categorised into (i) bare shell fit-out
which is undertaken in the interior space of a vacant premise
having basic flooring and plastered walls; (ii) restacking which
involve upgrading and re-planning and providing modification
work to the existing interior structure of the premise; (iii)
reinstatement which involves demolishing any additional
moveable structure that were installed by the existing tenant;
(iv) design; (v) churn works; and (vi) maintenance and others
which involve providing minor repairs and general builder’s
maintenance work to the tenant’s office facilities, pest control
and emergency call services, project management services
and mechanical, electrical and plumbing (“MEP”) consultancy
services.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded
a decrease in revenue of 24.6% to HKD481.3 million from
HKD638.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the combined effect of
the facts that (i) the prolonged adverse effect on economy
of China and Hong Kong brought by the constant spread of
COVID-19 virus worldwide, in which certain project owners
and/or customers have suffered tight cashflow, leading to
postponement and/or slowdown in certain projects; and (ii)
we have been aggressively in tendering for new projects
with relatively lower bidding prices of projects to secure a
higher chance of success of bidding. As a result, the Group’s
gross profit decreased to HKD25.8 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 from HKD65.1 million for the year ended
31 March 2020, representing a decrease of 60.3%.

The Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
decreased by 97.6% to HKDO.4 million for the current year from
HKD16.2 million for the corresponding period of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from (i) bare shell
fit-out; (i) restacking; (iii) reinstatement; (iv) design; (v) churn
works; and (vi) maintenance and others. During the year ended
31 March 2021, the Group’s revenue decreased by 24.6% to
HKD481.3 million as compared with HKD638.0 million of last
year. The decrease is mainly attributable to the combined effect
of the facts that (i) the prolonged adverse effect on economy
of the PRC and Hong Kong brought by the constant spread
of COVID-19 worldwide, in which certain project owners
and/or customers have suffered tight cashflow, leading to
postponement and/or slowdown in certain projects; and (ii)
we have been aggressively in tendering for new projects with
relatively lower bidding prices of projects to secure a higher
chance of success of bidding.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s
revenue by project types for the year ended 31 March 2021
and 2020:

Bt 7 [ R

KA

AEEBMNBRAETEZREBHELEERE: () EE: (i) B
B(v)Ret: WEREIRE: RV)RSREM REE
2021 3H31H L FE  AKBE MU A E £ F #638.0
BEBITHA246% E481.3AEB T - ZRITER
HRUTEEMGEATE: (12019 BRESKE
EHRHORBEBYTBREEENEEEXNRANTF
YE BRAETHEREER URBRFEISEERE
RMRE BFEEER NREFLEINEE UK
(VRMEBGHEHERE  WHEREBIZEENIR
BRI EEREE -

TREAEEE Z2021F K2020F3A831H It FE
RIBBE AR E DU ARR A -

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MBLEE

2021 2020
20214 20204

HKD’000 % HKD’000 %
FET BT FAET B

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 249,810 51.9 542,037 85.0
Restacking Ep 201,024 41.8 58,506 9.1
Reinstatement 2R 11,112 2.3 16,650 2.6
Design RE 1,402 0.3 5,531 0.9
Churn works B 16,522 3.4 13,836 2.2
Maintenance and others REREM 1,416 0.3 1,470 0.2
Total et 481,286 100.0 638,030 100.0

W ERFTR B E2021F K2020F3H31H IEF E -
BEMNELEEEZERAOBRAD I AER R A
#51.9% Kk85.0% - EXRFE R EELENKRABREFH
542.08 & B L 153.9% Z & £2021F3A31H IEF
EH249.8B BB T -

As shown in above table, our bare shell fit-out contributed to
51.9% and 85.0% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 respectively. Revenue from
bare shell fit-out decreased to HKD249.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021 from HKD542.0 million for the last year,
representing a decrease of 53.9%.

H2020F4A1E REEAFEREEH HMALER
SIAFMERFRKRER - BERER21548 88
JG °

From 1 April 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, we
were newly awarded a total of 31 bare shell fit-out projects with
a total project sum of HKD215.4 million.

+
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEREBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW (Continued) Bt ERE (2)

Cost of sales and Direct margin HERAREZMNE

The Group's cost of sales mainly comprised subcontracting ASEEREHEXAETEZBESIBREARE TR A H
charges and staff costs. The decrease in cost of sales from &ERAHEFHS73.08 EETHP20.5% 2 RFEE
HKD573.0 million for the last year to HKD455.4 million for the #J455.4B & T e

current year, representing a decrease of 20.5%.

Defined as revenue less subcontracting costs, cleaning AEBEHEEFNBEEEARARDBXAA - BEER-
expenses, insurance expenses and security expenses, direct REBHITRREZHEL ARG R EMETEK AN EE
margin of the Group indicates the overall project profitability 8B &F1F R o T K &5 A % B E =20214F £2020%F
before taking into account of other fixed costs. The following 3A31HILFEHREE B E SR EZEFHEBM:
table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s direct margin by

project types for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020:

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MBLEE

2021 2020
20214 20204

% of % of
HKD’000 revenue HKD’000 revenue
FET 1LKABEDE FET KA G

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 26,782 10.7 79,757 14.7
Restacking Ep 23,282 11.6 2,807 4.8
Reinstatement =R 661 5.9 867 5.2
Design RE 1,182 84.3 4,798 86.7
Churn works ST 412 2.5 4,359 315
Maintenance and others RENREAM 289 20.4 164 11.2
Total st 52,608 10.9 92,752 14.5

The Group’s overall direct margin decreased to HKD52.6 million AEBEMNEEEEZEFBEREFMNRSEEB LRI E
for the year ended 31 March 2021 from HKD92.8 million for #{Z2021F3A318 tFEK52.6H & E L H & F)H
the last year. Such decrease in the direct margin was primarily ZRA T ELHARBMERBERIZHERD @ WHL
attributable to the fact that we have been aggressively in (RBEEBUIESKNBIENKS -

tendering for new projects with relatively lower bidding prices of

projects to secure a higher chance of success of bidding.

]0 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Other income

The Group’s other income amounted to HKD3.7 million for
the current year (Last year: Nil) as a result of the government
subsidies received from the HKSAR government under the
Employment Support Scheme that provides time-limited
financial support to eligible employers to retain their employees
due to the adverse situation of COVID-19 in Hong Kong.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to HKD37.6
million for the current year, representing an increase of HKD4.9
million or 14.8% as compared to that of HKD32.7 million for
the last year. Such increase was primarily attributable to (i) an
increase of HKD2.2 million in staff costs due to the general
pay rise; and (i) an increase of HKD2.3 million in legal and
professional fee.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the current year mainly comprise
interest on the lease liabilities after the coming into effect of
HKFRS 16. Finance costs decreased to HKDO.2 million for the
current year from HKDO.4 million for the last year.

Income tax credit/(expense)

The Group’s income tax credit for the current year was HKD1.4
million, representing a decrease of HKD7.7 million as compared
to HKD6.3 million for the last year’s income tax expenses.

Profit for the year
The Group's profit decreased to HKDO0.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021 from HKD21.7million for the last year.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
HKDO.4 million for the current year, representing a decrease of
HKD15.8 million, as compared with HKD16.2 million for the last
year.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL

STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group financed its
operation by its internal resources and granted bank facility.
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net current assets of
HKD117.8 million (31 March 2020: HKD128.2 million), including
cash and cash equivalents balances of HKD112.5 million
(31 March 2020: HKD120.3 million) mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”).

Bt #&EBE (&)

Htb g A
REBRAAEEMEMEA B TEE BT (EF:
) NEAREABERAMRRLISBFESN
B HE 2B RAERETREABRMNMKX
1E - BB T 7E B 5B T 00108 BT 4R R B0 M & L
o EERES -

THEX
AREBRAFEMNTHAXAITEER L BE&F
M32.7E BB T IE IN4.08 BB Tek14.8% ° %1%
MEZERNITELTBEAREE IR AL N2 E
B R()EZREREXEEREM2.35E B Lo

BB R A
AEERAFENRBERATEBRRTEMBREL
AIF16RAERKR T RONBEERENE - HBKRARE
FN0OABEATLRDEAFEMNO2HEER T

FreBiER, (FAX)
AERERAFENMEHEARRI4BEETL BEF
63ABRTLHNABHASRL T7T.7TEEET

REERF
ANEBRHEFNAEEN21.7EEBTH D EH £2021
FIAMBLEFEMNOABTER T

AAREE AEMLER
KRB AFEHEBEAELENE0ATEE L BEF
162 & B TR 15.8B8EE T

B’ A
BEECTEERAT2021F38318 I FEIRNM K ER
B% & (20204 : &) o

ﬁ%ﬁﬁ‘%ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁéﬁﬁ&%&ﬁ
&

REZE2021F3AIBLEFE AEBURTER L
FIRiRITRIERNEEMTES - MN2021F3/318 ¢
NEBHREEEFMEA117.88 85 7t (202053 A
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112.58 & 70 (202063 A31H : 120368 E t)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (Continued)

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was 2.0 times as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020:
1.6 times). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2021
was nil (31 March 2020: Nil). The gearing ratio is calculated as
total debt divided by total equity as at the respective period
end.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company
as at 31 March 2021. The equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HKD142.5 million as at 31 March 2021
(81 March 2020: HKD141.8 million).

The Group does not have any exposure to fluctuations in
exchange rates and any related hedges.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had not pledged
any assets to secure bank facilities or finance lease obligation.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any material
capital commitment in relation to the acquisitions (31 March
2020: HKD1.3 million).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED

COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not have
any significant investment, material acquisition or disposal.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided guarantees of surety
bonds of HKD16.2 million (31 March 2020: HKD7.1 million) in
respect of 5 (31 March 2020: 4) construction contract(s) of the
Group in its ordinary course of business. The surety bonds are
expected to be released in accordance with the terms of the
respective construction contracts.

ACQUISITION OF YU RONG CAPITAL

LIMITED

On 1 June 2020, the acquisition of Yu Rong Capital Limited (the
“Target”) has been completed. Immediately after the completion
of acquisition, the Target has become an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial results will
be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. For details, please refer the announcement
of the Company dated 14 February 2020 and 1 June 2020
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERBNWKR DN

USE OF PROCEEDS FEeRAE

The net proceeds from the listing of the Shares, after RO ETASKFBEENRBERSLEBEERE%
deducting the underwriting commission and related expenses, #&56.98 &8 ([FIBRFHE]) - AR A MN202056
were HKD56.9 million (the “Net Proceeds”). The Company HA18HEMEFEMERBFEEZZAE - TXHINRN
announced on 18 June 2020 for the change of proposed use of 20214F3A31BMATBH FEMNRET D - FTEZF
Net Proceeds. Set out below are details of original allocation of VKIS DB LT BRFENFEABENFES

Net Proceeds, the revised allocation of Net Proceeds and the

utilisation of Net Proceeds as at 31 March 2021:

Having considered the current business needs of the Company, &ZEARNBIRBEFE R EFHFLUTI AR
the Board resolved to reallocate the unutilised Net Proceeds in B DB KRB AR TS FBE
the following manner:

Original
allocation Revised Actual use of Unutilised
of Net allocation of Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
Proceeds as Net Proceeds up to up to
stated in the as at 18 June 31 March 31 March
Prospectus 2020 2021 2021
#2020 HZ2021F HZE2021%
FERER 6518H 3A31A L 3HA31A Lt
BRREMTE RKEITIEZ e HAREAZ
Utilisation of Net Proceeds BN FE2AR ZIRE 7B IR ZEBRRR FBRFE

(HKD million) (HKD million) (HKD million) (HKD million)
(B&¥T) (BZ#ET) (B&¥7T) (BZET)

(i) For project execution and start-up () F{EEE 2B B H

costs for projects REITRA 34.2 34.2 34.2 =
(iiy For recruiting high calibre and (i) BIERFERXBEALR

experienced managers and CENEBRAER

supervisors for the expansion of BEBABNERIER

our project teams and renting B HRE RHEE

additional office space RIS NI 11.4 14.7 14,7 =
(iii) For revamping our project (i) ARBEEEER K

management and execution WITES

system 4.0 0.7 0.7 -
(iv)For implementation of enterprise  (iv) B {EE 1 2 ER

resources planning system HREZG 1.7 1.7 1.7 =
(v) For additional working capital and  (v) B{EREINEBE S I

other general corporate purpose Hi—Er¥ERZ 5.6 5.6 5.6 =
Total A&t 56.9 56.9 56.9 -

+
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

USE OF PROCEEDS (Continued)

The business objectives, future plans and intended use of the
proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best
estimation and assumption of future market conditions made
by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus while the
proceeds were applied based on the actual development of the
Group’s business and its industry.

Reasons for and benefits of the change in use of
proceeds

The Company had planned to use HKD4.0 million of the Net
Proceeds for revamping our project management and execution
system to enhance its operational efficiency, and HKDO.7
million had been utilised for such purpose. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, the Group failed to reach an agreement
with the vendor in relation to the transfer of patent rights of
the conceptual framework of the project management and
executive system (the “Management System”) for the Group’s
operational use. As at 18 June 2020, the Company has yet to
identify any suitable alternate service providers to resume the
design and implementation of the Management System upon
research.

Meanwhile, one of our wholly owned subsidiaries requires
more high calibre and experienced managers and supervisors
to provide a stronger support for the execution of projects
awarded. As such, on 18 June 2020, based on the interest
of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole, the Board
resolved to reallocate HKD3.3 million of the unutilised Net
Proceeds, which were originally allocated for revamping our
project management and execution system, to supplement
for recruiting high calibre and experienced managers and
supervisors for the expansion of our project teams and
renting additional office space. The Board is of the view that
such reallocation of unutilised Net Proceeds will strengthen
the efficiency and effectiveness of the capital use, the use
of proceeds is appropriately reallocated to better meet the
current business needs of the Company, which also enables the
Company to invest its financial sources in a more beneficial and
effective way so as to cooperate in the future development of
the Company and grasp the potential business opportunities in
the future.

The Board considers that the development direction of the
Company is still in line with the disclosure in the Prospectus in
spite of such change in use of Net Proceeds as stated above.
The aforesaid change in the use of Net Proceeds will not
adversely affect the operation and business of the Group and is
in the interest of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
Save for the aforesaid changes, there is no other change to the
use of the Net Proceeds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 87 (31 March
2020: 94) employees. To ensure that the Group is able to attract
and retain staff capable of attaining the best performance
levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular basis.
In addition, discretionary bonus is offered to eligible employees
by reference to the Group’s results and individual performance.

OUTLOOK

Looking into the coming year, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic over the demand of premium fit-out services in Hong
Kong. Supported by the roll-out of vaccination and effective
prevention measures, Hong Kong’s real economy is currently
enjoying a steady rebound. According to the report issued by
JLL, although Grade A office rent level in Hong Kong’s core
business districts continues to decline, some enterprises are
now actively looking for office space to meet post-pandemic
demand. As Grade A offices often equip with more advanced
equipment and supporting facilities, they should be better suited
to the needs of enterprises, and the attractive rent level should
yield a rebound in rental demand. Through close collaborations
with Grade A offices in Hong Kong and Kowloon, the Group is
expected to gain ample opportunities in the upcoming window.

In view of the opportunities in the PRC, the pandemic has long
been under control since the middle of last year, with economic
activity becoming increasingly regular in recent months. Over
the past two months, the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC has
received a number of enquiries regarding our fit-out services,
painting a brighter future in the coming year. The Group also
plans to further expand its business into the Greater Bay Area,
and to strengthen its collaborations with property management
companies and developers, in order to seize the opportunities
in the local fit-out market, while diversifying our geographical
and operational risks.

In the long run, fit-out services will continue to be the main
driver of the Group’s future growth. Leveraging its reputation
and technical knowledge over years, the Group is committed to
solidifying its presence in Hong Kong and the PRC. Meanwhile,
the Group will continue to explore opportunities for its financing
business, and is hoping to launch its business when market
visibility returns to normal, eventually providing another boost to
the Group’s overall development.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEBEEHE

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong”), aged 48, is the Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the
Company since 4 January 2018. Mr. Wong was also appointed
as the chairman of the nomination committee on 8 January
2020. Mr. Wong founded the Group in 2009 and was appointed
as a Director on 24 March 2017. Mr. Wong is responsible for
the strategic planning, business development, daily operations
and major decision making of the Group. Mr. Wong is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong has over 10 years of experience in the interior fit-out
industry. He is also a honorary director of the 54th term board
of directors of the Yan Chai Hospital. Mr. Wong is the spouse
of Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, an executive Director of the
Company.

Mr. WONG Kin Kei, aged 44, is the Chief Operating Officer
and an executive Director of the Company since 4 January
2018. Mr. Wong Kin Kei joined the Group in April 2010 and was
appointed as a Director on 24 March 2017. Mr. Wong Kin Kei
is responsible for business development, daily operations, and
technical and project management. Mr. Wong Kin Kei is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kin Kei has about 20 years of experience in the fit-
out industry. Mr. Wong Kin Kei obtained a higher diploma in
building services engineering from the City University of Hong
Kong in November 1999. Mr. Wong Kin Kei then obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from the University of Central
Lancashire by distance learning in January 2007. Mr. Wong
Kin Kei has also obtained the postgraduate diploma in building
services engineering from Heriot-Watt University by distance
learning in June 2013.

Ms. HUI Man Yee, Maggie (“Ms. Hui”), aged 44, is an
executive Director of the Company since 4 January 2018.
Ms. Hui joined the Group in April 2015 and was appointed
as a Director on 6 July 2017. Ms. Hui is responsible for daily
operations, business development, human resources and
administrative management of the Group. Ms. Hui is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Hui has over 10 years of
experience in the hotel industry. Ms. Hui graduated from
Sheffield Hallam University in the United Kingdom with a
bachelor’s degree of science in hotel and tourism management
in June 1998. Ms. Hui then obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from University of Birmingham in the
United Kingdom in December 2011. Ms. Hui is the spouse
of Mr. Wong, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
executive Director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEBEEHE

Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo (“Dr. Sung”), aged 60, is an
executive director and a compliance officer of the Company
since 11 March 2020. Dr. Sung was also appointed as a
company secretary of the Company with effect from 1 June
2020. Dr. Sung is responsible for daily operations, business
development, public relations and company secretarial matter
of the Group. Dr. Sung is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Sung served as an executive
director, chief executive officer, joint company secretary and
authorised representative of New Western Group Limited
(formerly known as Megalogic Technology Holdings Limited), a
company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 8242), from March 2014 to May 2019 and
was responsible for accounting and finance management, and
business development as well as company secretarial matter.
From September 2004 to February 2014, Dr. Sung served as
the managing director and a responsible officer of King’s HT
Securities Limited (now known as Tensant Securities Limited),
a licensed corporation under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Dr. Sung
has over 15 years of experience in the financial and securities
industry. Before entering into the financial and securities
industry, Dr. Sung has worked for several solicitors’ firms in
Hong Kong for about 17 years.

Dr. Sung obtained a bachelor’'s degree of Commerce
in Management and Marketing from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in February 2002 and also obtained
a master’s degree of Accountancy from Lingnan University in
November 2012. Dr. Sung has been awarded the distinction of
an honorary doctor in Business Administration from American
Purlinton University in January 2013. Dr. Sung is an associate
member of the Association of International Accountants, a
fellow of the Institute of Public Accountants of Australia, a
fellow of the Institute of Financial Accountants of the United
Kingdom, an international affiliate of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow of the Institute of the
Certified Management Accountants of Australia.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEBEEHE

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 53, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of each of the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company since
21 January 2020. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience
in financial management, treasury and company secretarial
matters.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Prosper Construction Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6816), since August 2017. From April 2015 to June 2020,
Mr. Cheung served as an independent non-executive director
of New Western Group Limited, a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8242) and he was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Lamtex Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1041), from August 2020 to October
2020.

Mr. Cheung holds a master’'s degree in commerce from The
University of New South Wales, Australia and a bachelor’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Imperial College,
London, the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheung is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (“Mr. Chan”), aged 49, is
an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company since
21 January 2020. Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in
accounting, auditing and taxation matters.

Since June 2018, Mr. Chan has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of eBroker Group Limited,
a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8036).

Mr. Chan is a fellow member and CPA (Practising) of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
In November 2004, Mr. Chan obtained a master’'s degree in
corporate finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the City University of Hong
Kong in October 2014.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEBEEHE

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny (“Mr. Pang”), aged 48, is an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each
of the audit committee and the nomination committee of the
Company with effect from 4 January 2018. Mr. Pang was re-
designated as a member of the renumeration committee of the
Company since 21 January 2020.

Mr. Pang currently is the sole proprietor of Benny Pang &
Co. (a Hong Kong law firm). Mr. Pang was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Janco Holdings Limited,
the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8035) with effect from 27 September 2019 and
he resigned with effect from 5 May 2021. Mr. Pang continues
to serve as a non-executive director of Huabang Financial
Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director of
Yuanda China Holdings Limited, the shares of both companies
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stocks
code: 3638 and 2789, respectively).

Mr. Pang obtained a bachelor degree in laws (honors) from
Bond University, Australia, in 1996. Mr. Pang obtained his
master degree in laws from The University of New South
Wales, Australia in October 1997 and his graduate diploma
in legal practice from The College of Law, Sydney in Australia
in November 1997. Mr. Pang has been admitted as a legal
practitioner of the Supreme Court of New South Wales,
Australia since 1997 and as a solicitor of the High Court of
Hong Kong since 2009. Mr. Pang is a member of each of
the Law Society of New South Wales, Australia and the Law
Society of Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEGHE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in provision of interior fit-out
solutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in the note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and an indication of likely future
developments of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021, as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong (the “Companies
Ordinance”), are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 6
and pages 8 to 15 respectively of this annual report. Such
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the business. The Board is aware that
the Group is exposed to various risks and the principal risks
and uncertainties are summarized below:

° The Group’s business and operation may be affected by
the pandemic or public health incident, which may slow
down the progress of projects;

° We depend on our subcontractors to carry out various
trades of work and bear the risks associated with
fluctuations in subcontracting costs, substandard
performance and instability of their operations;

° The Group’s business is project-based. Fee collection and
profit margin depend on the terms of the work contract
and may not be regular;
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

° Most of the revenue is derived from contracts awarded
through competitive tendering and the contracts are
non-recurring in nature. The Group’s business depends on
its success on project tenders;

° We determine the tender price based on our estimation of
the time and costs involved, which may not be accurate;
and

° Our liquidity and financial position may be adversely
affected if we cannot receive progress payments or
retention money in full in time or at all.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to minimizing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve
a balance between the quality and efficiency of our services
and the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and
environmental degradation. Accordingly, the Group promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees
and has taken a proactive approach to effect internal and
external communications by means of telephone, emails and
conferences or such other communication means which are
efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the Group are able to
minimize physical travelling and printing.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and stakeholder of the Group, their contribution
and support are valuable to the Group at all times. The
Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits policies
accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Other fringe benefits, which include
but not limited to discretionary bonus, are provided to retain
loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff and
management team that can bring the Group to different levels
of success.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, EMPLOYEES AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The success of the Group also depends on the support from
key parties which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group have maintained good relationships with the customers
and suppliers and there was no material dispute between the
Group and the customers or the suppliers.

Regarding the employees, the Group focuses on the talents
of our employees as our most valuable asset and provides a
harmonious and professional working environment. During the
year ended 31 March 2021, we have provided competitive
remuneration packages to our employees to recognize their
contribution to the Group.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
the Shareholders. The Group will focus on our core business
for achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the
Shareholders with dividend payouts while taking into account
the business development needs and financial health of the
Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Law Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the GEM Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance. For more
information about the measures adopted by the Group for
environmental protection and regulatory compliance during
this financial year, please refer to the environmental, social and
governance report of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 110 to 111 of this annual
report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable
and sustainable dividend policy. The Board would strive to
strike a balance between meeting Shareholder’s expectations
and managing funds prudently. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy which comprehensively consider the macro-
economic, the competition pattern of the industry and its own
development strategy. Final dividends declared by the Company
shall be subject to Shareholder’s approval. The Board will
review the dividend policy from time to time and may be revised
as appropriate. There is no assurance that the Company will be
able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount set out
in any plan by the Board.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(THE “AGM”)

In order to ascertain the entitlement of Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM, the transfer books and register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 27 July
2021 to Friday, 30 July 2021 (both days inclusive), during of
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 26 July 2021.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 114 and in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD78.0 million (2020: HKD74.0 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to less than HKDO0.2 million (2020: less than
HKDO.1 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company is set out in note 23 and 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements during the year in the share options is
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and
“Share option scheme” section contained in this Directors’
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and there was
no restriction against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 196 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)

Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Sung Tak Wing, Leo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson

Pang Chung Fai, Benny

In accordance with Articles 109(a) and 109(b) of the Articles of
Association of the Company, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen, Ms. Hui Man
Yee, Maggie, Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo, Mr. Cheung Chi Man,
Dennis, Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang Chung Fai,
Benny (collectively, the “Retiring Directors”) will retire from
office as Directors by rotation at the AGM. Mr. Wong Sai Chuen,
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo, Mr. Cheung
Chi Man, Dennis and Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson, being
eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM.

Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny, being eligible for re-election at the
AGM, has indicated to the Board that he would like to devote
more time to his other business endeavours and hence will not
offer himself for re-election at the AGM. Accordingly, Mr. Pang
Chung Fai, Benny will retire at the conclusion of the AGM.

Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny has confirmed that he has no
disagreement with the Board and there are no matters that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders in
relation to his decision of not offering himself for re-election at
the AGM.

Following the resignation of Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny, the
Company will not be able to comply with (i) Rule 5.05(1) of
the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that every board
of directors of a listed issuer must include at least three
independent non-executive directors; and (i) Rule 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that the audit committee of
a listed issuer must comprise a minimum of three members of
non-executive directors only.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

In order to comply with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company is endeavouring to identify a
suitable candidate to fill up the vacancy as soon as practicable,
within three months from 31 July 2021 as prescribed under
Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, and will make
further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company, its
holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with the Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at anytime during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service agreements and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or in existence as at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2021 or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Brief biographical details of Directors including the professional
qualifications of the company secretary and compliance officer
are set out on pages 16 to 19 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 32 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

The Directors’ remunerations are subject to Shareholders’
approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)), which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interest or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required
to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities
transactions by the directors were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(A) Long Position in the Company’s Shares

Name of Directors/
chief executive

Capacity/
nature of interest

EERESITRAEBREAQTHEMAE
BEERG HEROREZVESERK

RE (&)

(A) RERBARGHEFR

Number of
issued shares held/
interested in

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

i/ EEREN HE BT
EZ/BETHRABHSE B/ EEME ERITROHE BRABDL
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 (Note 1) 56.25%

corporation

FTFEE XEEE g (Hst1)
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie Interest of spouse 112,500,000 (Note 2) 56.25%
Felhrt e @ (Htit2)
Mr. Wong Kin Kei Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 (Note 3) 18.75%

mEREELE

corporation
XELERES

Notes:

1.

Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in
consist of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square
International Investment Limited, a company wholly owned
by him, in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be
interested under Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in the 112,500,000
Shares held by him, through his controlled corporation,
Madison Square International Investment Limited, pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist
of 37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment
Group Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Kin Kei is deemed to be interested under Part XV
of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(B) Long Position in the Shares of associated
corporations

BEERBETHRAERARDTAREME
BEERG HEROREEFNERZR
RE (&)

(B) RiEEEERBHITFA

Number of

Name of Directors/ Name of associated Capacity/ issued shares Percentage of
chief executive corporation nature of interest held/interested in shareholding
Fifs/ BAEREN
EZ/BETHABHS HEEE AR SRIEENEE ERITROHEA FREDHW
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Madison Square Beneficial owner 37,500 100%
International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
FHFEAE tEHRAF (f#2) ERBAA
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Madison Square Interest of spouse 37,500 100%
Maggie (Note 1) International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
TeRRT (MiE1) e FRAR (Mi#2) EBER
Mr. Wong Kin Kei J&J Partner Investment Beneficial owner 12,500 100%
Group Limited (Note 3)
BRELSE TBEBRRF (Hi23) ERBAA
Notes: Bt -

1.

Save as d

Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in Mr. Wong Sai Chuen’s
interest in Madison Square International Investment Limited,
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Under Part XV of the SFO, a holding company of listed
corporation is regarded as an “associated corporation”.
Madison Square International Investment Limited held
56.25% of our issued share capital and thus was our
associated corporation.

Under Part XV of the SFO, a holding company of listed
corporation is regarded as an “associated corporation”.
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited held 18.75% of
our issued share capital and thus was or associated
corporation.

isclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the

Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close

associates
underlying
associated

had any interests or short positions in any shares,
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
corporations as defined in the SFO.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 March 2021, so far as known to the Directors, the
particulars of the corporate or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more
interests and short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Company’s Shares

FERRREMALTREARARRHG RHE
ERONERR KR

MR2021F3HA31B " BESA RIEZFESHRLEE KA
FEIBIEGFEMNE LML EER AN QR RH &IEE
[EH5% kA EEERABEHREZEXAL (KRARES
HEEITHRABRIMN FBEOT:

RADARGBEE

Number of issued

Capacity/ shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Shareholders nature of interest interested in shareholding
s/ ERREREN
i S/ ERME ERITRHOHE BERES L
Madison Square International Beneficial owner 112,500,000 56.25%
Investment Limited (Note 1)
t=2BHRAA (Hit1) BEmlA A
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 56.25%
corporation
THFRE (M) R EEER
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie (Note 2) Interest of spouse 112,500,000 56.25%
et (KFi2) i (B =
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 37,500,000 18.75%
(Note 3)
BEBRRA (HF3) BEmEA A
Mr. Wong Kin Kei (Note 3) Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 18.75%
corporation
EREELE (H7F3) LB ER
Ms. Ho Sin Ying (Note 4) Interest of spouse 37,500,000 18.75%
&+ (Hat4) B R
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Notes:

1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in consist
of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square International
Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be interested under Part XV of
the SFO.

2. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai Chuen, is
deemed to be interested in the 112,500,000 Shares held by him,
through his controlled corporation, Madison Square International
Investment Limited, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3. Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist of
37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment Group
Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which Mr. Wong Kin
Kei is deemed to be interested under Part XV of the SFO.

4, Ms. Ho Sin Ying, the spouse of Mr. Wong Kin Kei, is deemed to
be interested in the 37,500,000 Shares held by him, through his
controlled corporation, J&J Partner Investment Group Limited,
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options for their contribution to the
growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme include
directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) and employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
other person who is in the absolute discretion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is 20,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
eligible person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a consideration of
HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options may be vested
over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iiij the nominal value of a
Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted, exercised
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this announcement, hence no outstanding
share option as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the adoption of
the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with
immediate effect, pursuant to which all eligible persons will be
entitled to participate. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognize the contributions by certain eligible persons
and provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continuing operation and development of the Group, and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be granted under
the Share Award Scheme is 2,056,000 Shares, representing
approximately 1.03% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this announcement. No Shares
have been granted under the Share Award Scheme since its
adoption and up to the date of this announcement.

A summary of the terms of the Share Award Scheme has been
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 16 October
2018.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2021 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to an arrangement that would enable the Directors or their
close associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
relevant provisions therein, the Directors, company secretary
and other officers shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may incur in or sustain by the execution of their
duties in their respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and senior management of the Company in respect
of legal action against them in the course of execution of their
duties in good faith.
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” above and note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for 22.9% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales to the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for 65.1% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 9.4% of the Group’s
total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable to the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 25.5% of the
Group’s total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
or their respective close associates, or Shareholders owning
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the purchase of Shares by the trustee through
on-market transactions at prevailing market price as stipulated
under the Share Award Scheme (as defined above), neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 38 to 57
of this annual report.

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo is the compliance officer and
the company secretary of the Company respectively, his
biographical details are set out on page 17 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report which explains
how the Company complies with the environmental, social and
governance reporting guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules is set out on pages 58 to 97 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued
shares were held by the public) as required by Rule 17.38A
of the GEM Listing Rules during the year and as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of the annual report.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders or any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are
they aware of any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor
are they aware of any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group during the year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 8 December 2017, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen and Madison
Square International Investment Limited (collectively referred
to as the “Covenantors”), and the Company (for itself and
as trustee for each of its subsidiaries) entered into a deed of
non-competition (the “Non-competition Deed”), pursuant
to which each of the Covenantors has irrevocably, jointly and
severally given certain non-competition undertakings to the
Company. Details of the Non-competition Deed are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders
— Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION (continued)

The Covenantors confirmed that they have complied with the
Non-competition Deed for the year ended 31 March 2021. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such
review for the year ended 31 March 2021 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Non-competition
Deed has been fully complied.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Director, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rule.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

With effect from 1 July 2020, the Company and Messis Capital
Limited (“Messis Capital”) have mutually agreed to terminate
the compliance adviser agreement entered into between the
Company and Messis Capital dated 30 April 2019 (the “CA
Agreement”). Since the date of listing of the Company on GEM
of the Stock Exchange on 4 January 2018, the Company had
appointed compliance adviser throughout the two full financial
years commencing on the date of its initial listing (being the
financial years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020).

As notified by Messis Capital, except for the CA Agreement,
neither Messis Capital nor its directors, employees or close
associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interest in the Company or any member of the Group which is
required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32
of the GEM Listing Rules as at 30 June 2020.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of
reference which are no less exacting terms than those set out
in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “CG Code”). Currently, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Cheung
Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang
Chung Fai, Benny, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis,
who has appropriate professional qualifications and experience
as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2021, which is of the opinion that
such information have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable accounting standards, the requirements under the
Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. There is no change in
auditors since the date of the listing of the Company.

PUBLICATION OF 2021 ANNUAL REPORT
The 2021 annual report of the Company containing all
the information required by the GEM Listing Rules will be
dispatched to Shareholders and will also be published on the
website of HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) as well as the
website of the Company (www.sclhk.com).

On behalf of the Board
Sanbase Corporation Limited
Wong Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to adopting a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures throughout the
Group. The Directors firmly believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the steady
growth of the Group and for safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders.

The Company has complied throughout the year ended
31 March 2021 with all the code provisions in the CG Code as
set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, except the
following deviation:

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong, being
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has been primarily
responsible for scrutinizing the performance of management in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, monitoring
the Group’s performance reporting, management and business
development and formulating business strategies and policies
of the Group since 2009. As the Board meets regularly to
consider matters relating to business operations of the Group,
the Board is of the view that the above arrangement will not
impair the balance of power and authority of the Board and the
executive management. The effectiveness of corporate planning
and implementation of corporate strategies and decisions will
generally not be undermined.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTION BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms equivalent to the Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having
made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they
have fully complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business,
strategic decision and performance. The Board is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should
carry out their fiduciary duties in good faith, make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company as a whole.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
and internal control systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the senior management
and the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the senior management. The Board has the full support of
the senior management to discharge its responsibilities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing Shareholders value. The Board
comprises four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors currently.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board has met the
requirements under Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules having a minimum of three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of
the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for different
businesses and functional divisions of the Group in accordance
with his/her expertise. The independent non-executive Directors
bring different businesses and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board and they constitute
the majority of each of the Board committees of the Company.
Through participation in Board meetings and taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the Shareholders.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rule and considers them to be independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

To the best knowledge of the Directors, except for Mr. Wong
and Ms. Hui, the Directors have no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) between
any members of the Board. Biographies of Directors are set out
on pages 16 to 19 of this annual report.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
renewal upon expiry of the existing term. The Company has
entered into a director’s service agreement with to each of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong, Mr. Wong Kin Kei and
Ms. Hui, for a term of three years. The Company also entered
into a director’s service agreement with Dr. Sung Tak Wing,
Leo, an executive Director, with a term of one year.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to Mr. Pang
Chung Fai, Benny, an independent non-executive Director, with
a term of three years from his appointment date. The Company
also issued letter of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis
and Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson, with a term of one year
commencing from their respective dates of appointment.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting of the Company provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Any new Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment,
whereas any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company. The Directors should
be eligible for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting
of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the
executive Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and
each Director is able to request inclusion of items in the
agenda. The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings
on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when
circumstances require. The Board held 6 meetings during the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 to consider, among other
things, reviewing and approving the quarterly, interim, annual
results and payments of dividends of the Group.

Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least
14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to give all
directors an opportunity to attend.

Adequate and appropriate information are circulated to the
Directors normally three days in advance of Board meetings
or such period accepted by them. Minutes of all Board and
committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and
are open for inspection by the Directors. Draft minutes of all
Board and committee meetings are circulated to all Directors
and committee members for comments within the period
accepted by them after each meeting.

The Directors attend meetings in person or via telephone
conference, as permitted under the Articles of Association.
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TERERRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings,
committee meetings, the annual general meeting held on
31 July 2020 (the “2020 AGM”) for the year is set out below:

Board
meetings
Bxg
=f
Total Number of Meetings & XHAH 6
Executive Directors HTES
Wong Sai Chuen FTitfF 6/6
Wong Kin Kel BRE 6/6
Hui Man Yee, Maggie et 6/6
Sung Tak Wing, Leo NG 6/6
Independent BIFBTES
Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man Dennis KEX 6/6
Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson BRE K 6/6
Pang Chung Fai, Benny THE 6/6
Notes:
1. The Board held four regular Board Meetings and two other full

Board Meetings during the year ended 31 March 2021.

2. Mr. Pang Chung Fai,
telephone conference.

Benny attended the 2020 AGM Via

The Company Secretary attends the Board/Board committees
meetings. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board/Board committees
procedures are observed and advising the Board/Board
committees on compliance matters.

BEE® (5

EEgeEREER(A)
BNEERNTFRNHFEEZS S ESCZE29E
NF2020F7A31B R TR R EF KE ([20208 R
BFERE)MEERHEHINET

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE SERY

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee 2020
meetings meetings meetings AGM
ERZEES FHzEES REZ8SE 2020
=f =f 83 RRBFAE
4 1 1 1
N/A 38 B N/A i@ A 1/1 1/1
N/A 8 A N/A i@ A N/A i@ A 1/1
N/ATE A N/A i@ A N/A i A 1/1
N/A i N/A i A N/A i A 1/1
4/4 1/1 11 11
4/4 1/1 1/1 1/
4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution into the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in CPD to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills by read materials and/or
attend training course, seminars or workshops organised by
professional bodies on corporate governance or updated on
laws, rules and regulations relating to the roles, functions and
duties of a Director.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the year is summarised as follow:

Directors =}

Executive Directors BTES

Wong Sai Chuen FtEfF

Wong Kin Kei =RE

Hui Man Yee, Maggie FEla

Sung Tak Wing, Leo RIGE
Independent Non-executive Directors VEHITESE
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis R X

Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson Bk &

Pang Chung Fai, Benny ZHhiE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) BEE® (&)

Corporate governance functions TEERBAE

Pursuant to code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code, the Board RIECEEASTHISTAIEXED.S.11E REE20214F
is also responsible for performing the corporate governance 3ASIHIFFER EESNAEBETLEETABESH
duties during the year ended 31 March 2021 as set out below: P OENE

e developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and o HIEREBMARAT ZCEEARERER:
practices on corporate governance;

e reviewed and monitored the training and continuous ¢ EEMNERSEELoAETEEBEZEIILEER
professional development of Directors and senior FER:
management;

. reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and e EHNRERARRBTETREERTIEZ
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory B ER R A8 A
requirements;

e developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct o HIF BHELKERFEHANEELRES 21745
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees FERFM(0E) X
and Directors; and

e reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code o HHRARAGBETLEERTAZERARREE
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. ERAMEEH ZHE -

BOARD COMMITTEE EEERET

The Company has three Board committees, namely, the ARARE=ZHAEEZCZES ANEXZEL REZ
Audit Committee, nomination committee (the “Nomination E &€ ([REBZE€|)LFHZEE UEBARASF
Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing BB THEBE -FTAEEFSZ 8K LY A HED
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board ZEBESE HEERURBIMBERAQTRE
committees have been established with defined written terms W& -FiEE S e L E RN ESSERTZHE
of reference which are available on the Stock Exchange’s JRE(E: -

website and on the Company’s website. All the Board

committees should report to the Board on their decisions or

recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources FIEEZEECRECWESTRERNBITESHNRE
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are WIEAEZRMNBEZBRATHABYEEXER B
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate FRHARAFRAE - REESLZES REAG BE
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The respective  KJEENFIE M T

role, responsibilities and activities of each Board committee are

set out below:

Audit Committee EREES
The Audit Committee was established with a specific ARAFDRIUBEZRZE S WD BRMGEE A

written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. Y B EFEZHBEHE -ZESBRER BB IEHNIT
The committee currently comprised three independent == (BIRENEAE BRENEERTHELLE) AKX
non-executive Directors namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, WHIR&EXEEETEE @ B #HEGEM LR RIZE5.05
Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang Chung Fai, K528 TR A BZEERNER - MEEZXZTE
Benny, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, who &KEAARQAFREIIMEXBAMORTEAEA-

has appropriate professional qualifications and experience as

required by Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former

partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

+
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group and
considering any significant or unusual items raised by the
financial officers of the Group or external auditor before
submission to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor and making
relevant recommendations to the Board; and reviewing the
Company’s financial reporting system and the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

By invitation of the Audit Committee, other Directors and senior
management may also attend the meetings. The Company
Secretary prepared full minutes of the Audit Committee
meetings with details of discussions and decisions reached.
Sufficient resources are made available to the committee when
independent legal or professional advice is required. The Audit
Committee members meet with the external auditor twice a
year.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2021:

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
and the annual results announcement of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2020;

° reviewed the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the interim results announcement of the
Company for the 6 months ended 30 September 2020;

° reviewed the quarterly unaudited consolidated financial
statements and quarterly results announcement of the
Company for the 3 months ended 30 June 2020 and 9
months ended 31 December 2020 respectively;

° reviewed the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the Company’s external auditor;

° reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management policies; and

° reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and statutes, and
financial reporting matter.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with a specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised one executive Director,
Mr. Wong, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Chi Kwong,
Dickson and Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny, and chaired by
Mr. Wong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; (ii) identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection criteria

In selecting candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as:

° the Company’s needs;

° the diversity on the Board;

° the integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge
of the candidate; and

° the amount of time and effort that the candidate will
devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.

External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry
out selection process when necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Board diversity policy

During the year, the Board adopted a Board diversity policy
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavors to ensure that the Board had
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Company will also take into account factors based
on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. Such policy will be reviewed from time to time to ensure
the appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of

the Board.

The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination

Committee during the year ended 31 March 2021:

° reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendation to the Board on

their appointments;

° assessed the independence of the independent

non-executive Directors; and

° reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the

re-appointment of retiring Directors at the 2020 AGM.
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TREB®RSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with a specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis,
Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny,
and chaired by Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure and on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
pursuant to the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
the prevailing market conditions.

The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2021:

° Reviewed the Group’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management;

° Reviewed and recommended to the Board the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management; and

° Ensured that no director or any of his/her associates are
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2021
and 2020 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) for the year ended 31 March 2021 by band
is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HKD)
FEEE (Ex)

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001%1,500,000

Share interest of senior management
As at 31 March 2021, none of the senior management had any
interests in the shares of the Company.

Auditor’s remuneration

The external audit provides an objective assessment of the
financial information presented by the management, and is
considered one of the essential elements to ensure effective
corporate governance. During the year, the fees charged by
PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit and non-audit services of
HKD1,346,000 and HKD112,000 respectively. The non-audit
services mainly represent of taxation services.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit
fees, effectiveness of the audit process, independence and
objectivity of PricewaterhouseCoopers and has recommended
to the Board the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuring year at the
forthcoming AGM.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an
integrated and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which includes the establishment of a
defined management structure with specified limits of authority.
The internal control system is designed to assist in the
achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring the
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication
and ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and
regulation. The internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the
Group’s objectives. The internal control system (embedded
in the operations of the Company and forms part of the
Company’s culture) includes:

° effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

° capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the change in business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that are identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

° reliability of financial reporting; and
° compliance with applicable rules, laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Payment Procedures

Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review
and approve for payment in respect of the capital and recurring
expenditures.

Financial reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going
concern basis, with reasonable and prudent judgement and
estimates as necessary. In preparing the accounts for the three
months ended 30 June 2020, six months ended 30 September
2020, nine months ended 31 December 2020 and the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

Risk Management

The Board together with senior management responsible
for monitoring and assessing risk regularly, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects.
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TREB®RSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Audit

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
the Group’s size and its structure is small and simple and the
Board is of the opinion that it is more cost effective to appoint
an external independent service provider to carry out internal
audit function for the Group if necessary. However, the Board
will continue to review the need for an internal audit function at
least annually.

Internal Control Review

During the year, the Company has engaged an external service
provider to carried out an annual review on the internal control
system including financial, operational and compliance control,
and risk management functions. The review adopts a risk-based
approach to create and review the effectiveness of an internal
control system and includes the following works:

(i) to carry out a high level review on the internal control
system on new business/member of the Group under the
principles which cover major control aspects; and

(i)  to arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group
on a selective basis.

The Company has adopted a set of internal control policies and
procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records and reliability of financial
information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company based
on the available information (normally from the news and
periodicals) about local and market’s dynamic movements and
their understanding of the risk assessment is enhanced through
the on-the-job training and regular meetings to discuss cases
of the potential risk.

BREERAZBEE #)

&P F

AR AREREIRBER N MEEREETER /NG
ERZBINIBIRBHEFATARERNLEZD
BEEARAMGD RN FARAYERIAREZEK -

AT EERBBES L SERS
NES-
P B BE 1 FE AL

E VARSI X =

FA-ARAREEF - RIIBREFEEFYAMEE
Em (BB 2ERGRERERRAREE)E)E
TEEN G -FERARRER AL ER®E A
EERGR BT ITHE:

() WBEREXIZEZSBZRA UAREEMEL

RERARNNMEERRETSRBARE K

(i) BEWBIFAKEZKE QR HRED

THEEFTAR -

=+

B

EREE

ARRERMH—ENBEEBRRIEF UWREASE
BEE NERSHTCHEZERERMBEMNA E
o A RERETHBER AR -

ARANEZERSREEBERBHA M R MI5E &
MABERER CREREFELIT) T RER G-
in A BB ER RN

I 375 58 1 B S 3 B E 4R
OIS AR ARE T AR

ST A
TTE &R

L

+

=]
=

%

]

N

al

2021 FEHE

53



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

oo

XERBRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)
Internal Control Review (Continued)
Identification, assessment and management:

the head of each department such as the Finance
Department and the Board will be informed regarding the
factors that have impact on the profit and price based on
the nature of business and their own experience. During
the course of execution, the concerned responsible
person of the Company will handle relevant documents
and report to the Directors.

as for matters as required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company Secretary will present the
issues to the Board for review and discussion, and inform
Directors and relevant personnel that dealing in the shares
of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

generally, the Company Secretary will check with the
requirements as prescribed in Chapter 19 and Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules before execution of the proposed
transactions (including continuing connected transactions),
to assess whether the proposed transaction will trigger
the disclosures requirements either in announcements,
circulars and annual reports, and the need to obtain
Shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the external service provider, engaged by

the

Company, has presented its review report and make

recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee has discussed with the management and reported
the progress of the work plan and related findings to the Board
at board meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREB®RSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Corporate
Governance enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
and for the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control
system, the Company has established a strong internal control
framework, put in place a set of stringent policies and code of
conduct to emphasis values on integrity, fairness, transparency
and accountability so as to stand against corruption and fraud.
During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its internal control report to the
Audit Committee, who is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system so as to achieve in develop effective control
activities and then to mitigate the risks.

The Directors has strengthened corporate governance
practices, including formalization of the reporting practice
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an on-going basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions are adequate)
and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since June 2020, he has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training to update her skills and
knowledge during the year pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirement under paragraph O of the CG
Code.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of the Association, it is
stipulated that:

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. The extraordinary general meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at
the Company’s principal place of business. The request will
be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars and
transfer office in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to
include the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.
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TREB®RSE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting (Continued)

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

a. Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM of the Company.

b.  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

c. Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for directing Shareholders enquires to
the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary, by email:
ir@sanbase.com.hk, fax: (852) 2870 3813, or mail to 16/F, Loon
Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels
with Shareholders and investors. Apart from publication of
quarterly, interim and annual reports, press announcement and
release, updated and key information of the Group are available
on the Company’s website at www.sclhk.com. The Company’s
website offers communication channel between the Company
and its Shareholders and investors. The Company’s registrars
serve the Shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year.

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has published its memorandum of association and
articles of association on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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ABOUT THIS ESG REPORT

Report Purpose, Period and Scope

The Group is here to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance report (the “ESG Report”) to its stakeholders,
aiming to disclose its sustainability strategies, policies
and performance from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the
“Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise stated, the reporting
scope of this ESG Report covers the Group’s operations at
offices of Hong Kong and the PRC. The scope does not include
the Group’s construction sites under operation in the Reporting
Period.

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the disclosure
obligations under the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Explanations on Data

Financial data in the report are extracted from this annual
report. Other data are extracted from the Company’s internal
management system and statistics, and partly comprise of
data from previous years. Unless otherwise stated, Hong
Kong dollars is used in this ESG Report as its functional
currency. The intensity disclosed for the Reporting Period
was calculated by dividing the amount of the emission/waste/
resource consumption by the Group’s revenue of approximately
HKD481.3 million in the Reporting Period.
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R #E8RkER/ME

Confirmation and Approval

The information contained herein is sourced from official
documents and statistics of the Group, and management and
operation information collected in accordance with the Group’s
systems. This ESG Report has been confirmed and approved
by the Board of the Company.

Access to This ESG Report

This ESG Report is available in both Chinese and English
versions. In case of any discrepancies between these two
versions, the English version shall prevail. This ESG Report
is available in both HKEXnews’s website and the Company’s
website.

Feedback

Every stakeholder’s opinion is given high attention. We value
every opinion from our stakeholders and are dedicated to
incorporating their opinions into our approach to sustainability.
Should you have any opinion or suggestion concerning this
Report or the Group’s sustainability performance, please
contact us at:

Address: 16/F, Loon Kee Building
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

Email: ir@sanbase.com.hk

Website: www.sclhk.com
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

We are pleased to present the fourth ESG Report of the Group
to our stakeholders, showcasing the sustainability strategies,
approach and performance of Sanbase in the previous year, in
the hope of allowing our stakeholders to have a holistic view of
our effort in achieving environmental and social sustainability.

Being a responsible corporate citizen, the Board of Directors
of the Group oversees the Group’s overall risk management,
including identifying, assessing and managing material ESG
risks as well as opportunities in order to better manage our
sustainability approach and performance. In the meantime,
the Group has formulated a series of comprehensive policies
and measures in terms of various environmental, social
and governance aspects in the foundation of 1SO9001:
2015 Quality Management Systems, 1SO14001: 2015
Environmental Management Systems and 1SO45001: 2018
Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems
certifications to uphold the principle of sustainability at all times
and at all levels of daily operations.

Regarding the spread of COVID-19 throughout the world, a
multitude of industries and enterprises inevitably experience an
unprecedented strike on their businesses while facing a huge
economic downturn. It is indeed a big challenge for us to gain
a foothold in the midst of uncertainties. Nevertheless, each of
our employees, workers and subcontractors is still committed
to providing quality services to our customers with dedication,
professionalism and perseverance as always, in the hope of
meeting and even exceeding customers’ expectations.
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In view of the commitment of our employees and workers
into maintaining quality work in daily operations, the Group
is devoted to rewarding them with competitive benefits and
welfare as a gratitude to their unceasing contributions for the
sake of the Group’s sustainable development. We have also
introduced a series of health and safety measures in offices and
construction sites to take care of every employee and worker
under the pandemic, including but not limited to ensuring an
adequate supply of pandemic prevention supplies, requiring
them to wear masks, check body temperature and maintain
good personal hygiene, and conducting frequent cleaning
and disinfectioning in the working environment so that we
could continue to strive for excellence with health and safety
concerns being properly addressed.

During the Reporting Period, we were unable to arrange and
participate in large-scale staff and community activities. In spite
of this, by upholding the principle of “it is better to give than to
take”, the Group is still doing the best to bring positive influence
to the environment and society through various channels. In
terms of environmental protection, we participated in “Earth
Hour” event and donated computers to “Caritas Computer
Workshop” for recycle and reuse purposes. In terms of society,
we donated to Yan Chai Hospital and Hong Kong Cancer Fund
to support their charitable causes, and participated in the
Community Chest’s Dress Casual Day.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Group, | am here
to express my sincerest and heartiest gratitude to our every
valuable stakeholder who has shown unceasing support to
the Group. Looking forward, the Group would continue to put
an emphasis on environmental, social and governance issues,
pursue sustainability of our business while not compromising
environmental and social sustainability by joining hands with
our stakeholders, striving to bring a better future for our next
generations.

WONG Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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ABOUT THE GROUP

Founded in 2009 with its base in Hong Kong, the Group
was successfully listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited in 2018. With the mission of “Building
a Brighter Future” and the leadership of a committed and
enthusiastic management team, the Group has produced
consistent and encouraging results over the years, focusing on
providing interior fit-on solutions to clients whose offices are
predominately situated in Grade A office in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

ESG Governance

The Board oversees the Group’s risk management activities
and monitors material ESG risks. The Group considers risk
management as an integral part of daily management and
sound corporate governance. The Group assesses and
determines ESG-related risks and opportunities and addresses
significant ESG risks. Coupled with sound internal controls,
the process facilitates a continuous process of identifying,
evaluating, prioritizing, managing and monitoring of the
risks that the Group faces in its operations. Details on our
risk management approach can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report section of this annual report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group puts great store by stakeholder engagement by
communicating with stakeholders and collecting their feedback
towards the Group’s business operations and sustainable
development through a series of formal and informal
communication channels. We believe that this process could
help us in optimizing our approach in sustainability as well as
business development, thus helping us strive for excellence.
The communication channels we have deployed include:
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Stakeholders Key Topics Engagement Channels
EHE IR SHERE
Shareholders/Investors ° Financial performance ° Annual general meetings and other
B EE BRI shareholder meetings
e  Corporate governance REEAFAEREMRENS
TEER e  Corporate reports and
° Risk management announcements
[\ fe & 72 rERERRNE
o Operations and strategy ° Meeting with investors and analysts
B KRB (if applicable)
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Stakeholders Key Topics Engagement Channels
BHHE TE SHERE
Employees Welfare and benefits Regular meetings
(== =] FHgE
Working environment Training, seminars and briefing
THERE sessions
Training and development HFil- g kENE
Bl &R Emails
Occupational health and safety B
BEERETY Mid-year and annual performance
Self-actualization appraisal
BERER Fh RFERRTMGE
Customers Safe and high-quality products and Company website, corporate reports
s services and announcements

Suppliers/subcontractors

HEEm,REHE

2 RBEEMMRSE
Stable relationship

1B E R

Information transparency
BRBERE

Integrity

EAH

Business ethics

CESSTE

Long-term partnership
REIRHRR

Honest cooperation

}%E (=) ME

Fairness and openness
Information resources sharing
ERERKE

Risk reduction

e {EC L B

NEM - ERERAE

Email and customer service hotline
BHREP REEREZ

Feedback and reports

2 88 & &

Regular meetings

EHEH

International certifications

.lzﬁ—‘iﬂbllm

Business meetings, supplier
conference, phone calls and
interviews

ez HERNSR EFLES
Regular meetings

EHE®R

Reviews and assessments

AR HT&E;{E

Tendering process

BIRRERF

Emails, circulars and manuals
B 5 ok N T

Company website
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Stakeholders
FoE

Key Topics

Engagement Channels

SHRE

Government/Regulators

B/ G E#E

Community

a2

Taxation compliance
BMEE R

Regulatory compliance
EEAM

Business ethics
[EEEE:

Community involvement
HE2E

Social responsibilities
HeiE

Employment promotion
fRE M=

Transparent information
FRER
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On-site inspections and checks
B Rims

Research and discussion through
work conferences, work reports
preparation and submission for
approval

FRITEER REMRIERSE
AEEH - FRM R KAt
Corporate reports and
announcements

rERERNE

Company website

YNSIF R

Compliance control

BREE

Voluntary work

BEITE

Charity and social investment
BERUTEERE

Company website

YNGR R
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Materiality Assessment

Apart from the above routine stakeholder communication
channels, we also conducted a materiality assessment during
the Reporting Period by inviting our stakeholders to provide
ratings on various environmental, social and governance issues,  #8 * it T < F 1

ERMTME

1T E B M
ABBETHD

helping us identify issues that are material to the Group, thus &T - A THREZHFENETEH T .
allowing us to enhance our sustainability approach in a more

effective way. Below shows the major steps of the materiality

assessment:

1. Identify 26 sustainability issues related to our business 1. Z2FEBBIAESGHREIES] -

with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange, routine stakeholder engagement, latest industry

trend and daily operations.

2. Invite stakeholders of the Group to participate in an online 2.
survey and provide ratings on the 26 issues according to

their levels of materiality.

3. Collect the ratings and conduct materiality analysis to 3. Ug%
identify issues which are the most material to the Group.

Below table outlines the 11 material issues identified in the ESG
materiality assessment. These issues will be highlighted in this [ :iE @B - ZSHEE BN AESGRE B °

ESG Report.

Material Issues

EERE

26MAR BB ERAEE

S H
I&

BEAEEFD
= &5

&
K o6 @ EE

El$ IETTE
REENHRE-

TR

Section highlighted in this ESG Report
RAEAESGHREEHFTNRED

Waste handling
REE Y BRIE

Anti-fraud and corruption
REFFRES
Anti-corruption training
R& 55

Fitting-out service quality

KERBEE

Health and safety of fitting-out services
KERBRERELZ S

After-sales services of fitting-out services

KRS E R R

Waste Emissions

BEZ W HE IR

Upholding Business Ethics and Integrity
wEMRBRELHRE

Upholding Business Ethics and Integrity
HERREBRELHRE

Quiality Services

B4 iR %5

Quality Services

BE R

Customer-first Approach
EFEL

+

L

B bt B R0 EBBEREIN BAITFRHRE HRRE

FRNEHTRRE HLERE

CEPRMARNSASEBERZNE

EEUNEAEMMGT A MBI HEERD

RANITEBERAEE ﬁE%%%'JE‘@%%%EE%E’\J

B WREBEEN

MDA - DA B B AN &R B Bk

LN ARESGHREEEMFAEINHNEER
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Material Issues

EEREE

Section highlighted in this ESG Report
REESGHREEHFNRED

Customer service

B P R

Customer-first Approach

BEFEL

Privacy protection
AL R &

Privacy Protection
BALR#

Labor relation

CeE N RES

Talent Acquisition

AT HBE

Employee health and safety
BIfgRELs

Occupational Health and Safety
BERRRZR

Staff benefits
STREH

Talent Acquisition

AFABE

BREREEZZEIN A TREENFETEZEREN

Apart from those 11 material issues, the followings are the

other issues considered in the materiality assessment: Hfhm A

Environmental Product

Protection and Operational and Service Community
Green Operations Practices Responsibility Work Environment Contribution
BRARBEBEE EEER EmEREEME IHERE & E Rt

Climate change Supplier/subcontractor Advertising and Diversity, equality and Participation in

management promotion anti-discrimination volunteer activities
RIREL IR,/ RAHEER BENERE Zuf  FERRER 2EFTIEDY

Greenhouse gas and

Supplier/subcontractor

Training and

Charitable giving

air emissions environmental and development
social performance
assessment
REREBRERIEKR R, E A RE R EIIRER ZERY
HeRRTH

Energy conservation

)

Rl Be

Water conservation
Bk
Use of resources

BIR{E A

Green procurement

RERE

Emergency response plan

LRSS
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Sustainability Strategy

Being an experienced fitting-out service provider in the
industry, Sanbase is dedicated to managing our environmental
and social performance in a stringent manner in pursuit of
achieving sustainability and bringing positive influence to our
environment and community. We have established Sustainability
Policy which guides our employees to promote sustainable
development by ensuring all applicable legal requirements have
been met, ensuring all potential adverse impacts our operations
might impose on the environment have been identified and
properly managed, operating with reasonable use of resources,
safeguarding health and safety of stakeholders, favoring
suppliers and subcontractors who promote positive sustainable
development and continuously monitoring our performance,
together with an array of relevant policies and systems on the
foundation of 1ISO9001: 2015 Quality Management Systems,
ISO14001: 2015 Environmental Management Systems and
ISO45001: 2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management
Systems, in order to put our dedication into practice. We would
review the sustainability policy from time to time to ensure that
our practice in place is effective.

The Group has always been upholding the following 4
core areas of focus at all times in the process of achieving
sustainable operations:

Operational
Excellence

FHEE

Environmental

Protection
RIERE

SL

AFEERERE
EAENAEFLEERNRIERBEER HEBD
REBEREERREIAMAERR UERAUZERE T A
BMNRERMREREGEE - RMEFEFE
BERX BERBEEVFERR BREAMEAE
BARBTE BRAEZEZEERMOES TS
REERKNMBEBETAEE ELEFEEFRE
B REFOHENRREHEALZ 2 SRERERGIFHE
BRMEERRXERAR T EREMIARIRMN
K E 7 1S09001:2015m & B 8 K - 1S014001:2015
RIBEEE A NISO45001: 2018 X REEL 2 EEE
REBRMHEN— RN BEBRREHE  AEEM
EHBEENEEE - AT BEHERERE
BREMOMETZER-

EERAUKEZENERET NREHRERIAT4E
R

Community

Investment
HERE

People-centric

Workplace

BLARAHY
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OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

Being an experienced fitting-out service provider in the
industry, Sanbase has always been putting emphasis on
upholding service quality, striving to offer our clients with
fitting-out/construction management, design consultancy/
project management and other services of the highest quality.
The Group has obtained ISO9001: 2015 Quality Management
Systems certificate which sets out the standards of managing
quality of products and services that we are in stringent
compliance with. We also strictly abide by the requirements of
applicable laws and regulations in relations to health and safety
of products and services, advertising and labelling, privacy
and intellectual property issues, including but not limited to
the Buildings Ordinance, the Building (Minor Works) Regulation
and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Advertising Law of the PRC ((FZEARKEMBEEESE) )
and the Law of the PRC on Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests ((PFEARLFBEBE#EZTRZE L) ). During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of material
breaches of relevant laws and regulations.

Excellent Partnership

The Group believes managing the quality of products and
services provided by our suppliers and subcontractors is
indispensable to providing high quality services to our clients.
As such, the Group has set out our procedures, standards
and requirements in selecting and managing suppliers and
subcontractors in our continuity of business plan, Policy and
Procedure of Sub-contracting & Procurement, Code of Ethics
Policy and relevant policies. When selecting suppliers and
subcontractors, we would review their necessary qualifications,
credit and company profile to select the most suitable ones.
Selected ones will be recorded in the list of qualified supplier
and subcontractor which will be reviewed annually. When
performing fitting-out services, we would strictly monitor
the performance of our suppliers and subcontractors. If any
supplier and subcontractor is found to have failed to conform to
the terms of agreement, our Department Head would supervise
the supplier and subcontractor and may hire temporary staff or
assign other approved supplier and subcontractor to take over
the work to ensure the smoothness of our services. We would
also evaluate suppliers and subcontractors’ performance on a
periodic basis to ensure they have met our requirements.
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As at 31 March 2021, the Group has engaged a total of 608
suppliers and subcontractors. We mainly work with local
suppliers, hoping to minimize the greenhouse gas emissions
brought by goods transportation and travelling. Besides, we
strive to bring positive impact to the entire supply chain through
the Group’s influence. As a result, we have formulated code
of ethics policy, environmental policy, equal opportunities
policy and human resource and labor standards policies that
we expect our suppliers and subcontractors are in stringent
compliance with the Group’s standard, in the hope of joining
hands with them to promote environmental and social
sustainability.

M2021463A31H » A~ & [# H B2 F608 K 4 & i Fo ik
A -BMEEHRAMHEEAIE FEBEMES
MIRTTEANBE REEMBEI&E LN BRME
NBBEAEENEENAEREREERBERTE.
Eit ZRIFIE TEELENBREK RERR - FERE
BEARANERRS TEERK HEHMAOEE
B RR A EOEBRRETAEBNIZE AFEF
RERBEMLEHIFEZERE-

Distribution of Suppliers by Geographical Location

HEBNLES fo

109j |

Quality Services

Providing and maintaining high quality services is considered
as the Group’s core responsibility. In order to satisfy our clients
with our services, we have established a range of policies
and measures with the foundation of 1ISO9001: 2015 Quality
Management Systems to govern the procedures and standards
of our services, including Project Quality Plan that regulates the
entire fitting-out work process through the following aspects:

Material Purchase °

M #L R E

B Hong Kong &8
B The PRC HEl

m Others Efth

N 495

BERK
REMFBEIANRBEASETEENZLAEL B
TEEPHEMORSE RZEmE - FFIEISO9001 :
2015mEERBANERLFIE T —RINBRRREE -
UHRBERMNREREFREE BEBEATEES
ERMBRERE THERENEEEENE:

Client’s representative and site manager/supervisor would inspect on
the materials to ensure they comply with all contractual and specification

requirements and trade standards
BEPFREMIMERBAS THETHEMBETRSE UBREMFTEMES
EARIEERAR R FIZAE

o If any materials are found sub-standard or defective, they will be rejected and
returned to suppliers for replacement
MEBEREMMB DGR ELE R EGEERIRRL THEMETER

+

L

seman 20216ERs 69



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE HERERBHRSE

Document submission ° Submit drawings and technical literatures for architect/design consultant and
MHRR client’s representative’s review

RRXTIZEREKMERIACREN ReTBEEAREFPRREE

I|\L-

v’
Construction and Installation o Check and verify existing site dimensions before start of construction
R E 76 T 7 408 Al AR &5 10 52 8 30 A B T3t R~

° Any major discrepancies found will be reported to architect/design consultant

BRAEMEAZ RIS REM, RTERRS

\l o Conduct installation in accordance with approved method statement which
= outlines the standards and precautions for demolition work, dry wall installation
work, electrical work, plumbing and drainage work, painting, furniture installation

work etc.

REBEAENT EZHAETLRR ZFHAARA TIROD TIE LK ITE-ES
IRIE-KERBKERIR BRIRE REXEIRENZERTENEE
° Site supervisor conducts checking and verification on site and ensures fitting
out workers have followed the method statement during installation
THETEETRGRERBRE YHEREETIAGCLREBREPERBZ I ERA

Inspection and testing o Each stage (from seasoning, cutting, assembling, sanding, painting to
5 U B2 R & packaging) should be inspected with signed record before the next stage begins

EEEER (KR -5 EX - TE BRIBEK)MEET —BERFAKANE

mE W % F o8k

° Corrective and preventive actions will be carried out if any non-compliance is
found
MR G EMER BRI E RFER i

° After completion of all stages with satisfactory results, hand over inspection
will be carried out with our responsible personnel, client and architect/design
consultant
EXTKABERBRBRITIRIGSAREARE HEBRMONDEBEAES TP REEM
RETE R ETR R

Protection of materials o Require workers to pack or wrap materials such as timber items with foam
IRAEM B board/bubble plastic sheet and store in carton boxes/wrapping paper when
delivering to site for protection
MEBXIRSE  TAZRBFLRR AAEHRONEMHELESBEM
NI GNP 3 N (H S 2
o Require workers to cover finished items with polyethylene vinyl acetate (P.E.V.A.)
polyethylene sheets or carton papers to keep them away from cement/plaster
droppings, dust and keep them dry
ERTARRE BB %EE (PEVA) BB RIBEABEE T IS
EEERBKE / AERLEY  REWRFZIR
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In addition to implementing stringent control on the quality of
our projects, we also pay great attention to guaranteeing the
safety of our workers and the project site. We have established
a weekly site safety inspection checklist which is used for
weekly safety inspection. Inspection criteria include whether
workers have valid permit to work, site safety rules, emergency
plan, dust control, noise control, tripping hazards, safe use of
electrical machinery etc.

Customer-first Approach

We are committed to bringing clients with superior services
that satisfy or even exceed their expectations. Therefore, we
pay high attention to their feedback by putting our clients in
our first priority. We would communicate with clients on their
requirements on the project from time to time. Upon completion
of projects, we would provide them with maintenance guide
with guideline on appliance installation and as-built drawings of
premises. We would also listen to and address their feedback
in a timely and wholehearted manner.

Advertising and Labelling

Due to our business nature and the Group being involved in
limited publicity of its products and services, advertising and
product labelling are not considered as material issues to the
Group.

Privacy Protection

We would handle a number of privacy information of the
Group as well as our clients during daily operations. In order
to protect the rights and interest of the Group, our clients
and other stakeholders, we comply with the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong and other relevant laws and
regulations by handling such information with care. Employees
are not allowed to disclose any confidential information to any
third parties without prior consent or approval.

With regards to our business nature, intellectual property is not
considered as a material issue to the Group.

BT HRMMIER EEETRRESSN AR
ERREIAMNBERSNZZ -RMAGIETHET
WZE2BWEE AREBENZERE -RERER
BRIARBABARNIENA RS E2RA-
fE A&l M EES  REFES - BKAIRE - R
MRZ2ERE-

EFELWNFE
BHBNRAEPRUSHKERNEEEBH RERAY
MEIRG A BASEERFESFNEE LEP
BEZMNEZUE BRMETKETFBANSTY
HEMER-EHEEZRE HMAGARFEREEE
EE ERESREEELREERIB -RMTER
BY 20BN REERENRE-

BEERER
HREMANEBEEEARAR A KBS EE M MRS
MESAR BEENEMBRITAWRSZAKEN
EXZEE-

BARE

ERREET BRMEeRBEASENUARTRPN LB
TLER - RRERNEE TP MEAME D ENERN R
a BMETEE (BAAER (BAL)EM) A RE
AR EEZR BEEEZFEN - REEER
BEE BITBRETAS = TRETAEZEN-

AEMANEBEEMS MBRERL RIS EAE
ElEPN-
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PEOPLE-CENTRIC WORKPLACE

Sanbase sees each of our employees as the Group’s most
valuable asset. As such, the Group strives to reward our
employees with a harmonious and safe workplace together
with competitive and abundant welfare and benefits in view of
their hard work contributed to the Group. At the same time,
we pledge to comply with all applicable labor-related laws
and regulations to safeguard the rights of both the Group and
our employees, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labor Law of the
PRC ((FZEARILME L F L) ), the Labor Contract Law of
the PRC ( (REARKMBE L EH & F)E) ), the Law of the PRC
on Occupational Disease Prevention and Control ( (A ZE AR
HME B2 KI8%) ) and the Regulations on Prohibition of
Child Labor ( {ZE1-fEHZE LMD ) etc. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance of labor-related laws and regulations in relations
to remunerations and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, other welfare and benefits.

Employee Overview

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had a total of 87 full time
employees. The distribution of employees by gender, employee
category, age group, geographical locations as well as turnover
rate are outlined below:

Total Workforce B S &%

83

18/19

19/20

94
87

20/21
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BEEHE
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Employees by Age Group
RERERNESNES

3% *\\ ’7 1%

30%— — 29%

21-30
31-40
41-50
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Above 60
60BRIA
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Employees by Gender
RESMRE D

46%j

B Male B

B Female Z 1%

N 54%

Turnover Rate by Gender

RIESMRIE D B
28%
21% I

B Male B B Female &k

Turnover Rate by Age Group
RIESFRANE D HBR =R

38%

20% 19%

20 or below m 21-30 W 31-40
20BEEIA T
B 41-50 B 51-60 B Above 60
60K A L

Employees by Employee Category
RESERHE D

ﬁ13%

\ — 18%

B Senior Management
BREEE

B Management

BEE
B General Staff
WAEEE
B Office Staff
MAEET
N 18%

Turnover Rate by Employee Category
RIESERI8 2 B R

56%j

27% 29%

25%
0% |||| |II|

B Senior Management B Management

SBREERE BEE
B General staff B Office Staff
WAEEE WAZEET

Turnover Rate by Geographical Region

RESTFHRE D HRRR

24% 24%

B HongKong &#& B The PRC FE

HEKERF 2021FERE
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Talent Acquisition

We strive to become an ideal employer by upholding the
principles of equal opportunity, anti-discrimination and diversity
during recruitment, determination of remuneration, promotion,
training and other labor-related procedures at all times. We
would recruit talents through online platform when there are
recruitment needs from our departments. While selecting for
suitable candidates, we would only consider their ability and
experience instead of their age, gender, race, family status
religion, sexual orientation or disability. We have also set up
equal opportunities policy. If any discriminatory, offensive or
humiliating behavior is suspected, employees are encouraged
to report to their department head, associate director or
director. The Group would take it seriously by conducting timely
investigation.

In order to attract and retain talents, the Group is dedicated
to paying back to employees with a multitude of benefits and
welfare. We provide employees with basic salary, mandatory
provident fund for employees in Hong Kong and social
insurance and housing provident fund for employees in the
PRC. In addition, we also offer our employees with:

AFHBE

R BEEFM B EHIIREMESHEBERFT
BMERBFIERS REBMZTEHRE &
NWRBEBNEE -ZHRMABMAEHEFTRE M
SEBRBTEBABAT EEEQENBRE AR
BIFHEZ B SRE ) RS - mIFFHR - MHh - Eik -
KEMN - REC MEMEARERK - HPITRE S EF HH#
ERR-MRRETMERE RBEEIBEENTT
A BEMEBETRESMAEE BEAEXRER
o ARBBERETAELBRFERRE -

RESIMBEAST AEEZNRAZRENFED
BET - RMREERHEATE TREBEER
Hattr e BEATHEESRHESREBUARE
FAEE i BT AB THRH:

° Jury leave
&R

o Birthday leave
4+ B 1R

° Early release on festive days
i B ATt T IE

° External training sponsorship

SMEREE I E BY

° Discretionary year-end bonus

Leave o Public holiday
R HA NARRA
o Statutory holiday
EEMR B
o Annual leave
F1R&
° Sick leave
R (e
° Compassionate leave
B 1R
° Maternity and paternity leave
EBRRFER
Allowance ° Medical allowance
=4l EREOER
° Business travel allowance
Z R ERL
Other benefits o Business travel insurance
H 48 7 ZIRR bR

° Hospitalization insurance
F B 4R B2
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The Group respects every employee and strives to safeguard
the rights of our employees. Hence, we have clearly outlined
the terms regarding remuneration, rest periods, working hours,
procedures of termination of employment and dismissal etc.
in our staff handbook and relevant human resources policies.
Whenever any employee resigns, we encourage corresponding
team leader/department head to talk with the employee to
understand his/her reason.

Apart from the abovementioned benefits and welfare, we also
arrange a number of staff activities from time to time, allowing
our employees to strike a balance between work and life, such
as annual dinner, physical training, mid-autumn festive dinner,
boat trip, Christmas party etc. Unfortunately, given that there is
outbreak of COVID-19 during the Reporting Period, we have put
such activities on pause for the sake of protecting the health
and safety of our employees. We would resume on organizing
such activities when the pandemic is alleviated.

Occupational Health and Safety

Safeguarding the health and safety of our employees is our top
priority. The Group strives its best to provide our employees
with adequate occupational health and safety measures in
accordance with the requirements set out in applicable laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Occupational
Safety and Health and Safety Ordinance of Hong Kong and
the Law of the PRC on Occupational Disease Prevention
and Control ((FZEAREMBIBEREBIAE) ). We have
formulated a series of relevant policies and measures based on
ISO45001: 2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management
Systems certificate (provision of renovation and fitting out
works) we have obtained.

AEBESE—UEE U HNRERENER B
I ERMEEIFMEBBENHANDERBE S BHES
BT BB KRERRE  TERMH - KRILERREE
BEFrEREX -EF B IERE RMXEEENEK
EEMAABEANAZETIHETRIR THEBBRR
& o

SR L FBRENIN RATTRLF - LETES -
FEIVTEHHEIEREE NFEBRE BERKR
MBRE BEM EXHBTESF - BROZ ERXNAE
BEHRBRE T2019 B BRBESHEE BT RE
BENRELRZE2 BMAEELHLEERS - BMAS
ERBAMEMERELLELZS-

BEREHZZ
BLMARELEERERENEERLZ 2 A£ERE
BAKGEBENR TR NFNARMANES MG
HENBERFEZ2EN BEETRREEN (B
ELT2REEREEN) R(PEAREMBBERA
EY c BAIE R B B MIEUS B 1S045001: 20185 % £
BERLZ2EREEARB(REBTREETRE)HE
— Ry BRIBER R A i o
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Ensuring the safety of construction sites is our prime concern.
The Group complies with relevant laws and regulations including
but not limited to Factories and Industrial Undertakings
Ordinance (Sections 6A & 6B), Construction Sites (Safety)
Regulations, Factories and Industries Undertakings (Dangerous
Substance) Regulations. It has established a comprehensive
health and safety plan to assess, monitor and minimize
occupational health and safety risks, and arrange designated
safety officers together with other responsible personnel
including project manager, supervisor, worker, subcontractor,
first-aider etc. to be responsible for safety management on site.
We provide workers for mandatory safety training, and require
them to be qualified with valid Construction Industry Mandatory
Basic Safety Training (MBST) Certificate and construction
workers registered cards by Construction Industry Council.
We also arrange safety induction training, toolbox talk, special
training for potential health and safety risks from time to time
to ensure workers and responsible personnel can keep abreast
with relevant safety knowledge and risks. Safety control we
have implemented on site includes:

©
©

Provide workers with adequate personal protective
equipment including but not limited to helmets, safety
harnesses, gloves, goggles and safety belts

Require workers to bring along with valid safety cards at

work. Designated safety officer would conduct random
check of safety cards

(G

BEREZEERTHNZESRMASKBEINEE - A& EE
SHEBEMNER BREETER(IREIERE
B> (FOARGBIR) (BETH (ZE2)RH) Rk
(IEEIELE (BRME)RY) - HEHE2E
I BE S 2 25T & - DAREfl ~ B5 ORI AN ORL A B 3R 2 R AT
ZeER URHEENRE2EERAMATAS
BREEKE BEAE TA RAHAD KEFH
BRASHNLZE2EE -RMAR/ T ARMBH EL 2
I YERBEEFEAERNREXERFIEERNRZ 2R
(BHMEARZZIR)ERENEEXZENEET
ARBR-HZMTAH L ETLZ 25 EHEI) - TA
HEE - BERERZZRARFAEI AMEERTA
MBEABRANETEABLZZANEKER - M
ERGEMNRZ 2R B

@ ATARHREHEARELE SIEETFR
REE R2% FE - HAERNMAES

@
2

TATERBESETERRE2R-BEN
BEERETRERNERRE

BERRZ2A
Construction
Safety Day

:

2 e &

Certificate of Participation

RERRXR| T LIFREARETRRE

Best Program for Work Safety in Hot Weather and Employees' Health Protection

sl 14T PR A

Sanbase Interior Contracting Limited

2020018A Deutsche Bank (Phase 2) Main Works
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If any worker is found to have infringed safety rules
repeatedly, safety officer can remove the worker from the
site until rectification is made

©

Provide visitors with safety helmets and require
supervisory staff to accompany the visitors during the
entire visit

Carry out regular safety inspection to identify defects

Establish emergency plan with procedures to report
emergency conditions to relevant government
departments

Provide personal hearing protectors to workers exposed
to noise level of 85 db(A) or above. Noise survey will be
carried out when sound pressure level exceeds 85 dB(A)

Require subcontractors to select low noise equipment

Conduct regular emergency drill

Arrange quarterly safety committee meetings and invite
representatives of project management, safety group and
site management to participate

Disclose safety performance of sub-contractors to
evaluate their provision of safety instruction and
supervision

© OO © O ©

In the hope of enhancing the overall safety management on
site, we have implemented an award scheme by awarding
outstanding construction project teams with performance
bonus.

@@@@@@@@

©
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During the Reporting Period, one of the project sites of the
Group has participated in “Best Program for Work Safety in
Hot Weather and Employees’ Health Protection” under the
Construction Safety Day co-organized by Occupational Safety
& Health Council and Labor Department. In the program, we
have introduced a comprehensive occupational health and
safety management system that monitors health and safety
performance in the workplace. Measures we have introduced
include:

° Organize a talk at the construction site to guide supervisor
and workers to evaluate the heat condition on site using
hygrometer thermometer and wet-bulb globe temperature
index

° Place hygrometer thermometers to monitor the humidity
and temperature at the construction site

° Place wet-bulb globe temperature index on the
construction site for workers to evaluate the heat
condition on site

o Set up rest area for workers to get rest and drink

° Provide workers with cotton work uniforms for better
perspiration and reducing body heat absorption

° Provide workers with cooling towels and waist fans for
cooling

REEHE AKENEF —EHRE THESHEA R
XL 2RERRSETIRAABRNEEXL AL
I RERARRATIEL2REREE TREE] -
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In view of the spread of COVID-19, we are highly concerned
about the health and safety of every worker and strive to
minimize the risk of virus spread in the workplace. As such, we
have implemented a series of pandemic prevention measures at
the workplace and construction sites:

° Provide disinfectant spray, disinfectant supplies and wipes
to workers

o Each new worker is required to fill in health declaration
form when entering the site

° Each employee is required to measure body temperature
every day. Employees who are found to have fever or
relevant symptoms are not allowed to work

o Place notice about latest updates on the pandemic at site

° Arrange talks at construction sites to remind workers to
maintain good personal hygiene to prevent pandemic
spread

° Require all employees to wear masks

° Conduct frequent cleaning at workplace and construction
sites

° Ensure adequate ventilation at construction sites
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not record any
work-related fatalities, nor lost days due to work injury.

Number of
work-related fatalities

BEIfFMEMECHAR

Lost days due to work injury
BEIGREIEAR

Talent Development

The Group dedicates to provide employees with adequate
training and promotional opportunities for the sake of their
career development and continuous improvement to strive
for excellence. As such, we have formulated comprehensive
promotion and training systems in order to provide employees
with abundant resources in training and development.

In terms of training, we arrange trainings for employees from
time to time to enhance their professional skills and knowledge.
Trainings we provide to project site workers include induction
training, fire prevention and fire escape, housekeeping rules,
protection against failing objects, inspection before and after
work, electricity safety, safe use of power hand-held tools, toxic
substances etc. During the Reporting Period, the total training
hours of the Group is 157.5 hours. The average training hours
and training ratio by gender and employee category are outlined
as below:
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% of Employees Trained by Gender
IR SR BB 215 %

71%j

Vam 29%

B Male 5%

B Female T4

Average Training Hours by Gender

TGRS BIRIE S FI RIS

2.87
0.37
[ |
B Male B B Female &M%

Note: The calculation is based on the number of employees trained

65%j

during the Reporting Period, including such employees having left
the Group during or subsequent to the Reporting Period, for a
more accurate reflection of the training resources invested by the

Group.

As for promotion, the Group arranges regular performance
appraisal each year to evaluate employees’ work performance
including job knowledge, technical skills, quality and quantity of
work, interpersonal skills, initiative or judgement, adaptability,
organization of work, teamwork, attendance etc. The results

would set as reference for probation, promotion and salary

adjustment.

% of Employees Trained
by Employee Category

BIEEZRESERIE%

e 12%

6%
‘ W Senior Management
|

SREERE
Management
EEE

B General Staff
MAZEERE
T W Office Staff
18% WAEET

Average Training Hours by
Employee Category

TR BIREE R 8D

0.9 0.85
‘lI 3 |||iii
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SREER EEE
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WAEERE WAZEBT
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Labor Standards

Throughout the entire recruitment process, we strictly prohibit
child or forced labor. We would verify the personal identification
document of candidates during recruitment to ensure they have
met legal working age to prevent the occurrence of child labor.
Besides, we also clearly outline the terms of working hours, rest
periods, remuneration, termination of employment and other
employment terms in employment contract and other human
resources policies to avoid the occurrence of forced labor.
The Group strictly follows the requirements of standard labor
contract and is intolerant of any forms of unfair employment
relationship. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any child or forced labor within the Group.

Upholding Business Ethics and Integrity

Being a responsible corporate citizen, the Group strictly
prohibits any forms of corruption, extortion, bribery, fraud,
money laundering and other forms of illegal or unethical
behaviors in accordance with requirements set out in the
Criminal Law of the PRC ( {#ZE AR £ FIEFI5%L) ), the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the PRC ( (I AR EME R EE
%)), the Anti-Corruption Law of the PRC ( (FF#E A R £ FE
RBEE) ) and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong (Cap. 201) and other applicable laws and regulations. As
such, we have formulated anti-fraud policy and code of ethics
policy, requiring our employees to abide by the requirements
in place to avoid any behaviors that breach relevant laws and
regulations or violate business ethics and integrity, such as
bribery or pay-off. We encourage employees to report any
suspected unethical behaviors to their managers or other
appropriate personnel. We pledge to investigate and follow up
on relevant cases in a timely and appropriate manner in order
to protect the interests of the Group and its stakeholders.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material
non-compliance concerning corruption, extortion, bribery, fraud
and money laundering.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group pledges to
put environmental protection in our top priority and not to
compromise our surrounding environment and ecosystem
while striving for excellence in our business. As a result, we
are in stringent compliance with applicable environmental
laws and regulations during our daily operations. We have
already obtained ISO14001: 2015 Environmental Management
Systems certification. We have established a comprehensive
environmental protection policy with relevant measures and
require our employees to abide by, and monitor the use of
resources from time to time, striving to minimize the negative
impact we impose on the environment. The environmental
protection policy highlights that we should:

° Strive to minimize the impact of our works on the
environment, and we are committed to enhance and
improve the ways we work towards environmental issues

through our daily operations;

° Comply with relevant environmental legislation, regulations
and other industrial requirements;

° Strive to reduce, reuse and recycle waste; and

° Review the environmental objectives on a regular basis.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any HEREHME AEELSBEHBRTWBREERRRER
material breach of environmental laws and regulations, including FUAR BT A BIEBTER
but not limited to:

Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311)
ZER)GRE IR (F311F)

Air Pollution Control (Construction Dust) Regulation (Cap. 311R)
ERGAES (BEIREER)HAM (E311RE)

Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354)
BEEYREHE ($£354%F)

Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulations (Cap. 354C)
BEVRE (L2mEE) (—K)HRII(E364CE)

Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400)
e = E Bl 55l (5400%)

Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499)
RERRZENERD (F4998)

Buildings Energy Efficiency Ordinance (Cap. 610)
YL R e 150 (3£610%F)

Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

(PEARAMBRRRZEE)
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R REREEREHER

AEBEHEEIINBENKAERMBRIEN B EEEM
DA E A PRRLE R - 5B TROB R R IR R
BERE (BERKR]) WHERR - AT B ARHEH
B E—FEHNRRERE RENAZREBHREE:

Energy, Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group would consume purchased electricity to support
the daily operations of our offices and fuel consumption of
company vehicles. Such energy consumption also contributes
to the source of our air and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions.
Below outlines the energy consumption, air and GHG emissions
data during the Reporting Period and the previous year:

Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
BEBEXEZ((HREXEE]

2020-21 2019-20 Unit %
2020-215FE  2019-205F BAL %
Air Emissions BER K
NOx AREty 1,979 920 g% 91.2%
SOx mam 46 36 g5 2.1%
PM BOF TR 146 68 g% 6.7%
Total A 2,171 1,024 g% 100.0%
Greenhouse Gas Emissions BZE R EH K
Scope 1 (Direct emissions)’ HE— (EEHER Tonnes CO.e
NI
8.35 6.6 —AfltKEE 8.6%
Scope 2 (Indirect emissions)' &1 & = (EE B! Tonnes CO.e
N
82.48 48.4 Z—HEitxE=E 85.0%
Scope 3 (Other indirect gE= Tonnes CO.e
emissions)? (E At R HERR )2 N
6.21 30.7 —HEitmES 6.4%
Total A5r Tonnes CO.e
N
97.04 94.7 ZE tIEE=E 100.0%
Intensity g Tonnes CO.e/
revenue in
million
N
—EIEREES
0.20 0.148 ER-L& -
Notes: iz

BEHRAIBERRIFETGNERERFARTE
MO CRERBEECE-—LESAMBERE (BF]
fR) ) BETEEEMRE N EEEA SRR XY
R E2EZEB R AR EEARERERENEE LG
BE N BB RRNFETHELE -

U In accordance with The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate

Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition) published
by World Business Council for Sustainable Development and
World Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions are resulted
from operations that are owned or controlled by the Group, while
Scope 2 indirect emissions are resulted from the generation of
purchased or acquired electricity, heating, cooling and steam
consumed within the Group.

2 Scope 3 emissions included paper waste disposal. 2 HESH M BIEEERAREE -

+
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Energy Consumption
Purchased electricity
Unleaded petrol®

Total

Intensity

ﬁ‘éil?/éjﬁ
SNEE
fﬂ /‘L/EES

AN
(=)

+

ok

E
it

Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)

REAMER ((BREMER])

2020-21 2019-20 Unit %
2020-215F E 2019-20%F € B %
102,010 87,696 kWh T E B 78.1%
28,590 N/A i B kWh F E B 21.9%
130,600 87,696 kWh T EL B 100.0%

kWh/revenue

in million

TRE,/
271.35 137.5 BEWlE =

Note: The environmental KPI data only covers the offices of the Group  ffiz - REHBREXIEEHEELRASEBREPRELE S

in the PRC and Hong Kong. Due to optimization of data collection E’]#)ﬁ# AE-HRBEHABBERESTANENL RE
method during the Reporting Period, the data of both years ENSBEEIERELR -RMSRA—E2ENK
cannot be directly compared. We would adopt a comprehensive TJ%HSZ%%%EE%*%%M%E’U—&’HF’

data collection system to ensure the consistency of data of

upcoming years.

In order to minimize our emissions and optimize the use of /& T EERM AP HBRME(LEROER RMSEET

&

energy, we encourage our employees to use video conferencing ﬁﬁﬁ RiEeREEI - RMEREEALED & I
and training. We would prefer the use of LED lights, and set the  Z= 38 #))& [ 5% E £24-26/Z B 1LE A - ﬁZTF"UTzz
temperature of air conditioning at 24-26 degrees to optimize KB LEBEFHKBBEIME T L ERRFE AL E LR
use of electricity. We also require employees to turn off all

unnecessary devices while leaving to save energy.

Note:

Hat -

8 Due to optimization of data collection system during the Reporting 8 AR EREHRABLELTHEBRUERSR AEBEAHKE
Period, the Group is able to disclose energy consumption of 2020-20214F € & i /R B BE IR B 7% ©
unleaded petrol in year 2020-21.
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Waste Emissions

The operations of our business would mainly generate other
general refuse. Due to business nature, the Group is not aware
of material generation of hazardous waste and is not involved
in the use of packaging material for finished goods. Due to
optimization of data collection system, the Group began to
record the waste generation data during the Reporting Period
in order to better monitor our waste emissions and look for
appropriate measures to reduce waste at source. Below
outlines the waste emission data during the Reporting Period:

NANCE REPORT

8% 2 W) BF R
BPANEBEFIEGELHM—REF - ARNES
ME AEEYTENTERBEYVNERNEL TP
REKmBERMBNER - aRBBKRERRHEL
AEBRREDHEMGCHRBERDEENEIE  UE
FHMERNBERMER YSHEENEGE  HIRE
bR ARERERY - ATIIRREMEEZYERBED
ME :

2020-214 2019-20 Unit %
2020-21FE* 2019-20F & BAL %
Other general refuse Hfth — Mg B 3 1.14 N/A 7T i Tonnes I 100%
Total &t 1.14 N/A 7 iE B Tonnes I§ 100.0%
Intensity wE Kg/revenue
in million
F5m/
2.37 N/A 3 BERE -
Use of Water J:: S

The Group consumes a certain amount of domestic water
for daily usage. Such water is supplied by local water supply
companies. The Group did not encounter any problem during
water sourcing. Since water supply of our offices is controlled
by property management and they are unable to provide water
consumption data to individual tenants, the water consumption
data of the Group is not applicable. However, regarding water
supply being scarce, we would advocate the idea of water
saving in the Group.

Note:

& The Group optimizes its data collection method in the Reporting
Period to include relevant waste emission data.

AEBER-—EENEERKEREER - ELKRE
B & K 2 R B M o AN &R B AR SR EUE A KR £ &
BREEMEE - ARRFAMLRENHKZADMEEE
RAEH BRFEEAENEFIREBKESRE
Rt AERENAKESEBEL NER - AW B RKR
ZE BMBEASEANESEEHKNER-

T

4 AEERGERMECEBRBRETESZANEEEY
BEDREUR ©

+

sesman 20215585 87



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R #E8RkER/ME

Green Fitting-out Services

RERERE

Due to our business nature, the Group does not identify MR ESEL  KEBEW EHPILHIREM B R
material impact we have imposed on the environment and EBEHMEAFZ-@E0t FA—EEETHLE
natural resources. Notwithstanding, as a responsible corporate AR HfimEEREERSN LR EMREFE
citizen, and we are highly aware of the pollution and other ERAERHSEENHBEREMNREREZHESKF
environmental impact of our fitting-out services, aiming at #-Eit  HMHE T 2EANERNEZ 25 LLER
striking a balance between providing high quality fitting-out EIBZESE T FRZR5RY RS MEEWHNHER -
services and protecting the environment. As such, we have  F{FIERERA &7 £ 45

formulated a comprehensive health and safety plan to monitor

the handling the emission of air pollutants, noise and waste at

the construction site. Measures we have adopted include:

r

b P
i

Noise

o0
ot

Waste
EEEY)

Dusty materials, including excavated materials, building debris and construction
materials should be properly covered by tarpaulin or other approved means
MM BEZEME - BEEHMBEME  EBAV KM KM ENT
All combustion engines shall be frequently maintained to prevent exhaust
generated air pollution

FTERMELEE®#E U ILEREEERSE

Safety labels showing the need for wearing dust respirators should be posted
on the workplace

EETESARAEARTEEMBNEOENL 2RH

Noise survey shall be carried out when sound pressure level exceeds 85 dB(A)
ERSHBSHER  BETRSAZ

Subcontractors are required to select low noise equipment
BRRAHGBEBERBESTR

Sound barrier will be built around the project site to reduce the noise impact
EEERZABRRVERE AR BRIEZE

Plan the location, method, transportation route and provide necessary facilities
for temporary storage of waste

REFEVHRRERFNME  FX EREKRTRERESENRE

Assign workers and provide necessary equipment for the collection and
transportation of waste to the temporary storage area

BRI AN 4R 4t 04 Z8) R 6 - AU SR A0 B Sa R 1) B B s 1 77 (=

Responsible person will be assigned for overseeing and monitoring site
cleanliness and environmental hygiene
BEREBEAEEMENRSNBERNMREFAERER
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To ensure the above measures have been put in place in a
proper and effective manner, we would conduct environmental
inspection with a site environmental inspection checklist.
Inspection criteria include waste, water, noise, air, energy
conservation and use of chemical, such as whether
construction waste is collected properly, storage and labelling
of chemical wastes, discharge of wastewater, minimizing
noisy operation during restricted periods, dust control during
drilling or demolition works, enclosures around the main dust-
generating activities, switching off of tools and equipment
etc. in order to minimize environmental impact our fitting-out
services have imposed.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group believes that being a socially responsible enterprise
in the industry and a listed company, we ought to take up
corporate social responsibility to give back to the community
where our business operates, striving to bring positive influence
to our community to build a better society for our next
generations. Therefore, the Group invests stable and adequate
resources in community activities each year, and advocates our
employees to give their hand to the needy.

Support Yan Chai Hospital

The Group participated in two campaigns organized by Yan
Chai Hospital, namely “Yan Chai Mid-Autumn Festival Fortune
Bag Campaign (1= A M & [E %8 51 2l) 2020” and “Yan Chai
Charity Poon Choi Feast ({ZBZZ&3) " to raise fund for
their charity work. In the Mid-Autumn Festival campaign, we
sponsored the hospital to prepare fortune bags which were
packed with disposable face masks, mooncakes and Yan Chai’s
health soup packages. These fortune bags were distributed
to the elderly in different districts, low-income families from
Child Development Fund and other service units as well as
those on the list of the Yan Chai Emergency Assistance Relief
Fund, in hope of sharing care and bringing warmth during this
festive season. As for the Yan Chai Charity Poon Choi Feast,
we donated HKD50,000 to Yan Chai in support of production
of Chinese traditional Poon Choi for purchase during the winter
solstice in order to raise fund for Yan Chai Various Services
Fund.

BERENEBRERAEICEEERM  RMe A Tt
RREREFEETRERE - REZEDFEEEY
KER ”9&5 RE FEMCERNER NEERE
BYRERINZERE LEBREMNRTNIRE-
1?7}<E@?3F551 ERFIBEEER DB FIRIE - BHFEK
FHRIBRPORESES T EEERENIHABRR
EEH- E%Eﬁlélﬁu
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AEBEE ERTERAHLEEENEERETR
A BMEZAECEMEEE HDERMEKEY
FREMER SHAEMANHCESKESREE A5
BN T-—REY-EEHOtE -Hit AEEE
FREBRETHPRAREMAECNER  LIEEHM
METREFENALMBET -

X ELCEER
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Donate Computers to Caritas Computer Workshop
During the Reporting Period, the Group donated 7 computers
and 1 LCD monitor which were idle to Caritas Computer
Workshop. After refurbishment, these computers and monitor
will be sold to low-income people or other underprivileged in an
affordable price, thus promoting social inclusion and reducing
burden on the environment through reusing and recycling.

Participate in the Community Chest’s Dress
Casual Day

Same as previous year, the Group also participated in “Dress
Casual Day” during the Reporting Period to raise fund for The
Community Chest.

H%ﬁ*%l%h%%
REBEEHE AKRERNREEKRTHERERENTAE
BRiIa RGBT KR WEEREBTREHE

AABENERBEETFTERAANLTHEMIZEZAL
femieEr e M WEBEENA & EYOR D HR
EWaE-

Support Earth Hour

During the year, we also joined “Earth Hour” which was initiated
by World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) Hong Kong every
year by turning off the lights for 1 hour to raise employees’
awareness in environmental protection and help reducing
energy consumption.
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R #E8RkER/ME

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and

RE HEakEh

HEEEI R

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER - EH —REERBREEEE BRXERE] =4} Y
A. Environmental
A RE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBEA1:HEBRY

General Disclosure

— PR 5R

Information on: Environmental P. 83

(@) the policies; and Protection

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste

ERBERIBEERBENR MAKRIHMNES BEEREZTEEYNEELESY: BRRRE %838

(a) BX: &

o) EFHBITATEAZENHEBZEZELANNER

KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data Energy, Air and P. 85
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

BREZIERAT B ER KEBEEREUE R EREAERE 858
HER

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity Energy, Air and P. 85
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

BREMIERAI2 AERBEENRERTR R ERMAERE %858
e

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity The Group does not N/A
generate material
hazardous waste

MBREMIEERAMS MELEEERENHEERTE REBEVEELEEAN 58 A
BEERY

KPI' A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity Waste Emissions p. 87

BREVIERAIL TELABRZTEENEERTE JE& 22 W) Bk IR F87TH

KPI'A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results  Environmental P. 83

achieved Protection
R ERIERA1L HIURE M E M EERAERR RIBRE %838
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes Waste Emissions p. 87
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
FREUIERAIG HIRBEEERBESEEVN T REELENEBR BEEVHENR F87H

P15 R R

+
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RE HERERBHRSE

Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER -EH —REEREREEEE BRXERE] =41} B
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : ERER
General Disclosure
—RIRE
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw Environmental P. 83
materials Protection
Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in
buildings, electronic equipment, etc.
ERERER (BEER KEREMEME) OBUR RIBRE %83H
BRI BAREE REF ER BT EFRESF
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total Energy, Air and P. 85
and intensity Greenhouse Gas
Emissions
BREBIEIZEA2 RERESNEER KEEEREEERTE R ERMAERE %858
HER
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Use of Water p. 87
MRERIEIZA22 BRKERTE 225/ F87TH
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results  Energy, Air and P. 85
achieved Greenhouse Gas
Emissions
FREMIERA2.3 HMEERERBUGTEEMERR IR ERMAERE %858
HER
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Use of Water p. 87
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved
FRAEBIEIRA2.4 HASKEUER/KR LA BEMEE U RREARKSERT AKX F87TH
2 R PATIFRR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and The operation of the N/A
with reference to per unit produced Group is not involved
in any packaging
material.
MREMIIEZRA2S EXmMAREMHNEERBEEEUGE REEREEN /Y @ B
KAE B R MK
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R #E8RkER/ME

Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER -EH —REEREREEEE BRXERE] =41} B
Aspect A3: Environmental and Natural Resources
BHEA3 RERXAER
General Disclosure
—RIRE
Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and Green Fitting-out P. 88
natural resources Services
BWEZBTAHRRERRAAERERKBERZENIE FefERY% %888
KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Green Fitting-out P. 88
environment and natural resources and the actions taken  Services
to manage them
FREMIERAS HAEBIHERERRABERNEAZEREENERE KERERK 88H
AT ENITH
B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labor Practices
EERSEITEN
Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1:EE
General Disclosure
— R FE
Information on: People-centric p. 72
(@) the policies; and Workplace
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare
ERFHMREE BEREA THERE -RE FTEHRE 2ot REKUKE RABKRNIIESH F72H
H 58 REHE
(a) BE: Kk
(o) BEFTHBTAFEATENEBEZERLANNER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group Employee Overview p. 72
and geographical region
BREMIEREBI BMUR - EBREER  FiER bR E 95 HE S B EEME F728H
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employee Overview p. 72
geographical region
BREMIEREB1.2 BMR FiERI RibEE S NEEREL X EEME FT72H

+
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R #E8RkER/ME

Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number

TEER -EH —REEREREEEE BRXERE] =41} Y

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB2 REHEZZ2

General Disclosure

— AR 5R

Information on: Occupational Health P. 75

(@) the policies; and and Safety

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards

FAREZ2TIHEREIREEEREBELESTHN: BEREREZS F758

(@ HE: K

(b) BTUHBTABEAZENHEBEZRRNNEH

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Occupational Health P. 75

and Safety
FREREEB21 BIEEEMETHAB R R BERRET D E758
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury Occupational Health P. 75
and Safety

FRERIEIEB2.2 AIGEATIERE BXREmETS E758H

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Occupational Health P. 75
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored and Safety

BRENIERB2.3 HMMRANBREREL2EN ULKEBRTRESRE BERRHEZR E758
7%

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EHEB3 : &R R IEI

General Disclosure

— PR 5R

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties  Talent Development P. 80

at work. Description of training activities

BRRAEERIT TEBE N MB LR ABR - il FIES AT ER %808

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Talent Development P. 80
employee category

MREMEEB3 RUFIREEEFNZESHNZIEER DL AT BE #8808

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Talent Development P. 80
gender and employee category

BRENIEEB3.2 BMURIREERFE S BREETAXIN TR AT ER 6808
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number

TEER -EH —REEREREEEE BRXERE] =41} Y

Aspect B4: Labor Standards

EEB4 : & ITEE

General Disclosure

— AR 5R

Information on: Labor Standards p. 82

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour

FEMIEETRESZEIH: BIRE #8828

(a HE: K

b)) BIFHBTABEAXZENHEBEZRAONER

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices Labor Standards P. 82
to avoid child and forced labour

BREMIEEB4 R BEEANERAREET REHST BIRE 828

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Not disclosed this N/A
when discovered year

FRENIEIEBL2 HAEZERERBARERA BB RERN R REEETWEEA 58 A

B

Operating Practices

EEEG

Aspect B5 : Supply Chain Management

[EmEBs : HEEERE

General Disclosure

— AR 5R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain Excellent Partnership P. 68

ERHEENIRE T ERREE BEAERH %688

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region Excellent Partnership P. 68

FRAEMIEIEBS.1 RinEE D R E R E A BESIERH %688

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Excellent Partnership P. 68
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored

RSB NIEIEBS.2 W ABMERHEERNEN mERNTERENNHES BBESERH %688

ZE -ARAREMNNRTRERSA

+
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R #E8RkER/ME

Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER -EH —REEREREEEE BRXERE] =41} Y
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmERE
General Disclosure
— AR 5R
Information on: Operational P. 68
(@) the policies; and Excellence
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress
EAMRHEMNBRENRERELZSY B RERLEBEEEUARBRS BHEE 688
EH
(a) BXR: &
o) EFHBITATEAZENHEBEZELANNER
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Not applicable to the N/A
recalls for safety and health reasons Group
FRENIEEB61 EEXCELEmBHTELR2BREEAMALNKNE HAKETER 58 A
pase
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints There were no N/A
received and how they are dealt with complaints received
during the Reporting
Period
FRENIEIRB6.2 HEMNEMMRGHRFEE AREEH T X RS BRI & UE A58 A
EA&REF
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Not applicable to the N/A
protecting intellectual property rights Group
FASAENIEIEB6.3 Mg E RIRIEMNBEES HAHED HAEETEA 58 A
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Quality Services P. 69
procedures
B EMIEIRB6.4 1l E 8 E @2 & E @ WAR Fr BE RS F69H
KPI B6.5 Description of customer data protection and privacy Not applicable to the N/A
policies, how they are implemented and monitored Group
FRENIEIEB6.S HMEBEEMRERLBEE UREERNTRERS HAKETEA i@ A

A
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and

key performance indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number

TEER -EH —REEREREEEE BRXERE] =41} Y

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

EBEB7 : RESS

General Disclosure

— AR 5R

Information on: Upholding Business P. 82

(@) the policies; and Ethics and Integrity

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

BRI LA R BEFREEEN: B REERAE $82H

(a HE: K

b)) BIFHBTABEAXZENHEBEZRAONER

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Upholding Business p. 82
practices brought against the issuer or its employees Ethics and Integrity
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases

FREMIEEBT1 RBEHAHBETAXEEERETEELANETHAR BSHEHEEREAE $828H
HEOE B RFALE

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Upholding Business p. 82
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored Ethics and Integrity

BRERIERB7.2 s R B RER A RBERTRERTE B REERAE 828

Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

BEB8:#EBIRE

General Disclosure

— PR 5R

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Community P. 89

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into Investment

consideration the communities’ interests

FRANHE2ERTREEMEHEFTENRREAERIDEERLENRN HERE 898

B R

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution Not applicable N/A

FAREWIEIEBS.1 EXEREE i A N iE A

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area Not applicable N/A

MREMIEEBS2 EHETHBEMBAEIR i A i A

+
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % AR E

=
pwec

To the Shareholders of Sanbase Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sanbase Corporation
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 110 to 195, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2021;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting polices.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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B % B S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

° Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

° Recognition of contract revenue

° Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade and
retention receivables

ERNER

BMEREFESAMAGRMHEN (FEERZER)
(T KERERER) DETEZ - BAEXZSELT
AEMNBEECEARE [RBMAEREAPHERE
AEEMRME] B R EE— -

BAAGE RMAMESHNERBRERRENEE LA
BN EZ T RREER-

Byt

REZELEAMASGRMHN (BXGHEABRTAD
(ATEEIFA) BMABLIY EXE YCET
SRIFHEMEREER T

BAREFLEE
BRECEFAEREBERMANIXHE RSHNAH
MEAVBERRNECRAEENEH - EFLEHRE
ERMNECERGAVBBRREAB AR RHETRE
MR reHEEETHREREFNER

ERMERTRENEREZTHALENT

AABRENEREEDN

AR{EHBAES

7
BERA

s AHEBENRESRRESEERRENG
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Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

BARBEHEBESBS ABENESREENMGE

Refer to notes 2.9, 4.1(i) and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FRAMGAMBHRRMF2.9 B sE4.1() BRHE17 o

The Group has an investment in an unlisted private fund
with an underlying residential project (the “Project”) located
in Cambodia (the “Cambodia Fund”). The Group accounted
for this investment as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss and it was classified under Level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy.
EEEREN—EARAUNRBENEEEETEE ([HE])
MAEREES ((REERES]) BESENRARER
ERHEEHFABRNSREEAR ZREFAALRARE
BEERE=EHK-

The Project accounted for substantially all of the Cambodia
Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value. Accordingly,
the Cambodia Fund was stated at fair value with reference
to its net asset value of approximately HKD13.2 million,
representing 5.0% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 March 2021.
BHEERERERFEENRABOUARABEAR &
F20215F3A31H RFEEERIBERLZHEEFEND
ABENIS2EBET h EXEEEES% -

We focused on this area because the Cambodia Fund was
valued based on a model with input/assumptions that are
not observable by third parties. The valuation involved
significant judgement and subjective assumptions.
BMEFLEE TEARRERESNHBERERE=ZAFT
AERMERNGA BR - ZREEESIRERHHTRE
B&eo
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

Qur audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
included:

BB EEREAAEAEEEEZHF A ESNEREE

WEENEZEFEE:

e  Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the fair value estimation;

s BBEEEMHTIEEUEMNBEMEMEIIDR
BERFTHEARR FhTERERNERRR -

° Interviewed the Cambodia Fund’s administrator in
relation to the status of the Project to corroborate
with management’s representation;

e FRTRHEZESHWITHEERFHAIEBERNEENUFE
EEEEMNEHR-

e Circulated confirmation to the Cambodia Fund’s
administrator for the Group’s ownership and
the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund as
at 31 December 2020 and cross checked the
relevant information with the Cambodia Fund’s
audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020;

e MRBEEESWITHERBITTHR UER 5%
EAE2021F3A3THMMARRRIBRECHEEF
B UERNMREEESEDEREHE2021F3A318 1k
FENMBREETIXZE -

° Reviewed procedures performed by management
to assess the appropriateness of adopting the net
asset value of the Cambodia Fund as a basis in
determining its fair value;

e EMEEEEMTNREFUTHEURBREESHEE
FEAEEBREAAENEEIE -
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Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

e  Obtained valuation report of the Project held by
the Cambodia Fund as at 31 December 2020
performed by an independent third party valuer and
evaluated the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the valuation methodology and key assumptions
adopted, with the assistance of internal valuation
experts; and

e HMEH—EBYUNE=ZFHEBENARBEESHE
# I8 B M2020F 12 A31A M EERE RIT A HE
ERXRNHGE THEMEFZRERRENSELER

Bt

° Performed independent online research on key
assumptions adopted in the aforementioned
valuation including market information of Cambodia
properties’ market from 31 December 2020 up to
31 March 2021 to corroborate with management’s
assessment that there was no significant changes in
key assumptions during the period.

e ETHARNERGEMKANBEREBRNBELH LW
7t B 1EH2020F 12 A31 B £2021F3A31 H RIHE
BYMEMSEANETEEEEANRBAREBRLAE
BRE BT

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the valuation of
the Cambodia Fund were supportable by the evidence
obtained and procedures performed.

ERbi RMRREEREERBREECHETERNH
HABEREINTEERNERNBITO R T

+
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Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

Recognition of contract revenue
BREHBA

Refer to notes 2.19 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BLHEERE M BRERMFT2A9RMFES -

The Group recorded contract revenue from the services of
bare shell fit-out, restacking and reinstatement for the year
ended 31 March 2021 of approximately HKD461.9 million.
HE202163A31BILFE: BEEEEEXRREE EER
BRBBHFEHOWALG10BEET -

Revenue from contracts for the above services is recognised
over the period of the contract by measuring the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
on the basis of the actual costs incurred by the Group up to
the year-end date as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each contract.

FBRBEEHRARGOHENERE ESEREFAERD
EEZERRAEZSEOGMFTENANBOLAEBHNERE
iR T 2 EE -

We focused on this area as significant management’s
judgement is involved to estimate the costs to complete
individual service contract for projects in progress. The
estimated costs to completion is used to determine the
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation of an individual service contract and to recognise
relevant contract revenue accordingly.

BRI RE ARG X ERETHRESLIER
B AR H N B KB IR JE T o 1 5t ST AR B R AR B 7 E 18 A1 AR
BaHWBROEETK 2 ERE L REMEREBES QWA -

102 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANINUAL REPORT 2021

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
recognition of contract revenue included:

RMRAREEE

RENWANEZIEF B

Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the costs to complete estimation;

B E B AL A M E MR E M ST A BT A AR BT S
EOEMESRBEZAKT FETERERNE
ARk

Selected the ongoing contracts on a sample basis
and reviewed the terms and conditions of the
contracts to understand the respective work nature
and contractual relationship with the customers;
EHEREEEETFEETHNSALERS MR
M UTHETEHERETPHESHBEIE:

Checked the correspondences with selected
customers, including project acceptance documents
or communication evidence to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimates on the
progress towards completion of a project;
REEETEFNBEG BEBEEEAXHIRER
B U EREEHEE X ERMTNAEN:

Assessed management’s determination of the
progress toward complete satisfaction of the
projects through inquiry with project managers,
inspection of project status summary and other
correspondences with customers and performing
site visits;

BARERLEESH REBEERAREZEFETH
fBEWETRSEER U EEIREYIER THE
EBVRE

Reviewed the latest project budgets and quotations
from subcontractors in assessing management’s
determination of estimated total costs of projects;
EHZTEERERREAHABNRE  UAFEERE
I8 B AR ARDRE
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
ERELREE BMNERNNEERREREE

e Tested the total costs incurred up to the date of
statement of financial position by checking, on
a sample basis, subcontractors’ invoices and/or
quotations; and

s HMBEERBEBRENAHENHEENR RIRE B
HEMBRARBHEENAXAETAR &

e Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
contract revenue and costs.

o ARAOWARKAFTENEREN -

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions used to estimate total
costs of projects and progress towards complete
satisfaction as at year end date were supportable by the
evidence obtained and procedures performed.

ER EiER BARREREBHMAEIEB B A KR
FHRATKEENBAMERNAG RRREEZERER
EETHEFXFE-

+
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Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

BRNEEUARESZRRESERRNBER G

Refer to notes 2.9(iv), 3.1(ii)(c), 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BE2MEA T RE W 5E2.9(v) ~ BFRES.1(ii)(c) ~ Bt 5E19 K2 Fft
320 -

The Group had gross contract assets of approximately
HKD50.5 million and gross trade and retention receivables
of approximately HKD64.1 million as at 31 March 2021.
R202163A31H BEEENSGHNEERBAOR/S0588
BTUARES RRECEBFEBELNRCLIBEBE T

The loss allowances for these financial assets were
determined based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. To measure expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention receivables had
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets related to
unbilled work in progress had substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade and retention receivables for
the same types of contracts.
ZETREENBERENIEBEERENRER REHEE
EBRRET-RIAEEHAEEEE GRNEEUREBESIR
REERARERBEHRACEERREB LB RS AE-
ERNEESPRRARCREIR SAREREGAONEI R
RE & BWFREERBHER YRR -

The expected loss rates were based on the payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced over a period of 24 months before 31
March 2021.
FEHREEERTDEREE MR N K2021F3A31H Al 224
BRNEENEERAEEEEE-
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables included:

BT BHEEHNEENRE S RRE S E YR ET G
NEZEZFBIE:

e Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the loss allowance estimation such as subjectivity;

e HRBAEERMFMNIAHTUBEEMBREBMET PR
B E b BB E b = ey K I E B P ERE
REE A R

e Understood the key controls over management’s
assessment of expected credit loss for contract
assets and trade and retention receivables including
the evaluations of customers’ credit profiles and
their respective credit risk;

e THEBEMRILSNEEANREILRESENR
RZEHCEEBR(BEETEEFNGEEER IR
SHEE M) &R 5T &

e Tested, on a sample basis, the historical payment
profile of customers;

s HHMEEEAATFNBEENRLE:

° Performed market research to obtain industry
data and challenged management with supporting
evidence to assess reasonableness of forward-
looking information used by management in
determining the adjusted loss rates; and

o EITMBSHATABBITREBURAEKEIRRE  EMmaT
HERERETKARBEXRMANBHEENZ
aEM: R



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B S

Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

The historical loss rates were adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the contract
assets and trade and retention receivables.
BEEBRETURBUARBMEERFEEANEENURES
RREERUBKRENNEEZBLBERZNE A RATELEE
e

Management then estimated the loss allowances of contract
assets and trade and retention receivables based on the
adjusted loss rates, the outstanding balances of contract
assets and ageing profiles of trade and retention receivables
as at 31 March 2021.
EEEEMBEN2021F3A3IBNANEEKLAREBER
RREBEERRE D MRE S ERROEREKIBGOEE
NRE G RRE BB BEEEETMEET -

We focused on the expected credit loss allowance for
contract assets and trade and retention receivables due to
the magnitude of their gross balance at the year end date
and the estimation of relevant expected credit loss involves
significant judgement and subjective assumptions.
HRENEENRE D RRE S EBURIEF A B NEREER
BHNBEERREEERNAA I RERHE M EHRRE
MEEBETEEREEEIEEH-

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

e Checked, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade and retention receivables as at 31 March
2021 to the underlying financial records.

o IEHMEEERBN2021F3A3IB AV BLEAR
B 5 MRE S BUREREIE R

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables were supportable by the evidence obtained
and procedures performed.

EREMER ZMRRERBHGNEEUARE S RIR
B EW R RENGERERABNRREBEIRERE
EITHRF I

+
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % AR E

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

BRBMRERREVBERRAENER

BANBER DHSRAMBREABBES A FEAR
HRF SR MEBRNEAERBARFTABRE I
HEABRRRMERNZEEHRSE - HMAER BT (1
RERB)RERMNER BRI ZIIARFERIELME
MR TR ARENABTRAEMEMBALE £k
AEEANEE-GERILTSKFHRE ETER
ERBCEBERZER) ETTNER EX - BKRHE
AR R 77 2 B 4B B ZE 3R - A SRER L AT A | KRR S BB AR
SIE-MRAEBHEMEBIERBEKRAETZER
BB RER AL A KRR AR B B 15 R P AR A AR R
E - A BERRMERRA A REFEEN-

EREBE(EAEERER) ETERNBRET  RE
RTHEEHE RETEREREE - LI

o BRI EBENHFRERM GBS S VB R
REEERERRAORR Rt RRITERE
FFARY G LR AR R MEENEZ

EREMERMER - AR MEFAI 85 K
BwomE FRER ERRAL - FEERAE
2z £ B REEHRAMRFMBERNEKNH
R EBR SN AREERRENBRMEZNE
R B8 FR BRI B f B2

s  THEFZMBONIMES URTEENEZ
2 EEMIAI Y SREREHNERE
FRER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % B S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021

BRBMRERREMBERRAENER

(#&)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEamkHEME2HEHKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

B E20214F3A31H 1L FE

Revenue LN

Cost of sales 5 & AR

Gross profit EF

Other income H b g A

Administrative expenses THAX

Fair value changes of financial asset BAREFAERZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREENAAEE

Reversal of/(provision for) impairment THMEEREBIELZ
losses on financial assets ‘e, (BE)

Operating (loss)/profit re (FE), mA

Finance income A

Finance costs B 75 B AR

Finance (costs)/income — net B (A) WA — 55

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRBAT (B BR

Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiiEe, ()

Profit for the year FREF

Other comprehensive income/(loss), HM2mEmWK*E~ (&EH#E)

net of income tax HBRAEH
Item that may be subsequently Hig gt B 72
reclassified to profit or loss: Bami)EE
—Exchange differences arising —MEBINEGEEN
on translation of foreign operation & 5 ZEHE
Total comprehensive income FREEWFLE

for the year
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Note
iok3

17

3.1(ii) (c)

10

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT

481,286 638,030
(455,439) (572,962)
25,847 65,068

3,725 =
(37,551) (32,721)
6,083 (737)
1,058 (3,591)

(838) 28,019

108 410
(223) (367)
_____________ (1) 48
(953) 28,062
1,393 (6,321)

440 21,741
552 (140)

992 21,601




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEakHEME2HKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

B Z202143H31 5 IF F/F

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company
Basic and diluted

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

Note
iok3

FEAG S R
ARAEEA
FEIE AR 25

BiEFAZEBRSEAE:

ARBEBA
IR R R

KATEE AEM,
SREF
HEANEE 11

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

Mab ko y=gick

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
397 16,224
43 5,517
440 21,741
810 16,133
182 5,468
992 21,601
HK Cents HK Cents
B JEM
0.20 8.20
2 TH UK =5 E B BE M B R — GBI E o
megman co1eEss 111



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

;A AR R R
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021
R20214F3H31H

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Deposits and prepayments
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Trade and retention receivables
Contract assets
Deposits, other receivables and
prepayments
Income tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company
Share capital
Shares held under share award scheme

Share premium
Exchange reserve
Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

BE
FRBEE

MR S RRE
EREEE
BVEE
BAREFABRGEZ

TREE

wE RIEMK
BRIEFSHREE

REBEE
B 5 KR B & UK
BHEE
BE - Hi R R
AR
REEIEY S
RekReEEY

R
AREEEAEGEESR

LN

Betn B2 B ET 80T P
B

B dn ot (8

BEE 3% e 18

R & ¥

iz

HER
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Note
iok3

13
14
15
17

21
25

20

21

23(a)

23(b)

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FAETT
1,910 2,194
5,240 4,861
11,965 9,719
13,200 7,094
607 2,595

926 294
33,848 26,757
59,536 75,556
50,116 136,959
7,274 11,265
2,147 =
112,488 120,321
_________ 231,561 344,101
265,409 370,858
1,553 1,553
(2,998) (2,998)
57,632 57,632
269 (144)
86,028 85,748
142,484 141,791
6,721 10,414
149,205 152,205



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e

AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

R20214F3H31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Jioka FET FAETT
LIABILITIES =i
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Deferred tax liabilities FEREFTSHEE 25 - 29
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 2,451 2,745
____________ 2451 2774
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables =) ANEN 24 102,215 201,835
Accruals and other payables FE BT R H & 5 3K 24 2,262 3,046
Contract liabilities AHEaE 20 6,246 5,656
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 3,030 2,249
Current income tax liabilities BNERFT S fi B & - 3,093
_________ 113,753 215879
Total liabilities waE 116,204 218,653
Total equity and liabilities HWERREE 265,409 370,858

The above consolidated statement of financial position should — F#li4R& B FEAR SR 3R FE BABE BT BT s — OFRI & -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 195 HF1102EF15ENGA P B RRC EE £ 2 102021
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of F6A25B#ENEBRETIENENTEERERE:
Directors on 25 June 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sai Chuen Wong Kin Kei
T ittt EREE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITESE HITESE

+
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CONSQI:I/DATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREREREHER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
B Z202143H31 8 1F F/F

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAEEAEHR
Shares
held under
share award Non-
Share Share scheme Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium (Note 28) reserve earnings Subtotal interests  Total equity
RAEBE
THERH
% R 17 %E (Ht=28) EHGE REEA M FERER BER
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4A1H 1,553 63,832 (2,998) (53) 69,524 131,858 4,946 136,804
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 16,224 16,224 5517 21,741
Other comprehensive loss EREtEEHE:
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on BEBIINEBELN
translation of foreign operation EXZE - = - (91) - (91) (49) (140)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FR2ME (KE) /
for the year W3 5 - - - ©1) 16,204 16,133 5,468 21,601
Final dividend paid BRKERE - 6,200) - - - (6,200) - 6,200)
At 31 March 2020 #202043 /318 1,553 57,632 (2,998) (144) 85,748 141,791 10,414 152,205
At 1 April 2020 R2020F4A1H 1,553 57,632 (2,998) (144) 85,748 141,791 10,414 152,205
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 397 397 43 440
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKRS:
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on BEBINEBELN
translation of foreign operation ERESE - - - 413 - 413 139 552
Total comprehensive income FR2EKR
for the year “E - - - 413 397 810 182 992
Dividend paid to non-controlling B TSRS
interests (“NCI") EmZRE - - - - - - (3,992) (3,992)
Changes in ownership interests BEERE
Acquisition of NGl in a subsidiary g Sl Ll =ING
(Note 30) FirRES
(Bt 7E30) - - - - (117) (117) 117 -
At 31 March 2021 R2021%E3A31H 1,553 57,632 (2,998) 269 86,028 142,484 6,721 149,205

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should il A S S B R ELEBEN M — O BIE -

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-.]_\ Iﬁ, ﬁ 1L E i%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
B Z202143H31 5 IF F/F

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash inflow from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment of consideration payable
for acquisition of a subsidiary
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary,
net of cash acquired
Payments for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash outflow from investing
activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Final dividend paid

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests
Interest paid

Principal elements of lease payments
Repayment of bank borrowing

Net cash outflow from financing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Effects of exchange rate changes
on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 March

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read

REZHHTRE
HEEEZESE
B HF B
SR AEH

RETH2FRERA

RETBHZRERE
X W B — PRI BT B
FEfTHRAB
ST KEBEHE AR
MEmBEFRe
XBEYE #HEN
B

j&ﬁ/ﬁﬁzgiﬁﬁum

MEEFBZ2HERE
ENREIERE

BT IR H s 2 Y
BB

S‘Zﬁfﬁfiﬁ R AN & FR

EERITEE

MEEBH2FRE
Pk

iﬁ%&ﬁ%%?’%
W) R
E?Tﬁ“—%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&
ReEEMIHE
R4B1BEBRER
ReEEY

N3A31EEER
REEEY

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

B
qu}

Note
i aF

33(a)

16

33(b)
33(b)

BHE

2021 2020
20214 2020
HKD’000 HKD’000
FETT FAET

5,039 48,111

108 410
(4,519) (6,437)
______________ 628 42,084
= (4,008)
(1,274) (1,275)
(214) (525)
___________ (1,488) (5808)
- (6,200)

(3,992) =
(223) (367)
(2,988) (2,443)
= (12,800)
___________ (7,203) (21,810
(8,063) 14,466
230 (154)

120,321 106,009
112,488 120,321

=]
25

L

]

N

Tt K e EL B P i — GBI B
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sanbase Corporation Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 24 March 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business is 16/F,
Loon Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong and
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The ultimate
holding company of the Company is Madison Square
International Investment Limited. The ultimate controlling
party of the Group is Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong” or
the “Controlling Shareholder”).

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange since 4 January
2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar thousands (“HKD’000”), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Board on 25 June
2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are for the Group consisting the
Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

(ii)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
ordinance (“HKCO”) Cap.622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for certain financial assets measured at
fair value.

TESTBREE

A ERERBEZEGEEVHBRREMRAD
EEHBRBE-BRAARAEIN ZFBK
RAEERFEER —HER MBBBRA/ALE

B (BMARARRENBRRAR) RE-

21 RBEE
() BIEBPBBEENR (DFTEH)

REEGEMBRRDRRAAER
FEMBHmEER ([BRMBREE
Bl A K %622F (A AHH) & iE
REERERE -

(i) EBEHRAE
AEEGZETHEHRERDIERE LKA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FTESTHRME w0

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(iii) Amended standards and conceptual
framework adopted by the Group

21 RREE (&)
(i) SERANETENMBEIMEER

The Group has applied the following amended
standards and conceptual framework for the
first time for their financial statements period

REB B IRE2020F4 818 F AR B
EMAHAREER T T &EETH %R
M S MIESR:

commencing 1 April 2020:

Definition of material ER ST ENBEIRNE BANTE
BE ST ER FE85

Amendments to
Hong Kong Accounting

Standards (‘HKAS”) 1 SCHES)
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business AN GRS ER EBHNER
E3% (BETX)
Amendments to HKAS 39,  Interest rate BREGIEREIR - FEREENE
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 benchmark reform BRI RE LD

T REBHBR

HEBEN (BEIR)
018F M BMEM M BITNMB
framework for G2 BERSM
financial reporting (S

Conceptual Framework for  Revised conceptual
Financial Reporting 2018

The amendments and conceptual framework
listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current
or future periods.

bt B ET AR S AR R 2 AT HA T
HRNBEREEMTE LREAD
SHEMIRRMRAELEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv)

New and amended standards not yet
adopted

The following new accounting standard and
amendments have been published but are not
mandatory for 31 March 2021 reporting period
and have not been early adopted by the Group.

FESTHERE (#)

21 RREE (&)
(iv) & R BR 40 B9 57 28 R A48 5T 22 Y

LWTHErERETAEBMG B
I FE 8 S B A R 2021F3 A31 A &
HAM BN AREAEBIRERN-

Amendments to HKFRS 16

EEMBRELERNE165 (BFTX)

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BBV BMEERNE179E (BETAR)

Amendments to Annual Improvements
Project

FEBEER (BFIAR)

Amendments to HKFRS 3,

HKAS 16 and HKAS 37
BEREMBRELERNEIN  BEEGE
AlE165% - REBEFHEREITHR

SCEHENY)
Amendments to HKAS 1

ERGFTERE1R (BETKR)
Amendments to HKFRS 10

Covid-19-related rent concessions

2019 AL EAN R B i A MR TE € 5 E

Insurance contracts

RE 4

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

BEMBmE LN FRENE

Narrow-scope amendments

NEREERT

Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current

BEIBERRB IR

Sales or contribution of assets between

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after

RUTBEHR2ERS

NEFEEHBEN
1 June 2020
202096 A1H
1 April 2021
2021F4H1H
1 April 2022

2022%F4H1H
1 April 2022

2022F 4 H1H

1 April 2023

2023%F4H1H

To be determined

and HKAS 28 an investor and its associate or joint
venture
EEMBRELNEI0F REEGH REFHHEHBEGEXSELEZMEN 7

R F285% (ERTA)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the adoption of the above new standard
and amendments to existing standards would
not have a material impact on the Group in
the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions. The Group
intends to adopt the above new standard and
amendments to existing standards when they
become effective.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

B %5 ¥R AR B R

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted
to conform with the Group’s policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing on the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statement
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
Directors that makes strategic decisions.

2. FESHHERE (#)

2.3

2.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is HKD and majority of
the subsidiaries of the Group operate in Hong
Kong and the PRC whereas their functional
currency are HKD and Renminbi respectively.
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HKD, which is the Company’s and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. For example, translation differences on
non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as
equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 25 IMNERE (&)
(iii) Group companies (iii) EEALQF

The results and financial position of all e EEHETEB TR 2 E£EB 250
the group entities (none of which has the ER(MERASRERSERBENE
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that M) EBRBBHRIZAT R R
have a functional currency different from the HEREEVEK:
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

2. FESHHERE (#)

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of () BUBHRAREREIZEENRSE
financial position presented are translated BENRMEAA W mEXRK®
at the closing rate at the reporting date; g

(b) income and expenses for each income b) FThmEkzWEERZIEES

PE =& E (FRIF L F I BEIL I
ZEXGHHREAEXRRFATE
ZEBOE AR KRR
BRXHBHZEXRBKRE) Rk

statements are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

() all resulting currency translation ) FERELMEANEERE=ZSE
differences are recognised in other REM2EWENER -
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign
entities on consolidation are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEEHHEME &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 26 ¥ HERRE

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and 2-5 years
equipment

Leasehold 4 years or over the lease term,
improvement whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill
is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
or the group of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)

2.8

(ii) Customer relationship and contracts
Customer relationship and contracts acquired
as part of a business combination are
capitalised at fair value separately from goodwill
at acquisition date and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of one to three years.

(iii) Money lending license

Money lending licence is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The cost of a money lending
license acquired is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The money lending license will not
be amortised until its useful life is determined
to be finite, but subject to impairment testing
annually.

(iv) Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets with a
limited useful life using the straight-line method
over 1 to 3 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use,
are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

2.

B %5 ¥R AR B RE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets

(i)

(ii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will be recorded in profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2. FESHHERE (#)

29 REREMEE

U]

(i)

/'\ﬁ
AEBZUTHE2EFNEESMEE
ETHE:

LR R AR EAEREZE BT
Hitzml @ BamemE
E‘E’&

>\p¢

°
N

BIRBHK AT ENEREE -

ANy

DERANERBEReRMEERRS
MEBANGINEBRA -

I
o> 33

N~

REARBEIFENEEMS  El=
FEERNEEREME2EREYIEER-

EJEI?F%VEETEE’J%\ I,E:?xéﬁﬁm .
BIBUAR AEEE SR X ERETT
A EEE R Tﬁ& BESEEERA
AEFEBEEEHHAEMEERES
(BRAAREFTEEHSEHFT AEME
mE]) -

AEBEREEZFEENEHRA

NERTEHEFRREETERIE-
BRRAILER

TREENFREENRZ A (XK
BARESEEERA)BR -EXER
BEWRDRERENENE I HAE
EE BAEBECKMAERNERE
DR K REE AR IEER SR

HEEERQF 2021FEHE

127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FEEHHERE (#)

2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining

29 RENSHMEE (&)
(i) =&
ViR ERR AEEZEREEZR
AEMN(HTEEREAABEFEAHE
i ABENEREE)NELHE
ELEERERIKAGFE-EAR
B2 BEEHFAEZNESREE
ZRGRAREBEANTE-

EETRATEIANSREENR
ERERTE/INAES KA B

whether their cash flows are solely payment of JELARBEEE & -
principal and interest.
Debt instruments EHEITA

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classified its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. For contract assets
and trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(ii)(c) for further
details.

130 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2. FEEHHERE (#)

29 RERTREE (&)

(iii)

(iv)

TE(E)
T A

AEEERUMAEESRERANE
AEMAKEEREDERENHM
2HBEF2IERRENDAEK
aRkBER AAEREMEBRRRZLL
ERZBRERTEENR T EEERSE-
BRERE &R E R A S BEUT A
MR R BB R TR -

BARBAEREZEFTARANS
MEEZAABEBHREABBANS
ERakE2EKERANEMEAR
Htp s FRP R - RAAEFA
Hit2mK ST ENRARERRE
BR(RBREBERRD) TEREMA
REZEFOFIIR-

wAE

A5 [ I A W M R T (B AR B K
AHENEE I AEBENEHEES
B-FERANMBENLAETEERR
ELARBEREME - RANEERE
SREWRFEmMS ALBEEABES
MERELENFOFEAF 2B
ZAFER TR ERAGEESRZERA
R EREWRRIERER E—PF
15 B M 5E3.1(i)(c) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTHEHE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

210 HEFE WM IT A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.11 Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade and retention receivables are amounts due
from customers for service performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade, retention
and other receivables is expected in the one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-currents.

Trade, retention and other receivables are
recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade, retention and
other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEEHHEME &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Contract assets and contract liabilities

212 EHNEERBNERE

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer.

The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net contract asset or a
net contract liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure of the remaining
conditional rights to consideration exceed the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the
contract is a liability and recognised as contract
liabilities if consideration received (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer exceeds the
measure of the remaining unsatisfied performance
obligations. In the consolidated statement of
financial position, the contract assets mainly consist
of unbilled work in progress and contract liabilities
mainly consist of receipt in advance from customers.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment
under the same approach adopted for impairment
assessment of trade debtors. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group transfers the
goods or services to the customers and therefore
satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer are capitalised and presented as
contract related assets, if the Group expects to
recover those costs, and are subsequently amortised
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customers of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The Group recognises
an impairment loss in the profit or loss to the extent
that carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive
less the costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

2. FESHHERE (#)

2B RERBEEEY

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and
cash equivalents.

2.14 Share capital and shares held under share

award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, for example as
the result of a share buy-back or a share-based
payment plan, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares
are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the
Company.

2.15 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within one year or less of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented
as current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEEHHEME &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax

216 BN RIEREFR G5B

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilize those temporary differences and losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2. FESHHERE (#)

216 ENHIRIEREFT S B (4)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

EEFREHR (&)

fiaf A 52 18] RE #22 I ¢ () T B = R A0 B R MK
EERARTERARBRELD AT
BN EBIREREE RN EZ FHO YR
ZRERAELEMSHABREE-

ERLATERMNGHNARBEERBEERSH
MR T P15 B eR BB S [R) — T 5 1 R AR R B
QA EEREREERARERHE B8
BHLERMNEBHNEBRFREELE
SRR EREENGEERE-

BN EREMB RN BERTER EEH
REMEEK D E RN ER T ERNIE
BERSN-FEMBR T HEAMD AN E MR
TED MR 28 3 B 35 0 R RERR o

+

L

seman 20215EH%s 135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting dates.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
which is generally funded through payments
to insurance companies under defined
contribution plan. It pays contributions to
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in the PRC participate
in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare
benefits, organised and administered by the
local governments. The Group has no further
payment obligations once these contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when
the Company has formally announced the
bonus payments to employees.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses. Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any on item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown, net of discounts and after eliminating
sales with the Group companies. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

o creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs;
or

U does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforce able right to
payment for performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

2. FESHHERE (#)

219 WA RER (£&)

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation, by
reference to the contract costs incurred up to
the end of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria
have been met for the Group’s activities
described below:

(a) provision of bare shell fit-out, restacking
and reinstaterment services

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised over time as the
Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset or work in progress that the
customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced. Thus, the Group satisfies
a performance obligation over time, by
reference to the actual costs incurred as
a percentage of the total estimated costs
for each contract.

(b) rendering of churn works,
maintenance and other services

design,

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised when the services
were rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a
time-proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is impaired,
the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flows discounted at original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest
rate.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.20 Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Leases (Continued)

2.21

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability, any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of car
park are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. The respective leased
assets are included in the balance sheet based on
their nature.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the final dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders and interim dividends are
approved by the Company’s Board.

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the group will comply
with all attached conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Government grants (Continued)
Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate. The Group does not
have government grants relating to property and
equipment, and other non-current assets.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board. The Directors identifies and
evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and investing of excess
liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the
Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) and United
States Dollar (“US$”). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities, and net investments in foreign
operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(i) Market risk (Continued)

(@)

()

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2020:
5%) against HKD, with all other variables
held constant, profit for the year would
have been approximately HKD329,000
(2020: HKD382,000) higher/lower mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of RMB denominated
net assets.

The foreign currency exchange exposure
on financial asset at FVPL denominated in
US$ is considered to be minimal as HKD
is currently pegged to US$.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes
arising from debt investment classified
as financial assets at FVPL. The Group
maintains the debt investment for long-
term strategic purposes.

As at 31 March 2021, if the fair value
of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL
had been 10% higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, profit for
the year would have been approximately
HKD1,320,000 (2020: HKD709,000)
higher/lower.

The Group’s investment as at year end
date is not publicly traded, management
exercises its judgement to determine its
fair value with reference to the net asset
value provided by its administrators and
discounted cash flow of its underlying
residential project.

Management is of the opinion that the
Group has minimal exposure to the price
risk as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

3. KRBER &)

3.1
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BAE . B FEREF NS
B D 49329,0005%8 T (20204 ¢
382,000/87t) r EEAHMNBE
ARETERFEE -

B 7 3R B OB T B 58 JT R - EUIA
EXHENEERABNINER
B 1 AR AR o

B1&E R

AEBRERAREFEEHE
B ABENEREE CBHR
EEERERR AEBARH
BB AZEBHRE -

MN2021F3A31H - HEBE
HEUNAABFEZEHE
HFZEREZAFELA B
10% + M 2 20 & b 7T & A = 1R
BAE - B F ROE R &R
4> #71,320,0005% 7T (20204 :
709,000/ 7T ) °

AEERFRFAEZRELARR
MHEARARS EEELEHE
BARKWEEFEMHBBES
REWMBRERETIRAL & H
NhEEZREZRAAE.

EREEBRAENEBN2021F &
202093 A31H FTE R 2 KB &
B AT (K o

+

L

semam 0215EHRs 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(i) Market risk (Continued)
(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks,
the Group does not have significant
interest-bearing assets. Fluctuation of
market rates does not have a significant
impact to the Group’s performance.

The Group’s exposure to changes in
interest rates is mainly attributable to its
borrowings which are at floating rates,
and the Directors are of the opinion that
the Group has minimal exposure to cash
flow interest-rate risk as at 31 March 2021
and 2020.

The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk as the interest rate risk exposure
is not significant.

(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, contract assets, financial assets at
FVPL, trade and retention receivables, deposits
and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts
of these financial assets.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

(a)  Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
were mainly deposited with high quality
financial institutions. Therefore, the
Directors do not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(b)

()

Credit risk of deposits and other
receivables

Deposits and other receivables were
mainly rental and fit-out deposits,
refundable deposits placed to
subcontractors and suppliers and other
miscellaneous receivables. The credit
quality of deposits and other receivables
has been assessed with reference
to historical information about the
counterparties default rates and financial
position of the counterparties. Given
the track record of transaction with and
repayment from these counter-parties in
full, the Directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default by these counterparties
is not significant and does not expect
any losses from non-performance by
the counterparties. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of the deposits and other
receivables is assessed to be immaterial
and no provision was made as at
31 March 2021 and 2020.

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

The Group’s largest customer accounted
for approximately 23% of revenue and
the second largest customer accounted
for 21% of revenue (2020: 9% and 8%
respectively).

The Group’s largest customer and
second largest customer accounted
for approximately 34% and 1% of the
Group’s trade and retention receivables
outstanding as at 31 March 2021
respectively (2020: 0% and 22%
respectively).

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss
provision for all contract assets and trade
and retention receivables.

3.

ERBER &)

31 UHEABEE &)
FERR (&)

(ii)

(b)

(©

B R A MW R 015 B R

EehEMERREFTZANAE
NEEERS BRI R H
FEEMAREZES AR E A EIW
HIE e RHEMERFKIENE
BEEEZDN2ZRATERNEEETF
FEORREF SRR #E
TG - ERZEHFHINRS
MEBBEEZARRLE EFR
RREHFHIZEARRBIT A&
KN WEHIEREFAFTELD
MEEEMBL-AL ZEE2 Kk
HEMEWRIENEREESEEX
W AEK BR2021F K20204F
SA3THYW RIEL BEHE-

BRIBENRE ZRREE EY
A E 5 B E
REBZHEABEFH#H23% K
A MBEZREPEL21% KA
(20204 : 93 B 1H9% F8% ) °

M2021FE3A31H  AEZH KA
BREME-_RKEBEFDHMEH34%
Ma1% & 5 &R E & &R K
(2020%F : 7 BI1E0% F22% ) °

AEBERBELTEREEEY
5 8 & % R FO5% P 4% 7€ &0 T8 A
EEBR AMEMEENEE
AR B 5 R 4R B & e W GR BR R 28
EFENEREEBERE-

HEEERQF 2021FEHE

145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(c)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same
types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of
24 months before 1 April 2020 and 2019
and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period.

The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on contract assets
and trade and retention receivables
are presented as impairment losses
on financial assets in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line
item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) MERRBERE(£)
(i)  Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERARK(Z)
(c) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (c) BHEEUREZRIRESTENK
and retention receivables (Continued) HIERIEEREE (&)

20214 202053 A31H B &
BREETWHOT:

ERBER &)

3.1

The loss allowance as at 31 March 2021
and 2020 was determined as follows:

Trade and retention receivables

E5RRESEUKE
More than More than More than More than
Contract 30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days
assets Current past due past due past due past due Total
bk ki s il
ENEE D #BiBIOK HBiB60K HBiBIOK HBiB180K &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
31 March 2021 2021%3H31H
Residential Properties ezt S
Gross carrying amount BREE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Loss allowance BEAE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEMBHEEHER - - - - - 100%
Commercial Properties mRANE
Gross carrying amount BIREE 50,490 33,889 16,085 4,891 4,388 1,274 60,527
Loss allowance BEEE 374 253 256 207 130 145 991
Weighted average lifetime expected 77 B HiiE F1HEH
credit loss rate FEERX 0.7% 0.7% 1.6% 4.2% 3.0% 11.4%
31 March 2020 2020%3H31H
Residential Properties fe2L ) F 5
Gross carrying amount LEEE - - - - - 3,682 3,582
Loss allowance BERE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEHMELEEEHREE - - - - - 100%
Commercial Properties BANE
Gross carrying amount EEEE 137,977 59,183 5,063 4,378 2,237 6,110 76,961
Loss allowance BEEE 1,018 437 75 177 62 654 1,405
Weighted average lifetime expected FEHMELHBHEEFER
credit loss rate 0.7% 0.7% 1.5% 4.0% 2.8% 10.7%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

B %5 ¥R AR B R

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)
(c)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables (Continued)

The movement of loss allowances for
contract assets and trade receivables
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as
follows:

Loss allowance as
at 1 April 2019

Increase in loss allowance
recognised in profit or loss

JiSEisEe

Loss allowance as at 31 March
2020 and 1 April 2020

3. KRBER &)

3.1

MR2019F4 A1
B 18 #

TRERBHER

B im0

202043 A31H
&2020%4 818

M B 1B B 1l

Decrease in loss allowance iRz

recognised in profit or loss
Loss allowance as at #2021
31 March 2021

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group.

Given that there was no default for
retention receivables in the past, the
Directors considered the risk of default of
retention receivables as at 31 March 2021
and 2020 is not significant. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of retention
receivables and hence the loss allowance
is assessed to be close to zero.

Financial assets at FVPL

The Group exposed to credit risk in
relation to debt investments that are
measured at FVPL. As at 31 March 2021,
the maximum exposure of the investment
is the carrying amount of approximately
HKD13,200,000 (2020: HKD7,094,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BXEKRERE %)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BKREBEE (&)
(iii) Liquidity risk (iii) AEBHERR
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity MEMERERIEEBHABITUZMNIE
will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations PHE—eREENFEXNEESHE
associated with financial liabilities that are ERHEEARETNRR-
settled by delivering cash or another financial
assets.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies FEMORDMEREBEAITEAN
maintaining sufficient cash and cash RekBReEEBY-
equivalents.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TERABAEENeHRAEGESEEMR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based B HAENRERNREBRES RS
on the remaining period at the reporting date HAMEREABELSO T TR
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts ENSHEDNDERAOARUBRERE -
disclosed in the table are based on the BREBZEITER R+ =EA
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances NEIEAR AR SR HBREE ©

due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not

significant.
On demand From From Total
or less than 1year  2yearsto Over  contractual Carrying
1years  to2years 5 years 5years  cash flows amounts
REXY m-%% i B EHEER
—FHUT mE b3 REHRE fag REE
HKD'000 HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FiET
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A31A
Trade payables (Note 24) BRRMR (Hiiio4) 102,215 - - - 102,215 102,215
Accruals and other payables (Note 24) Bzt R EMER
(H#24) 2,262 - - - 2,262 2,262
Lease liabilities (Note 74) REBE(Hit14) 3,205 2,340 165 - 5,710 5,481
At 31 March 2020 7#2020%3A31A
Trade payables (Note 24) BRRNR (HE24) 201,835 - - - 201,835 201,835
Accruals and other payables (Note 24) Bt REMER R
(Hiit24) 3,046 = = = 3,046 3,046
Lease liabilities (Note 74) REaE (Hi14) 2,469 1,744 1,174 = 5,387 4,994
As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s net current MR2021F3A31H  AEEMREHE
asset is HKD117,808,000 (31 March 2020: E R {E 5117,808,000/% T (202043
HKD128,222,000). HA31H :128,222,000/8 7T ) °

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are
sufficient for investing activities including acquisition
of new businesses.

No gearing ratio is presented as the Group did not
have outstanding debt as at 31 March 2021 and
2020.

Fair value estimation

The following financial instruments carried at fair
value are categories based on the level of inputs to
valuation techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3.

(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

ERBER &)

3.3 AREME (4#)

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period by level of the fair value
measurement hierarchy.

THRBRRAEBRRE LU= FL
TERBHEZAALEHEZHMBIA-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-F 5-F %=F &it
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 2020F 20215 20205 20215 20205 20215 20205
HKD'000  HKD'OOO — HKD000  HKD'OO0 ~ HKD'000  HKD'OOO — HKD'000  HKD'000
TEx FET FET TAT FET TAT A% TAT
Unlisted debt investments (Note 17) ¥EmEBRE (M) - - - - 13,200 7,004 13,200 7,094

Disclosures of the financial assets that is measured
at fair value is set out in Note 17 and are included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

There were no transfers of financial assets between
level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate
their carrying amounts.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2021 and
2020.

There were no changes in valuation techniques for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

BHEAABEAENERMEEZHEHL
B #E1730 732021 4F K 2020F3 831 B 94
ARNRBEEBRE=ZBH-

HE2021F3A3IHILFE F1E - F2/2
HEIEBAABEBLAD B ZE T BB EE
B B o

REHEKATENTREENABNAA
BSEEKREERS-

A20214F K 202043 A31H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. MK¥EKRER 2
(Continued)
3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial 34 KicmEERESMAE
liabilities
The following table presents the recognised financial T & 2% R20214F K2020F3A31H E ##
instruments that are offset as at 31 March 2021 and REOEHERMIT A
2020.
Net amounts
Gross amounts presented
set off in the in the
consolidated consolidated
statement statement
Gross of financial of financial
amount position position

RGEME REEHH
RAER  RRRZHIH

HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD 000
FET FET FE&ET

2021 20215
Financial assets EHEE
Deposits and other receivables B RE e MR 10,371 (3,650) 6,721
Financial liabilities THEE
Trade payables EC A 105,865 (3,650) 102,215
2020 20205
Financial assets EHEE
Deposits and other receivables B M E TR 15,209 (3,650) 11,559
Financial liabilities THEE
Trade payables ECY AR 205,485 (3,650) 201,835
Note: et -
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, an advance due from a 20214 &2020F3 8318  RIEH H i X
sub-contractor is offset against trade payables from the EAEBEMNFBERBEER-—AEHNENESE
same sub-contractor pursuant to the sub-contracting FFRIE -
agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
these involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Estimated valuation of a financial asset at

fair value through profit or loss

The Group holds a financial asset that is not
traded or quoted in active markets. The Group
uses its judgement to select the appropriate
methods and make assumptions based on
market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period to estimate the fair value of
such financial instrument classified as level 3
in the fair value hierarchy. Valuation techniques
include net asset values as provided by
fund administrators and discounted cash
flow approach which utilises inputs such as
projected cash flow and discount rate of the
underlying project/investment. Although best
estimate is used in estimating fair values,
there are inherent limitations in any valuation
technique. Estimated fair values may differ
from the values that would have been used if a
readily available market existed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates
of contract revenue, contract costs and
variation orders prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by major subcontractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management. In order to
keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
management conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have
an impact on the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment losses on financial assets

The provision for contract assets and trade
receivables are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the
customers’ past payment history, the Group’s
historical default rates, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details
of management’s credit risk assessment are
disclosed in Note 3.1 (i) (c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(iv)

Estimations in goodwill impairment
assessment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment. For the purposes of
impairment reviews, the recoverable amount
of goodwill is determined based on the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal or value
in use calculations. The recoverable amount
calculations primarily use cash flow forecast
based on financial budgets and forecasts
covering a period of five years approved by
management and estimated terminal value at
the end of the forecast period.

There are a number of assumptions and
estimates involved in the preparation of cash
flow forecast for the period covered by the
approved budgets. Key assumptions include
the growth rates and discount rates to reflect
the risks involved. Management prepares the
financial budgets and forecasts reflecting
actual and prior year performance and market
development expectations. Judgement is
required to determine key assumptions
adopted in the cash flow forecast and changes
to key assumptions could affect these cash
flow forecast and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.

4. BESHESTRHAE &)

4.1 BEEAHREBR (&)
(iv) ®BEREFENEE

AEEBFHRBMBETRENS
RBRE BENAREEEEA
FEBRLERAKEREEFESE (S
BeErnE)EE - AJRESREFEE
TERANEEEMLERERFH
M BRERBEBARKENRERE
FEORIA R IR AR 0 fh BT AR (B MR »

BB EREMRERRMANIR S
MERALRZHEBREAMGT -T2
m@-&%ﬁET&%ETM&%%
BhER. EEERERKRERER
TFEEXRBEMSERBHNMBEE
ERFEA-RREREBERREKAN
TERRAELHE T eBE 2
BROBEARTELERERER
Bl I EAmM BB ERSNER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5, WARDEHER

INFORMATION

Bare shell fit-out ERXRFERE
Restacking =R
Reinstatement EIR
Design HE

Churn works B R
Maintenance and others REREM

The Group’s revenue mainly represents revenue from the
provision of interior fit-out solutions for the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

Revenue generated from bare shell fit-out, restacking and
reinstatement services were recognised over time while
revenue generated from churn works, design, maintenance
and other services were recognised at a point in time for
the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The executive Directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM”) of the Group who
review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Group focuses
on provision of interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong
and the PRC for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
2020. Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment,
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole
as the Directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial
statements accordingly. The Group primarily operates
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Revenue generated from
customers in the PRC is also related to the provision of
interior fit-out solutions and the reported geographical
segment information is presented below.
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2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
249,810 542,037
201,024 58,506
11,112 16,650
1,402 5,531
16,522 13,836
1,416 1,470
481,286 638,030

REBH E2021F K2020543A31H IEFEH UK
AT EAREBERNEFZRATRAAEHWRA -

HZE2021F K2020F3A31H L FEHREREE
B H KBRS W E A /IR A THEE B R
RoMATHIRE R REREMREmME
A B U T AR B 8 B R Bh T R R o

WITESCHBERAAEBENTIELEARERE
([EEREREE]) AEFHTEEMNRIR
HUFFERBAEDEER - EZE20214F £2020
FIHBLEFE AEEFITREEB LS
RHEARBERATR - BREZTBAEENE
BRABE K HUBEEHEE W HEERE
HHERIELKRRFHEME MEBLEREK
EERNERAERAEENBELEEE -
SEZTERBBERPRHLEEL -REXFEHE
FRWAMERHREANREZHEAFTRER E
EWMMBHEERYRLT o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. WARZHER &)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information i3 E R
The geographical location of customers is based on ERPAMBUENERRERENMLE -AEE
the location at which the service provided. The Group’s IEERANEEZMREBRFE - TEREHT A
operations and workforce are mainly located in Hong Kong SERENEEFPHBADIT-

and the PRC. The following table provides an analysis of
the Group’s revenue from external customers.

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Hong Kong B 468,866 593,950
The PRC s 12,420 44,080
481,286 638,030
Information about major customers FEEFEHR
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the REMAEERBRARBRI0% HEF U A S
Group’s total revenue are set out below. IR o
2021 2020
2021F 20204
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FE
Customer A EPA 110,028 N/A (Note)
TER (HE)
Customer B ®FB 101,213 N/A (Note)
@A (M)
Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of Bat: HEBRATBBREEBZRAZI0% -
the Group's total revenue.
6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hz A
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FHET
Government subsidies BT 17 BA 3,725 =
The amount represents government grant in respect ZHRELABRBEBFITREBTHEL® R
of the Employment Support Scheme received from the XIFTEIFMSH TR o Lb A B I MR EFERL 2
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative BHNEMEEE AR EEERNAEM
Region. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other BB BT B o

contingencies attaching to the grant. The Group did
not benefit directly from any other forms of government
assistance.

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE 7. RUHEBEESHRAX
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 and REBH £20219F N2020563 A31H IEFE 0%
2020 are stated after charging the following cost of sales FIEHBRIA T HER A RITHALE S 0T

and administrative expenses:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Subcontracting charges "BEEH 414,495 528,058
Staff costs (Note 9) BITRA (A7:9) 45,163 46,410
Cleaning expenses BR2EH 8,979 8,329
Insurance expenses RER A X 3,499 3,465
Short-term lease payments (Note 714) REMENK (HiE14) 13 51
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 B 5 B
- Audit service —BZRE 1,346 1,250
- Non-audit service —EBE R 112 345
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FRAEEEZITE
(Note 14) (Kiat14) 3,140 2,564
Depreciation on property, plant WE -BEREBZITE
and equipment (Note 13) (Hia13) 1,460 1,112
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) i EE# s (H:£15) 175 208
Legal and professional fees FENEXEBEA 7,665 5,406
Other expenses Efh X 6,943 8,485
Total cost of sales and administrative HENARITHAY B
expenses 492,990 605,683
Representing: Hrh:
Cost of sales 85 & B AR 455,439 572,962
Administrative expenses T X 37,551 32,721
492,990 605,683
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FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME - NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

B (RAE) WA FHE

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FAET

Interest income from bank deposits IRITIF KA B WA 108 410
Bank interest expense RITER BTN ERE

on bank borrowings - (49)

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBBZAERX
(Note 14) (Hist14) (223) (318)
(115) 43

STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Salaries, bonuses and allowances

Retirement benefits contributions IRIRRE TR

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year included four (2020: four) Directors
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 32(a). The
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2020:
one) individuals during the year are as follows:

EXR# & R
BARAE R

Basic salaries and bonuses
Retirement benefits contributions

e fEALROERE

ETNA (BREEEHME)

2021 2020

20214 20204

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FAET

43,626 44,880

1,537 1,530

45,163 46,410
EFEBREHFMAL

FREASERAFHNES 258 AT BIELE
(2020%F : 4% ) B = - HF RN 5E32(a) P B -
FRND R T1E (2020F 182 ) A+ 2 H B0
T

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
1,354 1,567

18 18

1,372 1,585

+

L

seman 20215EHs 159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

10.

STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments fell within the following bands:

EIRK(BEEEME) (»)

TEEREHEMAL (&)
EEMES MR TEER:
Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Emolument bands B & %6 &
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001/8702
1,500,000/ JT 1 -
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 &
2,000,0007% 7T - 1
1 1
INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10. Fr8Ht (&) BxX
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
Current income tax B EAPT IS
- Hong Kong profits tax —BENEH 243 4,627
- PRC enterprise income tax —HEPEMEH - 2,065
Over-provision for prior years FEBEEE (999) (5595)
Deferred tax (Note 25) BIERIE (M 7225) (637) 184
(1,393) 6,321

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tired profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazette on the following day. Pursuant to the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2 million
of assessable profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HKD2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.
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R2018F3A21H BE L Z BB (2017F
mUEE) (BrT9)KHER) ([KREAIER])
S/ AR F 15 B 2 6 E o &0 B R R201843
F2o8BREXBLEE TR BHAZEER RIK
MBFERREHE GEREBREENE2A
&5 T IE R B E T #8 128.25% B B R L B
BOH B T A IE R BRI BR16.5% B9 B R
MR- ATHEMBANEHRENEERNEE T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10. FRB 8 (ER) B (&)

(Continued)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of Sanbase Interior
Contracting Limited is calculated at 8.25% (2020: 8.25%)
on the first HKD2 million (2020: HKD2 million) of the
estimated assessable profits and at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits above
HKD2 million (2020: HKD2 million) for the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on enterprise income tax (“‘EIT”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% (2020: 25%).

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has been
made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the year.

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the tax rates applicable to the respective companies of
the Group as follows:

Wit AFEBRMEERARZBEBNEHIYIE
HETERBEF N E2E BB T (2020F : 28 &
B T) A8.25% (20204F : 8.25% )M T K&t &
BiE2E BB T (2020F : 2E BB T) MG E
SR M IE16.5% (20204 : 16.5% ) B9 Bt = 5t

Ho
Ea

BREPRCEMSHRE([DEMER]) R
TS 2B mIEN  FEMEB AR ZHEAE25%
(2020%F : 25%) °

AREBRFRAEEMBRDEER T ERGRERKR
A MERE M EAENAERIEL G-

AEEBRBRBAN (BE) TGN RE BAE
BEARARANERREAENERTBEAN
ARSI

2021 2020

2021%F 20204

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRELAT (BB R F (953) 28,062
Tax calculated at respective statutory tax rate  1Z{E BRI EE M K+ E

R RYE] (322) 4,465

Different taxation rate in other country HAaB R AR X (238) 807

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes IR AL 3 73 67

Income not subject to income tax AR AR A (1,648) (84)

Recognition of other temporary difference EREMERFEER 188 366

Tax loss not recognised AR EE 1,583 1,255

Tax concession BB ER (30) -

Over-provision in prior years FEBEEEE (999) (555)

Income tax (credit)/expense Fre®i (B&e) /FHX (1,393) 6,321

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 11. BRER
(a) Basic (a) EX
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the BREXRRR TR E20214F £20204F3
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the RA31BIEFEARRAES AL R T BRI
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 22175 B AR & N 15 BUR R (0 22 @ 5T
less the total number of shares held under share EITTERDBEGE -
award scheme during the year ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.
2021 2020
2021%F 2020%F
Profit attributable to owners of RABHE AEMLEF
the Company (HKD'000) (F#T) 397 16,224
Weighted average number of EEITE RS ME
ordinary shares in issue less shares FHEUR AR 5 12 E)
held under share award scheme SFEITN ARG (FK)
(in thousand) 197,944 197,944
Basic earnings per ordinary share BREBREREF
(HK cents) (M) 0.20 8.20
(b) Diluted (b) #8
There were no outstanding share options as at 720214 20203 A31 8 & MK 1TE
31 March 2021 and 2020 and have no potential CEBRERTEE BT ZBENEELR
dilutive ordinary share in issue. Accordingly, diluted B FHitt EREERFETRERNZFE
earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per B
share.
12. DIVIDEND 12. RE
The Board do not recommend the payment of a final BEEETEZMNEE20215F K2020F3/31H It
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. FEIRNRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % BMERRKRHE

Furniture and Leasehold
equipment improvements  Motor vehicle Total
BRRRE HEES B2 CEi
HKD'000 HKD000 HKD 000 HKD 000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z202053A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 April R4A1BRMEEFE 702 1,616 465 2783
Additions NE 208 317 - 525
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEER (Hi27) (356) (637) (119) (1,112)
Exchange difference = ) = = (2)
Net book amount at 31 March R3A31A M REFE 552 1,296 346 2,194
At 31 March 2020 #2020F3A31H
Cost %N 1,523 2,780 475 4,778
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (971) (1,484) (129) (2,584)
Net book amount REFE 552 1,296 346 2,194
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ202153A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 April R4A1B R EREFE 552 1,296 346 2,194
Additions NE 1,268 - - 1,268
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 16) WM B A &) (#:£16) 164 - - 164
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEER (Ki27) (738) (603) (119) (1,460
Exchange difference BERESH 3 - - 3
Write-off MisH - (259) - (259)
Net book amount at 31 March R3A31A ) REFE 1,249 434 227 1,910
At 31 March 2021 2021534318
Cost R 2,996 2,463 475 5,934
Accumulated depreciation 2EtE (1,747) (2,029) (248) (4,024)
Net book amount EmFE 1,249 434 227 1,910

Depreciation expenses of approximately HKD1,460,000

(2020: HKD1,112,000)

have been charged to

“administrative expenses” for the year ended 31 March

2021.

RE E202143A318 1L FE 491,460,000/ 7T
(20204 : 1,112,000 L) MITER X E5F A 17T

B -

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

14. LEASE 14. HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group A FREEFEAEBAEFBANHEENE R -
is a lessee.
() Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REEMBERRRBEIANSE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of finance position RAEVBRAAREBETRIUTEHEEEEAN S
shows the following amounts relating to leases: B
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Office premises MAEYE 4,739 4,421
Warehouse BE 153 36
Office equipment N 348 404
5,240 4,861
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current BN ER B 3,030 2,249
Non-current JERNHA R & 2,451 2,745
5,481 4,994
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year HZEC021F3ASIHLLFERENFRAE
ended 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately & E #) /4,489,000 7T (20204 : 305,000
HKD4,489,000 (2020: HKD305,000). BT o
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14. LEASE (Continued)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

14. € (&)
(i)

the following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets

Office premises

Warehouse

Office equipment

Interest expense
(included in finance cost)
Expense relating to short-term
leases (included in administrative
expenses)

The total cash outflow for leases for the year
ended 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately
HKD3,211,000 (2020: HKD2,810,000).

Note
Jiokza
FREEEZITEER
WAEYE
BB
N ERE
7
FERZ (BEFBRANR)
8
CHHHEEZ Y
(BETHEAXA)
7

REEEEREIANEE

FeBEERBEIATEEESRENERA:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
(2,916) (4,422)
(92) (36)

(132) (404)
(3,140) (4,862)
(223) (318)

(13) (51)

L

+

=]
=

%

]

N

HE202143AC1IBITFENREER &
it B %) 53,211,00008 7T (20204 ¢
2,810,000/ 70 ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

14. LEASE (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouse and
equipment. Lease contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of one to five years, but some may
have extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions.

There were no variable lease payments for the
leases entered into by the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounted
to approximately HK$1,020,000 (2020: Nil) and
approximately HK$1,065,000 (2020: Nil) (Note
33(b)) respectively were derecognised as a result
of termination of leases during the year ended
31 March 2021 resulting in the recognition of a gain
on termination of approximately HK$45,000 (2020:
Nil) (Note 33(a)) in the profit or loss.

Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property and warehouse leases across
the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The Group recognises right-of-
use assets with extension and termination options
that are exercisable only by the Group and not by
the respective lessor only if the Group is highly likely
to exercise the options.
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14. FHE (&)

(iii)

(iv)

REBENHEEEBRAEIREE

AEEHEZEARAE REEKRE-HE
BRBERIESFNEEHR EEH D%
BT X (iv) it ey EHD R 242 -

i

HEGRDEBHBRER EPEER
7R B 1R 3R R AR A

#H E£2021F K2020F3A31H I FE A&
B EREHENRTNAE -

HE2021F3A31BEFEAN AEEXRIE
MR ILERNERAEEENEEAENR
B 5 Bl 4 51,020,000 7T (20204 : F) [
#) A1,065,000/8 T (20204 : &) (M 7E
33(b)) ° FTEAERM K I & W& 49 545,000
BT (2020 : ) (M3¥33(a)) " W EHEE
mIER

MR IEEERE
AEENETMERREHERS MK
RERERE-FELRAREEESEELF
ERAMBEE T HEERAKLLER L -E
EAKEBBREITENER  AKES
ERABTHME LEZRNEREEE
ELRERREHAKSEMIFESTENHHA
ATTE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

15. B EE

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z202053A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 April R4A1BREEFE
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BHER (MW7)

Net book amount at 31 March R3AS1EEEE FE

At 31 March 2020 202034311

Cost XA

Accumulated amortisation RET#

Net book amount RmFE

Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ2021F3A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 April RAR1A R REFE
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 16) WM B A &) (#:£16)
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BWER (MW7)

Net book amount at 31 March WIA3TBEMERFE

At 31 March 2021 2021534318

Cost XA

Accumulated amortisation RETHH

Net book amount RmFE

Customer Money
relationship lenders
Goodwill and contracts licence Total
EFBER
ik ER HEARR it
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD000 HKD 000
FET FHET FHET FET
(note j) (note i)
(Hiiti) (ki)
9,544 383 - 9,927
- (208) - (208)
9,544 175 - 9,719
9,544 2,870 - 12,414
- (2,695) - (2,695)
9,544 175 - 9,719
9,544 175 - 9,719
- - 2,421 2,421
= (175) - (175)
9,544 - 2,421 11,965
9,544 2,870 2,421 14,835
- (2,870) - (2,870)
9,544 - 2,421 11,965

Amortisation charge of approximately HKD175,000 (2020:
HKD208,000) have been charged to “administrative
expenses” for the year ended 31 March 2021.

RE E2021F3A318 IEFE » 175,000 7T
(20204 : 208,000 T )M EBRHE T A 1T
Bz

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

U]

Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group’s goodwill of approximately HKD6,470,000
(2020: HKD 6,470,000) and approximately HKD3,074,000
(2020: HKD 3,074,000) were arisen from the acquisitions
of Core Group and GZ Siwu in the past. The Directors
considers Core Group and GZ Siwu as two separate cash
generating units (“CGUs”) and allocates goodwill resulting
from the said acquisitions accordingly.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use
(“VIU”) calculation. The calculation uses pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by the
Directors covering a five-year period. Key assumptions
used in the calculation includes pre-tax discount rates
ranging from 18% to 22% (2020: 18% to 22%), revenue
growth rates ranging from 3% to 5% (2020: 0%) and gross
profit margin ranging from 13% to 22% (2020: 8% to
20%) for the five-year forecast period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rate of 3% (2020: 3%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate and gross
profit margin based on past performance of the CGUs
and their expectations for the market development. The
discount rates applied by the Group are rates that reflect
current market assessment of the time value of money and
risk specific to each CGU.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amounts of the CGU in which goodwill has been allocated
are higher than their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2021
and 2020. As a result, no impairment loss was charged
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Since the carrying amounts of the Group’s CGUs are
not sensitive to the changes in assumption, no security
analysis is disclosed.
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15. BILEE (&)

(i)

BB ZRER

KNEBZEEHG6,470,0008 5T (20204 ¢
6,470,000 Jt ) & #73,074,0007 jT (20204 :
3,074,000 L) DB EELEB AN EFEERUKE
Core Group M EMET T - Z= % #5 Core Group &
GZ SwuilAMEEBENESELEM ([RE
BEEBEN|) U EREESEE FREEEZEBE-

EEESFRIRSELENEEERZS SR
AUECEUBELHERE - BEEEMDN
AkecEEFERAEE(EFREREIDET -
MRS RBANGENLZRKESHENTRE
AFHMEMMBRBEMET EMRANER
BREVERFEB N F18% £22% (20204 :
18% £22% ) Ky B AT AL 38 & - 1M F3% £5% KK
AR E (2020F : 0% ) BN F13% £22% K E
IR (20205 : 8% £20% ) - BB A FH R &
ME R A3% (2020 : 3% ) M ATIE R K H#

St
= o
7t

ERERASELABUZBERALTSER
EHREERAEREREMNE -AEEHER 2R
BEDRBBRTHSEeEREBERZRE
B4 B E R A RS -

FEORVE R H 18 338 0 # 220214 &2020F3 A 31
BLFEE BEE S REMNMERSELESBMAA
e+ aRHEFEREE BLEE2021F &
202063 A1 B L FE I EHERE-

HRAEERSEAEU 2 EABEL TS SR
RZBBHELEERRE TEEEGFEEIN-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 15. BEEE (#)

Notes: (Continued)
(ii) Impairment assessment for money lending license

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount
of the money lender license is higher than the recoverable
amount which results in impairment. The recoverable
amount of the money lender license is determined at the
higher of its value in use and fair value less costs of sales.

To best of the knowledge of the directors and with the
assistance of external valuer, the fair value less costs of
sales of the money lending license determined by market
approach is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 March
2021.

Accordingly, no impairment loss was charged during the

Bt (&)
(i) BEABRZBETMG

ERESFRIMBARENREESZESR
AJ U [B] S B A BUEE AR JRUE » IRUME A R R 9 R W @
CHEEGCAEEARATERBEEREAMETD
MERSEET -

BESHA WEINBEEMOIBE T  ZHi5
FETHNREBEARBNRAFERBEER AR
HER2021F3A31EMERMEE-

FE bt B E2021F3A31H I FE A |t E

year ended 31 March 2021. Eige
16. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 16. Wi — BB 2 7
Acquisition of Yu Rong Capital Limited WEEXHERRATA

On 14 February 2020, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an agreement (the “Acquisition
Agreement”) to purchase the entire equity interest of Yu
Rong, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, from certain
independent third parties. The total cash consideration
amounted to HKD2,550,000, of which HKD1,275,000 was
paid during the year ended 31 March 2020. The remaining
HKD1,275,000 was paid upon the completion of the
acquisition on 1 June 2020 (the “Acquisition Date”).
Immediately after the completion of the acquisition, Yu
Rong has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and its financial results have been
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of
the Company.

Given that there was no business activity carried out by
Yu Rong, the acquisition was accounted for as an asset
acquisition and the principal asset of Yu Rong is the
money lender license.

MR2020F2 148 A AR ENB AR E] L
HE([WBHE) RIETEYE-TEES
Z(—HREBEMATIMNAR)EZBAAAE-
RE&HEA 2,550,000/ 00 HH1,275,000%
TEREE 2020FE3A31RAIEFEEX M TH
1,275,000/ 7T 20206 A1H ([WEBH ) Uk
BRI - WEBERE BEIKNAEER
ANEEE2ENBAR  HMBEERKE IR
NAIWERE M BRE A -

ERNBRYBETERNRHKEE WESHEER
BERBAR BRNIBZEERMEBEARE-

HEEERQF 2021FEHE
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16. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)

Acquisition of Yu Rong Capital Limited (Continued)
Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets

acquired are as follows:

Purchase consideration
Cash paid

The fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities

16. WE —RIMKWB Q7 (&)

BENRE
ENRE

assumed at the Acquisition Date are analysed as follows:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 13)

Intangible assets (Note 15)

Deposits, other receivables and prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents
Accruals and other payables

Net identifiable assets acquired

Purchase consideration —net cash outflow

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary,

net of cash acquired
Cash Consideration
Less: Payment in last year
Less: Cash acquired

Net outflow of cash —investing activities
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Mm% BEERE (HiF13)
BVEE (Bi15)

Be HtEREEMNR
RerkRTEED

J& & No H At FE A5 3R

B A E R & E TR

L] P EEY R
FIERS 1R & 5

R HIE

B EFEZRR

W SRS

ReRntFR-—RELY

BERE—

BEBRMERRIT (&)
BERELMKRBEEFEFBOT

HKD'000
THET

2,550

ERBRAMKBNEERABNRAABEFBENT

Fair value
AREE
HKD’'000

FET

164
2,421
136
1
(172)

2,550

HERE FEE
HKD’000
FET

2,550
(1,275)
(1)

1,274




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

investment represented debt instrument in an unlisted fund
with limited liability incorporated in Cayman Islands which
holds an underlying residential project (the “Project”)
located in Cambodia (the “Cambodia Fund”).

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. B A REFEEESHTABEN
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS ERMEE
The Group classifies the debt investments that do not REEBHIFEREEXNAKIRAREFZER
qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI, EEHTAHEM2EKRZRAAEF=EEER
at FVPL. Financial assets measured at FVPL include the it ABENERKREETOBE - BRARBEME
following: HEPTF ABENEREEREATSIE:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Unlisted debt investments ELrMEBRE 13,200 7,094
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FETT FET
At 1 April R4HA1H 7,094 7,831
Fair value changes NRELEY 6,083 (737)
Exchange difference I+ ZEHE 23 -
At 31 March M3A318 13,200 7,094
As at 31 March 2021, the Group’'s unlisted debt M202163A31H AEEMIF LTEKRER

RPFAEHEEMAINIELTEREERT
HAUNRBERNEREETER (RBWE
BTE(IRERER]) -

T B
=

L

emas 202156EHms 171
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17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. RAAREBEFEBREESHT ABEZN
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) ERMEE (©)
The Project accounted for substantially all of the ZEEBMNRBEESHN R FEE  WIL2021
Cambodia Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value F R2020F3A3THM AR EBEIE Bt &
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020, accordingly, in the opinion ERBE REREESNEEFEREAAEEM
of the directors, the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund T o
approximated its fair value.
The Group’s investment in the Cambodia Fund was AEBRRBEEESHEENAABETER
measured at fair value with reference to the net asset SEHEBRARENEEFENLEBEEMNRAR
value of the Cambodia Fund provided by its administrators SR AR ERBEEESCEANETERRLOT
and discounted cash flow of the Project. Key assumptions
used in the valuation of the Project of the Cambodia Fund
are as follows:
2021
20214
Adopted unit rate KAMBMNEX US$3,845/square meter
3,845 X T/ FFH K
Adopted unit rent KAMENHES US$30/square meter
30 X/ FEHK
Adopted agency fees and commission KANREENAE2 8% - 14%

Pre-tax discount rate iR BA IR =

The Cambodia Fund was denominated in US$.
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Assets as per consolidated statement of
financial position

Financial assets at amortised cost
— Trade and retention receivables (Note 19)
— Deposits and other receivables (Note 27)
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22)

Financial assets at FVPL (Note 17)

Total

Liabilities as per consolidated
statement of financial position
Financial liabilities measured
at amortised costs:
— Trade payables (Note 24)
— Accruals and other payables
- Lease liabilities (Note 74)

Total

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

18. REHFIEITNEMT A

BEMBRARAREE

REBHER AT ENSREE
— B LRE SR (A:19)
— e hEMBUR (HE21)
-RekReEEY (HiZ22)

RO R ERE AR BBHA
BuNSBEE (Hi17)

b

BEMBRARATEE
BEERAGTENERAG:
—BHENK(HiF24)

—FEET R Al B3R
—-HERE (HMiF14)

AEBFEUATERIA:

2021 2020
20215 20204
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET
59,536 75,556
6,721 11,559
112,488 120,321
178,745 207,436
13,200 7,094
191,945 214,530
102,215 201,835
1,894 2,420
5,481 4,994
109,590 209,249
peeman 2021FEHs 173
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19. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 19. E 5 RRE B

2021 2020
20214 20204
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
iokz3 FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EW SR (a) 61,256 79,497
Retention receivables RE S &Y R b) 2,853 1,046
64,109 80,543
Less: provision for impairment of trade Jil : B 5 R IRE & B U
and retention receivables BERE
(Note: 3.1(ii)(c)) (&t 3.1(ii)(c)) (4,573) (4,987)
Trade and retention receivables — net 8 5 RRE S EI T — F58 59,536 75,556

Trade and retention receivables balances are categorised
as “financial assets measured at amortised cost”. The
maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2021 and
2020 was the carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group did not hold any collateral
as security. The carrying amounts of trade and retention
receivables approximate their fair values. The trade and
retention receivables were mainly denominated in HKD
and RMB.

(@) The credit terms granted to its customers were
generally 30 days from the invoice date except for
the amount relating to retention money which is
payable after 1 year from the date of completion
of the works. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the
invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 30H A

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 180 days 91£2180H
Over 180 days 180H M £
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ZESRRESEBEHBERSE A IREHKR
HENESREE] - R2021F M2020F3 8318
RN EaEERBREEREE- A
SEVYEBEETANERRIEAEKR -BZ RRE
PRI CEEENRAAAEEE - BSHRR
BeERRAEBUBETLRARESE-

(a) *&EBERTERFNEER —RAEBHE
AH#£30R - T8F IR KB HE1F
2 FEHR B € /8 - 120214 20203 A
1A REZAH2INEBEZRKZRZE
oM

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
32,144 50,678
16,085 8,709
4,591 2,553
3,849 5,409
4,587 12,148
61,256 79,497




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

19. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment assessment on financial
assets subject to expected credit loss
model

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
The basis of determining the inputs and assumptions
and the estimation techniques in this consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 are set out in Note 3.1(ii)(c). Details
of impairment assessment on financial assets subject
to expected credit loss model are set out as below.

During the year, the Group reversed approximately
HKD414,000 (2020: provided HKD2,793,000)
and HKD644,000 (2020: provided HKD798,000)
impairment allowance to trade and retention
receivables and contract assets respectively, were
classified as “financial assets measured at amortised
cost”.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis
of the retention receivables based on the invoice
date was as follows:

Within 30 days 30BN

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61E90H
91 to 180 days 912180H
Over 180 days 180 M £

Movement on the Group’s provision for impairment
of trade and retention receivables are detailed in
Note 3.1(ii)(c).

10. ES RREEEWRR (&)

(b)

(c)

REANFEEEEXHEREEE
TEERERTGE

REBRAGEAEZRHEEEMBHREE
RIS AT T MTEH(E B 518 - Bl E2021
F N2020F3A31H I FE WL A B %R
EPNETH ABENARRE MG FE
BB E R FES.1(i)c) - TEHIE EE B E
ATHeREERBETGHZFBHINAT -

FRN AEEEDBERABEHENATENS
MEECESMNRESERRLEGOEE
B [0 95 Bl 49 A414,0007% 7T (20204 :

B 2,793,000/ 7T ) K644,000% 7T (2020
T B E798,0008 7T ) ©

R2021F M2020F3A31H R EZEHHE
TR RE € B GR 2 BRE DT T

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
1,745 160
301 45

540 414

267 427
2,853 1,046

AEEHE HRWGA R EERE S FH
RN 1B 135 4 ) 2 ) R B X BT REB. 1 (i) (c) ©

+

L
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

20. EHNEERARE

2021 2020

20214 20204

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

Contract assets (Note (i) BREE (WE0) 50,490 137,977

Less: impairment loss (Note 3.1(ii)(c)) B OREEE (M3 100)(c)) (374) (1,018)

50,116 136,959

Contract liabilities (Note (i) EHE’E (W) (6,246) (5,656)
Notes: Biat -

i)

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, contract assets related to
construction services consist of unbilled amount resulting
from construction when the cost-to-cost method of revenue
recognised exceeds the amount billed to the customer.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, contract liabilities
recognised represented the progress billings received in
excess of construction works performed and the advance
payment made by customers.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year amounted to
approximately HKD5,656,000 (2020: HKD18,729,000).
There was no revenue recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous years during the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

Unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2021

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
service contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately
HKD222,421,000 (2020: HKD50,448,000)
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i) 20214 &2020F3A31H BHEEREE B
AHEERSRBER AR EMERNUA
BBREFPRRNSEMEENRAAEZESE-

ii) R20214F K2020F3A31H  EMRBRHNEHNEE
PEENEEEERBEERIRETREE
FRAK-

iy HEHBEABNCERRA

RENGAGHNEEHRENECEBRRANLE
5,656,000/ 7T (20204 : 18,729,000/ 7T ) ° %
H E2021F K2020F3A3IA L FERN  HERA
BEFECBTEBYOEZEFMERKA -

iv)  TR2021F3A31HKEITAHN

M2021F3A31H P B ERBALDILMH 23
RKRETHX S ERBELNR222,421,000% T
(20204 : 50,448,000/ 7T ) °



21. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS

Deposits for acquisition of a subsidiary

(Note (a))
Deposits Ze
Advance to a sub-contractor [R) IR H g AR
Other receivables H b & W5k
Financial assets (Note 18) CREE (MiF18)
Prepayment TER K

Less: non-current portion of deposits and
prepayments

Current portion BN ER 8 o>

Note (a)

The balance represents the deposit of HKD1,275,000 paid
to certain independent third parties for the acquisition of
Yu Rong Capital Limited (the “Target Company”). Further
details of this acquisition are set out in Note 16.

Except for prepayment of HKD1,160,000 (31 March
2020: HKD2,301,000), deposits and other receivables are
financial assets categorised as those to be measured at
amortised costs. The fair values of the Group’s deposits,
other receivables and prepayments approximate their
carrying amounts.

The deposits, other receivables and prepayments were
denominated in the following currencies:

HKD BT
RMB AR
Total B

e BRI KA
FERIHAEE 7>

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

21. & HMBEBRRAMK

WEMBAR RS (Hit(E@))

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
F#ET FHET
= 1,275
3,515 5,064
723 2,560
2,483 2,660
6,721 11,559
1,160 2,301
7,881 13,860
(607) (2,595)
7,274 11,265

Bt 3F (a)

ZERBARRUEBUEF =T WEEBLHERR
AA(ERR2ADKAZF=ZDTXIANRE
1,275,000/ 7T - W iB BV ARRE B B 3116 o

B 78 1~ 2 181,160,000/%8 T (20203 A31H :
2,301,000/ C) 9 & R EM KRR AH LB
BIZBHEK AT ENSREE - AEEZZS
Hip el A M BN RO AR B BEREERS -

e HUEREBARDIZATEEE:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET
6,098 12,066
1,783 1,794
7,881 13,860

+

E:
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2. REeERREEEY

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FETT FET
Cash at bank and on hand RITEHRLEFEES
— Cash at bank —IRITEE R 112,314 120,180
— Cash on hand —FHERE 174 141
112,488 120,321
Maximum exposure to credit risk == = B R 112,314 120,180
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following ReRRITEBRZUTEEE:
currencies:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
HKD BT 106,273 116,505
RMB AR 4,778 2,912
Others Hitb 1,437 904
Total &t 112,488 120,321
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

23. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(a)

(b)

23. BRARKRGERBEE T AERE

Share capital (a) KA
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZEMEAR HE
(in thousand) HKD'000
(FA) FET
Authorised shares capital: JETE AN
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, R2019%F4H1H +2020%43H318 +
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 2020F4 A1 8 Kk20214F3A31H 5,000,000 39,000
Issued and fully paid: BT REE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, R2019%4 A1H - 20203 H31H -
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 2020F4 A18 K202143A31H 200,000 1,553

Share award scheme

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the
adoption of a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) with the objective to provide eligible
persons with additional incentive to encourage and
retain them to work with the company. Core Trust
Company Limited (the “Trustee”) was designated to
be the trustee under the deed of trust executed on
19 November 2018.

(b) K7 BT E
R2018F10816H EFE M AFEMR
MEREEE ([RDEEFE])  SEZT
AEBATIYMFEFIREEIIEE - A,
BRBEEFEERNAR TIE-EFETLEER
~al ([ZFEAL)BIK2018F 11 19H &,
REARBERIETATTEAC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

23. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme (Continued)

23. RARKRGRBE FAERSD (&)

(b) Rt EREEHE ()

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of
the Trustee out of cash arranged to be paid by the
Company out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee
and be held on trust for the relevant eligible grantees
until such shares are vested with the relevant eligible
grantees in accordance with the Scheme Rules
(“Restricted Shares”). The Board implements the
Share Award Scheme in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme Rules including providing necessary
funds to the Trustee to purchase or subscribe for
shares up to 8% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from
time to time, at their absolute discretion select the
eligible grantees after taking into account various
factors as they deem appropriate for participation
in the Share Award Scheme as a grantee and
determines the number of Shares to be awarded.
The Board shall cause to pay the Trustee the
purchase price and the related expenses from the
Company’s resources for the shares to be purchased
by the Trustee.
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RAR R 0 B AT 3RO R AN (TEHBIR AN -
BRBREARBLHFEEE ST BFIAR
EXNERABENRND REERHB
BTEHEAERARARNBRETERNAG
BERAERARANGEERAENZERD
(TZR&BMD]) - EEERIEF SR A
FRETROEBHE BRAXEAR
HARES UBEARBRZEARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

23. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD 23. REARRGEBETNRERS (2
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)

(b) Share award scheme (Continued) (b) BRPEBETE (&)
The Trustee shall hold such Shares on trust for the XAABUNGEETRAREGEEBREARARTE
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the HEARD BEERSEREB - FHBESER
relevant eligible grantee has satisfied all vesting EENENEFENELEBDEREEZ
conditions specified by the Board at the time of —IEBEG BKBERESRBIMRMD %
making the award and become entitled to the FRAREBEZEBERG TEAKAC

Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the
relevant Shares to that grantee.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, RE Z=20214 K2020F3A318 L FE - #f
no shares have been awarded to employees. EREEREKRG -
2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 2020 20216 2020
Shares Shares HKD’000 HKD'000
B# R FET FET
Shares held under share award
schemes 2,056,000 2,056,000 2,998 2,998
24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. B N HAMENRK
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FHEIT
Trade payables =Y EaEN 102,215 201,835
Accruals and other payables FEET R H B 5 3K 2,262 3,046
104,477 204,881

+
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RE B HRRME

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)y 24. EZREMERNK (&)
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the aging analysis of the R20214F F2020F3A31H IR HEZHH 25 #
trade payables based on invoice date was as follows: BORNRZERRTOT

2021 2020
20214 20204

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

Within 30 days 30H R 78,899 134,244
31 to 60 days 31%60H 3,159 14,998
61 to 90 days 61%290H 6,660 15,468
91 to 180 days 91E180H 3,931 17,254
Over 180 days 180H M E 9,566 19,871
102,215 201,835

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of
trade and other payables approximate their fair values and
were denominated in the following currencies.

R20214F 202053 A31H B 5 R EMth E X
MEEEDEEARBERETIRATER.E:

2021 2020
20214 20204

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

HKD BT 96,209 193,386
RMB AR #& 8,268 11,495
104,477 204,881
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rate
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

25, IRIEFTBH
EEFARIDERABEERTEEZERT T
RREMBEA D BAREREBG Y BRIt E

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred

BEEMEREERBBERAENARAEE R
MR ARBEE A RN EMRERELTHRE
MR — B RERRE R IE R T - TR B ARE

income taxes related to the same fiscal authority.

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
Deferred tax assets EERIRE E 926 294
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHEAE - (29)
Deferred tax assets — net EERRIEEE OF5) 926 265
The net movements in the deferred income tax account BIEFMSHREZFEEHNT
are as follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
At 1 April w4a/1H8 265 449
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss FRRB=E () Ik
for the year (Note 10) (Htiz10) 637 (184)
Exchange difference M N R 24 -
At 31 March M3A31H 926 265
gegman 20215EE:s 183




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities (prior to offsetting of balance within the same tax

jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:

At 1 April ®4R18

(Charged)/credited to profitor ~ FRREBHEE (F1%) /
loss for the year (Note 10) M (HaE10)

Exchange difference BHEE

At 31 March R3A31H

25.

ELEFTEH (&)
EEFREHAEREE (ERA—FEERE 2
BEGIRENZEHNT

BRIEMEHEE:

Provisions Tax losses Total

B BB &t
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20216 2020F 20215 2020F 20215 20204
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
378 398 - 240 378 638
(165) (20) 765 (240) 600 (260)
- - 24 - 24 -
213 378 789 - 1,002 378

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible

temporary differences to the extent that

the realisation

of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is

probable.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did

not recognise

deferred income tax assets of approximately
HKD3,791,000 (2020: HKD2,208,000) in respect of losses
HKD22,976,000 (2020: HKD13,382,000) that can be

carried forward indefinitely.

Deferred income tax liabilities:

At 1 April R4p1A
Charged/(credited) to profit or ~ FRREZRET T/

loss for the year (Note 10) (gs) (H#10)
At 31 March M3A31H
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Accelerated tax depreciation

A A LB B AR ERTUEN IR ARANIAES
AR AR E R EZRERBECAEHEE-

M2021F3A31H  NE B W ARt o] F IR Af 45 88
# /&5 1822,976,00078 7T (20204 : 13,382,000/
T ) FERIEIE FT 15 %1 B EE 493,791,000 7T (2020
12,208,000 7T ) °

EEFMERAS:

and amortisation Intangible assets Total
MERRTERBH BREE A&t
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 2020% 20214 20205 202145 20204
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
(84) (123) (29) (66) (113) (189)
8 39 29 37 37 76
(76) (84) - (29) (76) (113)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2-:
TVAAN

25.

26.

B B 75 AR Y R

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate of 5%
is applied to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty
rate is not automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to
apply to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the
treaty rate. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by the subsidiary
established in the PRC. As at 31 March 2021, deferred
income tax liabilities of approximately HKD540,000 (2020:
HKD486,000) has not been recognised for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the remittance of earnings
of the PRC subsidiary. The related unremitted earnings
amounted to approximately HKD5,403,000 as at 31 March
2021 (2020: HKD$4,864,000), and the Group does not
intend to remit these unremitted earnings from the relevant
subsidiary to the Company in the foreseeable future.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
Related parties are those parties that have the ability
to control, jointly control or exert significant influence
over the other party in holding power over the investee;
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and the ability to use its power over the
investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control or joint control. Related parties
may be individuals or other entities.

The following is a summary of the significant transactions
carried out between the Group and its related parties in
the ordinary course of business during the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

Compensation of key management

Key management includes executives of the Group. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services is shown below:

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Retirement benefits contributions

25.

26.

e fEA KRR
RARAE T 5K

EERESH (&)
BEFRCEMGHE RPBRKIZBINE B
MINEIEE B EIRH R E BB MR10% B - &
RABEEASERNBEHE WPELERE
BREGLESIRBRE AT ZEREEMNH E5%
B - BZ5% M EMELIEEBES B AT
MEBETERPRBMEZTERBEH T Bt
AEEBERRFBERINWNBRR D RAKE
BMTEITL - R2021FE3A3TB  AEBI AR
FEMNBEARELRZAMNAEINOENHEERLD
540,000 (20204 : 486,000/ JT ) By I I FT 15 &t
BE -M2021FE3A31B - HEAREL BN A
5,403,000 (20204 : 4,864,000/ 7T ) * A& @~
BMRAUTRERREZSRAEBENB R RE
HAEFELEARAF -

ARt XX 5

B iE AR NEY BARHBERREST B
BENS - HHABEELEBATENNAL:
AAESZAEBHSERRETAENAIZM
B ERABEMOAL: RAMBEHRERES
MENFEREEDRSBEHNAL. XHERE
KBEEFWALTIRASEREE. BES AR
EASEMERE-

T 3Ottt A £ B B A B B 5 B 220214 12020
FIAMHILGFEEBRERABRTETNERKR

25

TEEBEASEHM
TRERABBRAKETRAR SEBRE
ENHENETEERABNFMUTHAR:

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FHEIT
9,440 7,509

72 65

9,512 7,574

+
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27.

28.

B B AR MY R

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities not
provided:

Surety bonds B 4 IR &
As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided guarantees
of surety bonds in respect of 5 (31 March 2020: 4)
construction contract(s) of the Group in its ordinary
course of business. The surety bonds are expected to be
released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is
subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the grant of options for their
contribution to the growth and profits of the Group, and
to allow such employees, Directors and other persons to
participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme
include directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive Directors) and employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any other person who in the absolute
discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute
to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 20,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.
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27.

28.

XBEE
AEERELBEOREAENT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
16,242 7,084

MR2021F3A31H AEBERAEERBFED
BRI A 5(2020F3A31H 4) DEES LR M
BHORFBER ZZBOREENBRESESE
A BB R R B o

BRERE

R2017512A8H » A2 AR 4 1) B A4 5 8149
BGEM EMRAIE23FEB TR EWEE LA
BTRZERTE BRESSEERS BB R
BEE EFSkHEM2EE WEBROBRE
M mEEAEBEROEMIEH TR UK E
ZEREE BERHMALISDZRAEENERR

BA -

BREGINGERZEZERRAQARRAL
AMBARNER(BEATES FATES
RBYFFATES) REE (TwEBERE) X
ExexRBBERYAKEEFHAKFEL
BRWEMEMAL

BEBREFEBTFREEOMBEREESTE
T A] 3% 17 19 A% {9 42 # 520,000,0000% » 16 7 2N 4
RAHAQRREHEHETRALI0% -
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. BIRESTE (#)

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the
options granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme
has been set out in the section headed “E. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus.

No share options have been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the date of
this annual report.

RAEM12(E A BE - REBREASTER TR
BETEEMATIHNBRE (BEETE 2F
B RORITE R BRE) M 1T R TREITHRD
REBETFBECEITHROMNI% -

REBREFIREBERENENEARAX
MIETRERKER-

BRI N2017F12 AR BH T FRN B
AEREZEBERRETERR TF - BREARE

EERMBEECNHERE HEAETEMNE
AR ROISORRERE °

BEREAETERENTEEREFTSETE B
TRERATESEONRNRELBH (LAR
LERA)EBIAE R RERIROBRMDKHE:
(RERRLBMATAEEXRAEBIAEA
WE PRI FHUTE R (i) R EE -

BTS2 R BH N BB &M (E. 1B
PegatEl ] —&he

ERREGFERRAEEAFRAY HERE
B AR BRI A B A

+
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29.

30

B B AR MY R

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Below table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the
results and net assets of the Group. To give full details of
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length. Unless otherwise stated,
they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares
that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of
ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by
the Group.

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered
and paid-up capital

Place of incorporation and

29.

Name of subsidiaries kind of legal entity BRARBERE/
WELR R EMRIBRREREEEN ARRAZRE
Indirectly held subsidiaries
MERENELR
Sanbase Contracting (Engineering) Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000

BB BRAA 10,000 70
Sanbase Interior Contracting Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000
FRNEERAF BB BRRA 10,000/ 7T

Siwu Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited

BN RRERHARAA

PRC, limited liability
TE ERAR

Studio 5 International Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000

BRERLA BB BRAA 10,0008 7T

Controlled structured entity

FRHLERER

Sanbase Management Limited BV, limited liability US$1
EBRRRHES BRAA 1ET

The Group has the power to direct the relevant activities
of Sanbase Management Limited and it has ability to use
its power over the entity to affect its exposure to returns.
Therefore, it is considered as controlled structured entity
of the Group.

TRANSACTION WITH NON-

CONTROLLING INTEREST

On 18 March 2021, the Group acquired the remaining
49% of the issued shares of Sanbase Cobow Group
Limited (“Sanbase Cobow”) for a cash consideration of
US$1. Immediately prior to the purchase, NCI in Sanbase
Cobow carried at deficits of approximately HKD117,000.
The Group recognised an increase in NCI and a decrease
in equity attributable to owners of the Company of the
same amounts.
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RMB1,500,000
AR 1,500,000

30

TEMBARIZFHE

TRILWEERR/IBZFEAREXRELFE
ENAEEETEMBRR -EFR S REKNE
RENEMFEEEHRBAR -BREAHRAIN
BEAREHASEERFENEBRBN  FIFH
MMAERBLL I BARBREHNRRERS -

Ownership interest held

by the Group %
AEESENBERER %
2021 2020 Principal activities
20215 20205 FEEH
100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
REZANEERRAR
100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
REZAEERRTZR
65% 65% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
Rt ERRERAARAER
60% 60% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
Rt ERRERATRMERS
100% 100% Purchase, administers and holds the
Company's shares for share award
scheme
BE ERRHBADARN A
iR

KN B A ¥ Sanbase Management Limited
ZHEBEEE TARNERVEHRERBZENY
ZHERREAR Al FHAERHEEALAERZ

XEteEER-

BEFEREZENRS

M202163A18H  AEBEIETHIR SR E W
BToESSEEARLAR(IBEE])Fer49%
MEBTRO EZREN S ESNIEERE
&= IR E 1B 49117,00008 JT o A £ B W R IR 1E AR
EEMENERADRBEEABREESHRL R
HR&5E-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 1. AR BERRERRREREES

AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) xATEBMRRE
Company
2021 2020
20214 20204
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
bz FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets HREEE 1,060 -
Interests in a subsidiary and R—REWEB AR MG &
a controlled structured entity ERZEDR 29 38,064 38,064
Financial asset at fair value through EAREFABZZ TREE
profit or loss 13,200 7,094
Deposits and prepayments e RENAK 102 1,275
52,426 46,433
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, other receivables and e Hh U R FE AT 5K
prepayments 1,053 3,488
Amounts due from subsidiaries YNGR 9,678 5,658
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 59,309 60,796
70040 69942
Total assets HmEE 122,466 116,375
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to the owners AR T#EAE AEERER
of the Company
Share capital fi& A 1,553 1,553
Share premium &5 4% B 31b 57,632 57,632
Other reserve Hh{#& 31b 34,986 34,986
Accumulated losses ZEHEE 31b (14,667) (18,583)
Total equity R 79,504 75,588
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 500 -
500 -
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FE T R H B 5 3K 206 979
Amounts due to subsidiaries VXL NGIE 41,679 39,808
Lease liabilities HEAE 577 =
42,462 40,787
Total liabilities R 42962 40,787
Total equity and liabilities HBEZRAE 122,466 116,375
gegEAn 202154K: 189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

M. KRAHMBERRRRRBEELE 2

COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Movement in the Company’s reserves (b) XATRIREEH
Other
Share reserve  Accumulated
premium (Note) losses Total
Hitf#
R RE (Hit) ZIER it
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FHET FET FET
At 31 March 2019 #2019F3A31H 63,832 34,986 (17,303) 81,515
Loss for the year FNER - - (1,280) (1,280)
Final dividend paid ERRARE (6,200) - - (6,200)
At 31 March 2020 20209 3H31H8 57,632 34,986 (18,583) 74,035
Profit for the year EREF - - 3,916 3,916
At 31 March 2021 20214 3H3108 57,632 34,986 (14,667) 77,951
Note: Kt

Other reserve of the Company represented the difference
between the consideration payable of HK$10,000 and the
carrying value of the Company’s subsidiary of approximately
HK$34,996,000 acquired during the Group’s reorganisation
before the Company’s listing.

A A H) B Al 4 2 45 B S X {810,000 7T &
SEEARBA LT EABMKBOME QA
R T B 4934,996,000/8 7T 2 fal #) Z 48
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R M

32. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF 2. EER/ARESR
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EBEREBSITHRAEHME
emoluments
The remuneration of each director and chief RE 220214 K2020FE3A31H L EE - &
executive of the Company for the year ended BEERARRESITHRAENBM S5 0
31 March 2021 and 2020 are set out below: T~

Employer’s
contribution
Discretionary to pension

Name of directors Note Fees Salaries bonus scheme Total
EERKEH
EEES Mz e e MR B Eh
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZE2021£3A31H
LEE
Chairman and chief executive officer £ ERTHEH,
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen TFLEE 240 1,980 500 18 2,738
Executive Directors WES
Mr. Wong Kin Kei BERARHE 240 1,560 500 18 2,318
Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie FehuL 240 1,380 300 18 1,938
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo AEEEL 0 - 2,400 100 18 2,518
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTEE
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis REXEE (i) 216 - - - 216
Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson RS LE (iv) 216 - - - 216
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny YHELLE 240 - - - 240
1,392 7,320 1,400 72 10,184
Year ended 31 March 2020 22020638310
tEE
Chairman and chief executive officer £ EZ{THEH,
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen TtrLse 240 1,980 463 18 2,701
Executive Directors WTESR
Mr. Wong Kin Kei FREgs 240 1,560 375 18 2,193
Ms. Hui Man Yes Maggie FERRT 240 1,380 338 18 1,976
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo REHET ) - 1,248 165 11 1,424
Non-executive Director FRTES
Mr. Cheung Ting Pong REALE i) 133 - - - 133
Independent non-executive Directors BV EHTESE
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis REEE (i) 43 - - - 43
Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson RE K EE (i) 43 - - - 43
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny YHEELE 240 - - = 240
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew BRELLE W) 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wu Kam On Keith BRTLE i) 201 - - - 201
1,560 6,168 1,341 65 9,134

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

32. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF 2. EEENRESR &)

DIRECTORS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EBEREEITHRAEME (&)
emoluments (Continued)
Notes: iz
()  Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo was appointed on 11 March () RELELR2020F3A11HESRIT-

2020.

(i) Mr. Cheung Ting Pong resigned on 22 October 2019. (i) REMBTLER2019F10A22H B E-
(i)  Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis was appointed on (i)  RESTLAER2020F1A21HEZ £

21 January 2020.

(iv)  Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson was appointed on (iv) PBREFFEAER2020F1A21HEZF-
21 January 2020.

(v Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew resigned on 1 January (v) SEEBBESLAER2020F1A1B BT

2020.
(vi)  Mr. Wu Kam On Keith resigned on 2 February 2020. (vi) B8 % A MR2020F22H BT -
The executive Directors’ and chief executives’ EXRAFTESRITREENTHEZ
emoluments shown above were mainly for their AREEREEARNRRAEE SRR
services in connection with the management of Rz EHMe EXFIRBLIERITEEH
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The TN ERESHEAESMEERBEH
independent non-executive Directors’ emoluments N -
shown above were mainly for their services as
Directors.
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the AEERMFARBERNES N H M £
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining AR FE A SR I A A £ B BE BD 2 A Y
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office e R IERBERAE-

during both years.
There was no arrangement under which a director MENBBESLITHREBHMELREN

or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any ZEEAMe B
remuneration during both years.

192 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANINUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M

72 N =

32. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

Save as disclosed in Note 32(a), the directors did
not receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the financial year (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
does not pay any consideration to any third party for
making available directors’ services (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2021, there are no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of Directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or at any
time during the financial year (2020: Nil).

. EER/ARESR (#)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERNEBEANRRLEF

FREfE32@) T EEIN EMBRFEAN &
FRA WBUE R KR F R AR IERRF (2020
FoE) -

RERHESRERNE=ZFRENR
]
HZE202163A31BFE AN AR E WA
EREEERBRITME=ZFIMNETM
RAB (20204 - &) -

FRUESE RESEFNEZEREB
EEEAZRANER BLUERR
HittX B HEHR

MR2021F3A31H MEBEUNESE XESHIE
SR EZERBEEE AT S ANTANER
HMUBERKEMRZ S (20204 : £) -

ESRRS RSREGHTHNEXRR
&=

RERIVBFEAREMER ARFH
TEEEMEAREXEBARNEARS
ZHRERAMESFRETERERXHEE
B E KRz (2020%F : &) o

=]
=

L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B HRRME

33. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 3. BHEREREH
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) EEEL RS
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash BREREFEEEEE RS FEANE

generated from operations

2021 2020
20214 20204
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
bz FET FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BrFiAT (B58) = (953) 28,062
Adjustments for: -
Depreciation on property, plant ME- -WMERZE2ITE
and equipment 7 1,460 1,112
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (FARAEEEZ T E 7 3,140 2,564
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EE 7 175 208
Fair value changes of financial asset AR B ABREZ
at FVPL CMEENLAABEE (6,083) 737
Impairment losses (reversed)/ EMEERERSE
recognised on financial assets (B[E) /1R (1,058) 3,591
Finance (income)/cost — net B (YA A — %58 8 115 (43)
Gain of termination of lease WIEFAE W 14(iii) (45) =
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE WEM&EERE
plant and equipment 259 —
Operating profit before working BEECEBYFI 2 LE R :
capital changes: (2,990) 36,231
Trade and retention receivables B 5 MR E & FEU R 16,645 43,678
Deposits, other receivables R& - Bt R TR R
and prepayments 3,930 378
Contract assets BHEE 88,293 (18,370)
Trade payables =Y ANEN (100,443) (1,181)
Accruals and other payables FE AT B E A FE 1 3R (971) 431
Contract liabilities BHAERE 575 (13,056)
Cash generated from operations BEEACHRS 5,039 48,111
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e B R R M

33. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of financing activities
An analysis and the movements of financial liabilities
from financial activities during the year ended
31 March 2021 and 2020 as set out below:

At 1 April 2019

Cash flows

Additions

Other non-cash movements
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2020

At 1 April 2020

Cash flows

Additions (Note 14(i)
Termination of lease (Note 14(ii))
Other non-cash movements
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2021

R2019F4 A1 B &K E7

A=
HEemE

NE
HMEREEY
PE 5L E

20203 A31H

R2020F4 A1H
ReRkeE

NE (KaE140))
RAETRE (HaET400))
HM3ER L8

&5 =5

R2021F3H31H

3. RERERER &)

(b) MEFE 2HAETX
DWRE BENMRKRE E2021F k202043

AB1BILFEAZEB25|0T :
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HE&E RITERK &&F
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FHET FHET
(7,165) (12,800) (19,965)
2,761 12,800 15,561
(305) - (305)
(318) - (318)
33 - 33
(4,994) - (4,994)
(4,994) - (4,994)
3,211 - 3,211
(4,489) - (4,489)
1,065 - 1,065
(323) - (323)
49 - 49
(5,481) - (5,481)

L

+

=]
=

%

]

N
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEMBRE

Results

Revenue

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit/(expense)

Profit attributable to the owners of
the Company for the year

Total comprehensive income
attributable to the owners of
the Company for the year

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

YA
BrEiAT (B518) 8
FrisHiER, (FxX)
FAXRRAEEA
& A& 4t 7
FARRAEAA
J&Ah 2 T W 25 4B B8

BEFH

Equity attributable to the owners of FRARFHEAH A

the Company for the year

FE15 S
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HEE
Year ended 31 March
BZE3HA31BLLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174
HKD’000 HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FE T FET FET FET FET
481,286 638,030 650,455 376,208 280,670
(953) 28,062 37,394 11,462 28,298
1,393 (6,321) (7,076) (4,551) (4,798)
397 16,224 28,116 6,911 24,100
810 16,133 28,070 6,911 24,100

EEREE

As at 31 March
M3H31H

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204 20194 20184 20174
HKD’000 HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FE T FET FET FET FET
265,409 370,858 382,088 191,595 103,698
116,204 218,653 245,284 79,750 68,549
149,205 152,205 136,804 111,845 35,149
142,484 141,791 131,858 111,845 35,149
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